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Corporate Governance
Corporate governance is a fundamental component of Swisscom’s corporate 
policy. Swisscom is committed to practising effective and transparent corporate 
governance as part of its effort to deliver long-term value. 

1	 Principles 

In performing their activities, the Board of Directors and Group Executive Board of Swisscom are guided by the 
objective of long-term and sustainable business management. They incorporate the legitimate interests of 
Swisscom shareholders, customers, employees and other interest groups into their decisions. To this end, the 
Board of Directors practises effective and transparent corporate governance, which is characterised by clearly 
assigned responsibilities and based on recognised standards. In this regard, Swisscom complies with the recom-
mendations of the Swiss Code of Best Practice for Corporate Governance 2014 issued by economiesuisse, the 
umbrella organisation representing Swiss business, and the requirements of the Ordinance against Excessive 
Compensation in Listed Stock Companies (OaEC).
The interaction of investors, proxy advisors and other stakeholder groups with the respective specialist divisions 
allows the Board of Directors to identify new standards at an early stage and to adjust its corporate governance 
activities to new requirements as and when necessary.
Swisscom’s principles and rules on corporate governance are set out primarily in the company’s Articles of Incor-
poration, Organisational Rules and the Rules of Procedure of the Board of Directors’ committees. Of particular 
importance is the Code of Conduct approved by the Board of Directors. It contains an explicit declaration by 
Swisscom of its commitment to absolute integrity as well as compliance with the law and all other external and 
internal rules and regulations. Swisscom expects its employees to take responsibility for their actions, show 
responsibility for people, society and the environment, comply with applicable rules, demonstrate integrity and 
report any violations of the Code of Conduct. 
The latest versions of these documents as well as their earlier, unamended and superceded versions can be viewed 
online on the Swisscom website under “Basic principles”. 

See
www.swisscom.ch/ 

basicprinciples

http://www.swisscom.ch/basicprinciples
http://www.swisscom.ch/basicprinciples
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 2	 Group structure and shareholders

2.1	 Group structure 

2.1.1.	Operational Group structure
Swisscom Ltd is the holding company responsible for the overall management of the Swisscom Group. It comprises 
the five Group divisions Group Business Steering, Group Human Resources, Group Strategy & Board Services, Group 
Communication & Responsibility and Group Security. The Board of Directors delegates the day-to-day business 
management to the CEO of Swisscom Ltd. The CEO, together with the heads of the Group divisions Group Business 
Steering (CFO) and Group Human Resources (CPO) as well as the heads of the business divisions Sales & Services, 
Products & Marketing, Enterprise Customers and IT, Network & Infrastructure, form the Group Executive Board. The 
Group also operates a Digital Business division and Group companies such as the Italian subsidiary Fastweb S.p.A. 

Strategic and financial management of the Group companies is assured through the rules governing the assign-
ment of powers and responsibilities set by the Board of Directors of Swisscom Ltd. The Group companies are 
divided into three categories: strategic, important and other. Swisscom Ltd, Swisscom (Switzerland) Ltd and the 
subsidiary Fastweb S.p.A. are classified as strategic Group companies. The Board of Directors of Swisscom 
(Switzerland) Ltd comprises the CEO of Swisscom Ltd as Chairman, the CFO of Swisscom Ltd and the Head of IT, 
Network & Infrastructure. The executive management of Swisscom (Switzerland) Ltd is delegated to the Head of 
Swisscom (Switzerland) Ltd. This position is occupied by the CEO of Swisscom Ltd. Seats on the Board of Directors 
of Fastweb S.p.A. are held by the CEO of Swisscom Ltd, who acts as Chairman, together with the CFO of Swisscom Ltd, 
the Head of IT, Network & Infrastructure and other representatives of Swisscom. The Board of Directors also 
includes an external member. The Board of Directors of Fastweb S.p.A. has empowered the Delegate of the Board 
of Directors with the executive management of the company. In the important Group companies, the responsibilities 
of the Chairman of the Board of Directors are fulfilled by the CEO of Swisscom Ltd, the CEO of a strategic Group 
company, the head of a Group or business division or other persons appointed by the CEO. Other representatives 
of Swisscom and, in some cases, external parties also serve as members of the Board of Directors. A list of Group 
companies, including company name, registered office, percentage of shares held and share capital, is provided in 
Note 5.4 to the consolidated financial statements.

See report
pages 137—138

For financial reporting purposes, the business divisions of Swisscom are allocated to individual segments. Further 
information on segment reporting can be found in the Management Commentary.

See report
page 40
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 2.1.2	Listed company
Swisscom Ltd is a company governed by Swiss law and has its registered office in Ittigen (Canton of Berne, Swit-
zerland). It is listed in the Standard for Equity Securities, Sub-Standard International Reporting, of the SIX Swiss 
Exchange (Securities No.: 874251; ISIN: CH0008742519; ticker symbol SCMN). 
Trading in the United States is conducted over-the-counter (OTC) as a Level 1 programme (ticker symbol: SCMWY; 
ISIN: CH008742519; CUSIP for ADR: 871013108). Within the framework of the programme, The Bank of New York 
Mellon Corporation issues the American Depository Shares (ADS). ADS are American securities which represent 
Swisscom shares. Ten ADS correspond to one share. The ADS are evidenced by American Depositary Receipts (ADR). 
As at 31 December 2017, the stock market capitalisation of Swisscom Ltd was CHF 26,859 million. The Swisscom 
Group comprises no other listed companies.

2.2	 Major shareholders

Pursuant to Article 120 of the Federal Act on Financial Market Infrastructures and Market Conduct in Securities 
and Derivatives Trading (FMIA), there is a duty to disclose shareholdings to Swisscom Ltd and SIX Swiss Exchange 
whenever a person or group subject to the disclosure obligation reaches, exceeds or falls below 3, 5, 10, 15, 20, 25, 
331/3, 50 or 662/3 per cent of the voting rights of Swisscom Ltd, irrespective of whether or not the voting rights can 
be exercised. The detailed disclosure requirements and the method for calculating these limits are specified in the 
FINMA Financial Market Infrastructure Ordinance (FMIO-FINMA). Under the FMIO-FINMA, nominee companies, 
which are not able to independently decide how voting rights are exercised, need not report when any of their share-
holdings reach, exceed or fall below these limits. In August 2017, BlackRock, Inc., New York, reported a shareholding 
of 3.44% in Swisscom Ltd. The notification of the shareholding can be viewed on the website of SIX Exchange 
Regulation at https://www.six-exchange-regulation.com/en/home/publications/significant-shareholders.html. 
According to the Swisscom share register, Chase Nominee Ltd., London, held 3.04% of the voting rights in Swisscom Ltd 
on 31 December 2017. 
On 31 December 2017, the Swiss Confederation (“the Confederation”), as majority shareholder, continued to hold 
50.95% of the issued share capital of Swisscom Ltd, which is unchanged from the previous year. The Telecommuni-
cations Enterprises Act (TEA) provides that the Confederation shall hold the majority of the share capital and voting 
rights of Swisscom Ltd. 

2.3	 Cross-shareholdings

No cross-shareholdings exist between Swisscom Ltd and other public limited companies. 

3	 Capital structure

3.1	 Capital

On 31 December 2017, the share capital of Swisscom Ltd amounted to CHF 51,801,943, divided into registered 
shares with a nominal value of CHF 1 per share. The shares are fully paid up. The share capital was unchanged in 
the years 2015 to 2017. There is no authorised or conditional share capital. Additional information concerning 
equity can be found in the financial statements of Swisscom Ltd.

See report
page 152

3.2	 Shares, participation and profit-sharing certificates

Each registered share of Swisscom Ltd has a par value of CHF 1. Each share entitles the holder to one vote. 
Shareholders may only exercise their voting rights, however, if they have been entered with voting rights in the 
share register of Swisscom Ltd. 
All registered shares with the exception of treasury shares held by Swisscom are eligible for a dividend. There are no 
preferential rights. 
Registered shares of Swisscom Ltd are not issued in certificate form, but are held as book-entry securities in the 
depositary holdings of SIX SIS AG, up to a maximum limit determined by the Swiss Confederation. Shareholders 
may at any time request confirmation of the registered shares they hold. However, they have no right to request 
the printing and delivery of certificates for their shares (registered shares with no right to printed certificates). 

http://www.six-exchange-
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The holder of an ADR possesses the rights listed in the Deposit Agreement (e.g. the right to issue instructions for 
the execution of voting rights and the right to dividends). The Bank of New York Mellon Corporation, which acts as 
the ADR depository, is listed as the shareholder in the share register. ADR holders are therefore unable to directly 
enforce and exercise shareholder rights. The Bank of New York Mellon Corporation exercises the voting rights in 
accordance with the instructions it receives from the ADR holders. If it does not receive instructions, it does not 
exercise the voting rights.
Further details on the shares are available in Section 7 “Shareholders’ participation rights” as well as in the 
Management Commentary.

See report
page 77

 
Swisscom Ltd has issued neither participation nor profit-sharing certificates. 

See report
page 51

3.3	 Limitations on transferability and nominee registrations

Swisscom shares are freely transferable, and the voting rights of the shares registered in the share register in 
accordance with the Articles of Incorporation are not subject to restrictions of any kind. In accordance with Article 
3.5.1 of the Articles of Incorporation, the Board of Directors may refuse to recognise an acquirer of shares as a 
shareholder if its total holding, when the new shares are added to any voting shares already registered in its name, 
exceeds the limit of 5% of all registered shares entered in the commercial register. With the other shares, the 
acquirer is entered in the share register as a shareholder or beneficial holder without voting rights. The other 
statutory provisions on restricted transferability are described in section 7.1 of this report, “Voting right restrictions 
and proxies”.

See
www.swisscom.ch/ 

basicprinciples

Swisscom has issued special regulations governing the registration of trustees and nominees in the share register. 
To facilitate the tradability of the company’s shares on the stock exchange, the Articles of Incorporation (Article 3.6) 
allow the Board of Directors, by means of regulations or agreements, to permit the fiduciary entry of registered 
shares with voting rights for trustees and nominees in excess of the 5% threshold, provided they disclose their 
trustee capacity. In addition, they must be subject to supervision by a banking or financial market supervisory 
authority or otherwise provide the necessary assurance that they are acting for the account of one or more unre-
lated parties. They must also be able to provide evidence of the names, addresses and holdings of the beneficial 
owners of the shares. This provision of the Articles of Incorporation may be changed by resolution of the Annual 
General Meeting, for which an absolute majority of valid votes cast is required. In accordance with this provision, 
the Board of Directors has issued regulations governing the entry of trustees and nominees in the Swisscom Ltd 
share register. The entry of trustees and nominees as shareholders with voting rights is subject to application and 
the conclusion of an agreement by which the trustee or nominee acknowledges the applicable entry restrictions 
and disclosure obligations as binding. Trustees and nominees related in terms of capital or voting rights either 
contractually or through common management or other means are treated as a single shareholder (trustee or 
nominee).

3.4	 Convertible bonds, debenture bonds and options

Swisscom has no convertible bonds outstanding. Details of the debenture bonds are given in Note 2.2 to the 
consolidated financial statements. 

See report
page 109

Swisscom does not issue options on registered shares of Swisscom Ltd to its employees.

http://www.swisscom.ch/basicprinciples
http://www.swisscom.ch/basicprinciples
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4	 Board of Directors



Co
rp

or
at

e 
G

ov
er

na
nc

e 
an

d 
Re

m
un

er
at

io
n 

Re
po

rt
Co

rp
or

at
e 

G
ov

er
na

nc
e

61

  



Co
rp

or
at

e 
G

ov
er

na
nc

e 
an

d 
Re

m
un

er
at

io
n 

Re
po

rt
Co

rp
or

at
e 

G
ov

er
na

nc
e

62

 4.1	 Members of the Board of Directors 

The Board of Directors currently consists of nine members. The representative of the Swiss Confederation, 
Hans Werder, stepped down from the Board of Directors at the Annual General Meeting on 3 April 2017. The Swiss 
Confederation has delegated Renzo Simoni as his successor. 
As of 31 December 2017, the Board of Directors comprises the following non-executive members: 

 	  	 	 	  	 Taking office at the	

Name 	 Nationality 	 Year of birth	 	 Function 	 Annual General Meeting	

Hansueli Loosli 1	 Switzerland 	 1955	 	 Chairman 	 2009	

Roland Abt 	 Switzerland 	 1957	 	 Member 	 2016	

Valérie Berset Bircher 	 Switzerland 	 1976	 	 Member, representative of the employees 	 2016	

Alain Carrupt 	 Switzerland 	 1955	 	 Member, representative of the employees 	 2016	

Frank Esser 	 Germany 	 1958	 	 Member 	 2014	

Barbara Frei 	 Switzerland 	 1970	 	 Member 	 2012	

Catherine Mühlemann 	 Switzerland 	 1966	 	 Member 	 2006	

Theophil Schlatter 	 Switzerland 	 1951	 	 Deputy Chairman 	 2011	

Renzo Simoni 2	 Switzerland 	 1961	 	 Member, representative of the Confederation 	 2017	
	

1	 Since 1 September 2011 Chairman.
2	 Designated by the Swiss Confederation.

4.2	 Education, professional activities and affiliations

Details of the career and qualifications of each member of the Board of Directors are provided below, along with 
the mandates held outside the Group and other significant activities. Pursuant to the Articles of Incorporation, 
Board members may perform no more than three additional mandates in listed companies and no more than ten 
additional mandates in non-listed companies. In total, they may not perform more than ten such additional mandates. 
These restrictions on the number of mandates do not apply to mandates performed by a Board member by order 
of Swisscom or to mandates in interest groups, charitable associations, institutions and foundations or employee 
retirement-benefit foundations. However, the total number of these mandates is also limited to ten and seven 
respectively. Prior to accepting new mandates outside the Swisscom Group, the Board members are obligated to 
consult the Chairman of the Board of Directors. Details on the regulation of external mandates, in particular the 
definition of the term “mandate” and information on other mandates that do not fall under the aforementioned 
numerical restrictions for listed and non-listed companies, are set out in Article 8.3 of the Articles of Incorporation. 
No member of the Board of Directors exceeds the limits set for mandates. 

See
www.swisscom.ch/ 

basicprinciples

http://www.swisscom.ch/basicprinciples
http://www.swisscom.ch/basicprinciples
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Hansueli Loosli 
Education: Commercial apprenticeship; Swiss Certified 
Expert in Financial Accounting and Controlling
Career history: 1982–1985 Mövenpick Produktions AG, 
Adliswil, Controller and Deputy Director; 1985–1992 
Waro AG, Volketswil, most recently as Managing Direc-
tor; 1992–1996 Coop Switzerland, Wangen, Director of 
Non-Food Product Procurement; 1992–1997 Coop 
Zurich, Zurich, Managing Director; 1997–2000 Coop 
Switzerland, Basel, Chairman of the Executive Commit-
tee and Coop Group Executive Committee; January 
2001–August 2011 Coop Genossenschaft, Basel, Chair-
man of the Executive Committee
Mandates in listed companies: Mandates of the Coop 
Group: Chairman of the Board of Directors, Bell AG, 
Basel 
Mandates in non-listed companies: Mandates of the 
Coop Group: Chairman of the Board of Directors, Coop 
Group Association, Basel; Chairman of the Board of 
Directors, Transgourmet Holding AG, Basel; Chairman 
of the Board of Directors, Coop Mineraloel AG, 
Allschwil. Other mandates: Member of the Advisory 
Board, Deichmann SE, Essen
Mandates by order of Swisscom: Member of the Board 
of Directors and Executive Committee of economiesu-
isse, until August 2017
Other significant activities: –
 

Roland Abt
Education: Doctorate in business administration 
(Dr. oec.)
Career history: 1985–1987 CFO of a group of compa-
nies with operations in the areas of IT and real estate; 
1987–1996 Eternit Group (currently Nueva Group): 
1987–1991 Head of Controlling, 1991–1993 CEO, 
Industrias Plycem, Venezuela, 1993–1996 Division 
Manager, Fibre Cement Activities; 1996–2016 Georg 
Fischer Group: 1996–1997 Chief Financial Officer (CFO), 
Georg Fischer Piping Systems, 1997–2004 CFO, Agie 
Charmilles Group (currently Georg Fischer Machine 
Tools), 2004–December 2016 CFO, Georg Fischer AG, 
and Member of the Group Executive Board 
Mandates in listed companies: Member of the Board 
of Directors of Conzzeta AG, Zurich
Mandates in non-listed companies: Member of the 
Board of Directors, Raiffeisenbank, Zufikon; Chairman 
of the Board of Directors, Eisenbergwerk Gonzen AG, Sar-
gans; member of the Board of Directors, BDWM Trans-
port AG, Bremgarten, since May 2017
Other significant activities: –
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Valérie Berset Bircher
Education: Doctorate in law (Dr. iur.) 
Career history: 2005 Office of the International Labour 
Organization (ILO), specialist in employment law in the 
Department of International Labour Standards; 2006–
2007 International Organization for Standardization 
(ISO), Human Resources Department; since 2007 Dep-
uty Head of the International Labour Affairs section of 
the State Secretariat for Economic Affairs (SECO) in 
which role she has served on committees of the United 
Nations (UN) and the International Labour Organiza-
tion (ILO) addressing economics, finance and develop-
ment issues and as a member of the Federal Advisory 
Committee for the National Contact Points on OECD 
Guidelines for Multinational Companies and the tripartite 
ILO Committee; 2011–2014 and since 2017 Member of 
the ILO Board of Directors.
Mandates: –
Other significant activities: Member of the Commit-
tee on Freedom of Association, ILO, Geneva, since June 
2017

Alain Carrupt
Education: Swiss school-leaving certificate in economics
Career history: 1978–1994 PTT companies, most 
recently as Head of Administration at the telecoms 
directorate in Sion; 1994–2000 PTT Union, Central Sec-
retary of the Telecommunications sector; 2000–2010 
Communications Union: 2000–2002 Deputy General 
Secretary and Head of Personnel, 2003-2008 Vice 
Chairman, 2008–2010 Chairman; 2011–2016 syndicom 
Trade Union: 2011–2013 Joint Chairman, 2013–Febru-
ary 2016 Chairman
Mandates: –
Other significant activities: – 
 

Frank Esser
Education: Graduate in business administration, 
Doctorate in Economics (Dr. rer. pol.)
Career history: 1988–2000 Mannesmann Deutschland, 
most recently from 1996 as a member of the Executive 
Board of Mannesmann Eurokom; 2000–2012 Société 
Française du Radiotéléphone (SFR): 2000–2002 Chief 
Operating Officer (COO), 2002–2012 CEO, in this func-
tion from 2005–2012 also a member of the Group 
Executive Board of the Vivendi Group
Mandates in listed companies: Member of the Super-
visory Board, Dalenys Group S.A (formerly Rentabiliweb 
Group S.A.S.), Brussels; member of the Board of Direc-
tors, interXion Holding N.V., Amsterdam
Other significant activities: –

Barbara Frei 
Education: Degree in mechanical engineering, ETH; 
Doctorate (Dr.  sc. techn.), ETH; Master of Business 
Administration, IMD Lausanne
Career history: 1998–2016 ABB Group in various mana-
gerial positions, including, in particular, 2008–2010 ABB 
s.r.o., Prague, Country Manager; 2010–2013 ABB S.p.A., 
Sesto San Giovanni (Italy), Country Manager and Regional 
Manager Mediterranean; November 2013–December 
2015 Drives and Control Unit, Managing Director; 2016 
Head of Strategic Portfolio Reviews for the Power Grids 
division; since December 2016 Schneider Electric, Paris: 
Chairman of the Executive Committee of Schneider Elec-
tric GmbH, Germany, in which capacity she was also 
Zone President Germany until June 2017 and since July 
2017 Zone President Germany, Austria and Switzerland 
for the group Schneider Electric, Paris 
Mandates: Mandates for Schneider Electric Group: 
CEO of ELSO GmbH, Merten GmbH, Schneider Electric 
GmbH, Schneider Electric Holding Germany GmbH, 
SE  Real Estate GmbH and, since July 2017, Schneider 
Electric “Austria” Ges.m.b.H, and member of the Super
visory Board of Schneider Electric Sachsenwerk GmbH
Other significant activities: –
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Catherine Mühlemann 
Education: Lic. phil. I
Career history: 1994–1997 Swiss Television DRS, Head 
of Media Research; 1997–1999 SF1 and SF2, Pro-
gramme Researcher; 1999–2001 TV3, Programme 
Director; 2001–2003 MTV Central, CEO; 2003–2005 
MTV Central & Emerging Markets, CEO; 2005–2008 
MTV Central & Emerging Markets and Viva Media AG 
(Viacom), CEO; since 2008 Andmann Media Holding 
GmbH, Baar, partner, until December 2012 owner
Mandates in listed companies: Member of the Super-
visory Board, Tele Columbus AG, Berlin 
Mandates in non-listed companies: Vice-Chairwoman 
of Switzerland Tourism; member of the Supervisory 
Board of Messe Berlin GmbH, Berlin, since July 2017
Other significant activities: –

Theophil Schlatter
Education: Degree in business administration (lic. oec. 
HSG); qualified public accountant
Career history: 1979–1985 STG Coopers & Lybrand, 
public accountant; 1985–1991 Holcim Management 
und Beratung AG, controller; 1991–1995 Sihl Papier AG, 
CFO and member of the Executive Committee; 1995–
1997 Holcim (Switzerland) Ltd, Head of Finance/Adminis-
tration and member of the Executive Committee; 
1997–2011 Holcim Ltd., CFO and member of the Group 
Executive Board 
Mandates in non-listed companies: Member of the 
Board of Directors, Schweizerische Cement-Industrie-
Aktiengesellschaft, Rapperswil-Jona
Other significant activities: –
 

Renzo Simoni
Education: Doctorate in mechanical engineering 
(Dr. sc. techn.), ETH 
Career history: 1985–1989 Gruner Group, technical 
assistant in Civil Engineering and Building Construc-
tion; 1989–1995 Federal Institute of Technology in 
Zurich (ETH Zurich), scientific assistant; 1995–1998 
ETH Zurich, lecturer (part-time); 1995–2002 Ernst 
Basler + Partner AG, Civil Engineering Developer 
Consulting Services; 2002–2006 Helbling Beratung + 
Bauplanung AG, member of the Management Board, 
most recently as Co-CEO; 2007–2017 AlpTransit 
Gotthard AG, Chairman of the Management Board
Mandates in non-listed companies: Member of the 
Board of Directors, Gruner AG, Basel, since April 2017
Other significant activities: Member of the Advisory 
Committee of Deutsche Bahn Stuttgart-Ulm GmbH 
(PSU) Project Company (“Stuttgart 21”); Chairman of 
the Board of the Psychiatric Hospital of the University 
of Zurich, since January 2018
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 4.3	 Election and term of office 

Under the terms of the Articles of Incorporation, the Board of Directors comprises between seven and nine mem-
bers and, if necessary, the number can be increased temporarily. Under the Articles of Incorporation of Swisscom 
Ltd, the Swiss Confederation is entitled to appoint two representatives to the Board of Directors of Swisscom Ltd. 
Currently, Renzo Simoni is the only representative appointed by the Federal government. Under the terms of the 
Telecommunications Enterprise Act (TEA), employees must be granted appropriate representation on the Board of 
Directors of Swisscom Ltd. The Articles of Incorporation also stipulate that the Board of Directors must include 
two employee representatives. Employees are entitled to make proposals for their employee representatives. 
Since the Annual General Meeting of April 2016, the elected employee representatives have been Valérie Berset 
Bircher and Alain Carrupt. Valérie Berset Bircher was nominated by the transfair staff association and Alain Car-
rupt was nominated by the syndicom trade union. With the exception of the representative of the Swiss Confed-
eration, the Board of Directors of Swisscom Ltd is elected by the shareholders at the Annual General Meeting. The 
Annual General Meeting elects the members and the Chairman of the Board of Directors as well as the members 
of the Compensation Committee individually for a term of one year. The term of office runs until the conclusion of 
the following Annual General Meeting. Re-election is permitted. If the office of the Chairman is vacant or the 
number of members of the Compensation Committee falls below the minimum number of three members, the 
Board of Directors nominates a chairman from among its members or appoints the missing member(s) of the 
Compensation Committee to serve until the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting. Otherwise, the 
Board of Directors constitutes itself. 
The maximum term of office for members elected by the Annual General Meeting, as a rule, is a total of twelve 
years. This flexible arrangement makes it possible for shareholders to extend the maximum term of office in 
exceptional cases if special circumstances exist. Members who reach the age of 70 retire from the Board as of the 
date of the next Annual General Meeting. The maximum term of office and age limit for the Federal representa-
tive are determined by the Federal Council.

4.4	 Independence

In order to determine independence, the Board of Directors applies the criteria set out in the Swiss Code of Best 
Practice for Corporate Governance. Independent members shall thus mean non-executive members of the Board 
of Directors who were never a member of the executive management or who have not been a member of the 
executive management for at least three years and who have no or only comparatively minor business relations 
with the company. The term of office of a member of the Board of Directors is not a criterion that can be used to 
assess independence. No members of the Board of Directors hold an executive role within the Swisscom Group or 
have held such a role in any of the three business years prior to the reporting year. The Board members have no 
significant commercial links with Swisscom Ltd or the Swisscom Group. The Swiss Confederation, represented on 
the Board by Renzo Simoni, holds the majority of the capital and voting rights in Swisscom in accordance with the 
TEA. Customer and supplier relationships exist between the Swiss Confederation and Swisscom. Details of these 
are provided in Note 6.2 to the consolidated financial statements.

 

See report
page 142
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 4.5	 Internal organisation and modus operandi

The Board of Directors is responsible for the strategic and financial management of Swisscom and for monitoring 
the company’s executive management. As the supreme governing body of the Company, it has decision-making 
authority unless such authority is granted to the Annual General Meeting by virtue of law. The Board of Directors 
has delegated individual tasks to committees. The standing committees of the Board of Directors of Swisscom Ltd 
were constituted as follows as at 31 December 2017:

The Board of Directors is usually convened once per month by the Chairman (except in July) for a one-to-two-day 
meeting. Further meetings are convened as business requires. In the event that the Chairman is unavailable, the 
meeting is convened by the Vice-Chairman. The CEO, the CFO and the Head of Group Strategy & Board Services 
regularly attend the meetings of the Board of Directors. The Chairman sets the agenda. Any Board member may 
request the inclusion of further items on the agenda. Board members receive documents prior to the meeting to 
allow them to prepare for the items on the agenda. To further ensure appropriate reporting to the members of the 
Board, the Board of Directors invites members of the Group Executive Board, senior employees of Swisscom, audi-
tors and other internal and external experts, as appropriate, to attend its meetings on specific issues. Further-
more, the Chairman of the Board of Directors and the CEO report to each meeting of the Board of Directors on 
particular events, on the general course of business and major business transactions, as well as on any measures 
that have been implemented. 
The duties, responsibilities and modus operandi of the Board of Directors and its conduct with respect to conflicts 
of interest are defined in the Organisational Rules and in the rules governing the standing committees. 

See
www.swisscom.ch/ 

basicprinciples

The Board of Directors attaches great importance to the ongoing development and continuing education of the 
Board and its individual members. The Board of Directors and the committees conduct self-assessments, usually 
once a year and most recently in January 2017. A one-day mandatory training course was held at the beginning of 
2017. Each quarter, the members of the Board of Directors also have the opportunity to explore the upcoming 
challenges facing the Group and business divisions in-depth as part of “company experience days”. The majority 
of members of the Board of Directors regularly take advantage of these opportunities. In addition, individual mem-
bers of the Board of Directors attended selected presentations and seminars during the year. New Board members 
are given a task-specific introduction to their activities. At a one-day introduction, they are provided with an over-
view of Group management and the current operational challenges. They are also given an in-depth look at topics 
related to the Italian subsidiary Fastweb and attend task-related training sessions. Whenever possible, the Board of 
Directors attends the Swisscom Group’s annual management meeting. 

Frank Esser 1 
Alain Carrupt  
Catherine Mühlemann  
Renzo Simoni 
Hansueli Loosli

Audit Committee

Theophil Schlatter 1 
Roland Abt 
Valérie Berset-Bircher 
Hansueli Loosli 

Compensation Committee

Barbara Frei 1 
Frank Esser 
Theophil Schlatter 
Renzo Simoni 
Hansueli Loosli 2

Board of Directors

1 Chairman (-woman) of the Committee of the Board of Directors
2 Without voting rights

Finance Committee

http://www.swisscom.ch/basicprinciples
http://www.swisscom.ch/basicprinciples
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The following table gives an overview of the Board of Directors’ meetings, conference calls and circular resolutions 
in 2017.

 	 Meetings	 	 Conference calls	 	 Circular resolutions	

Total 	 12	 	 1	 	 –	

Average duration (in hours) 	 5:30	 	 0:15	 	 –	

Participation: 	 	 	 	 	 –	

Hansueli Loosli, Chairman 	 12	 	 1	 	 –	

Roland Abt 	 11	 	 1	 	 –	

Valérie Berset Bircher 	 12	 	 1	 	 –	

Alain Carrupt 	 12	 	 1	 	 –	

Frank Esser 	 12	 	 1	 	 –	

Barbara Frei 	 11	 	 1	 	 –	

Catherine Mühlemann 	 12	 	 1	 	 –	

Theophil Schlatter, Deputy Chairman 	 12	 	 1	 	 –	

Renzo Simoni 1	 9	 	 1	 	 –	

Hans Werder 2	 2	 	 0	 	 –	
	

1	 Elected to the Board of Directors as of 3 April 2017.
2	 Resigned from the Board of Directors as of 3 April 2017.

4.6	 Chairman of the Board of Directors

Hansueli Loosli has been a member of the Board of Directors since 2009 and Chairman of the Board since Septem-
ber 2011. The powers and responsibilities of the Chairman are defined in the Organisational Rules. In the event 
that the Chairman of the Board of Directors is unavailable, the Vice-Chairman, Theophil Schlatter, assumes his 
powers and responsibilities.

See
www.swisscom.ch/ 

basicprinciples

4.7	 Committees of the Board of Directors

The Board of Directors has three standing committees (Audit, Finance and Compensation) and one ad-hoc com-
mittee (Nomination) tasked with carrying out detailed examinations of matters of importance. The committees 
usually consist of three to six members. As a rule, every member of the Board of Directors always also sits on at 
least one of the standing committees. Subject to being appointed to the Compensation Committee (without 
voting rights), the Chairman of the Board of Directors is a member of all the standing committees. The commit-
tees are chaired by other members, however. At the following meeting of the Board of Directors, the chairs of the 
committees report verbally on the latest committee meetings. All members of the Board of Directors also receive 
copies of all Finance and Audit Committee meeting minutes. The minutes of the Compensation Committee are 
provided to the other members of the Board of Directors upon request.

Finance Committee
The Finance Committee prepares information for the Board of Directors on corporate transactions, for example, 
in connection with setting up or dissolving significant Group companies, acquiring or disposing of significant 
shareholdings, and entering into or terminating strategic alliances. The Committee also acts in an advisory capacity 
on matters relating to major investments and divestments. The Finance Committee has the ultimate decision-
making authority when it comes to issuing rules of procedure and directives in the areas of Mergers & Acquisitions and 
Corporate Venturing. Details of the Committee’s activities are set out in the Finance Committee rules of procedure. 

See
www.swisscom.ch/ 

basicprinciples

The Finance Committee is convened by the Chairman or at the request of a Committee member as often as business 
requires, but as a rule once per quarter. The CEO, the CFO and the Head of Group Strategy and Board Services 
attend meetings of the Finance Committee. Depending on the agenda item, other members of the Group Executive 
Board, the Management Boards of the strategic Group companies and project managers are called upon, as appro-
priate, to also attend the meetings. 
The following table gives an overview of the Finance Committee’s composition, meetings, conference calls and 
circular resolutions in 2017.

http://www.swisscom.ch/basicprinciples
http://www.swisscom.ch/basicprinciples
http://www.swisscom.ch/basicprinciples
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 	 Meetings	 	 Conference calls	 	 Circular resolutions	

Total 	 3	 	 –	 	 –	

Average duration (in hours) 	 3:35	 	 –	 	 –	

Participation: 	 	 	 	 	 	

Frank Esser, Chairman 	 3	 	 –	 	 –	

Alain Carrupt 	 3	 	 –	 	 –	

Catherine Mühlemann 	 3	 	 –	 	 –	

Renzo Simoni 1	 3	 	 –	 	 –	

Hansueli Loosli 	 3	 	 –	 	 –	
	

1	 Elected to the Board of Directors as of 3 April 2017.

Audit Committee
The Audit Committee handles all business relating to financial management (for example, accounting, financial 
controlling, financial planning and financing), assurance (risk management, the internal control system, compli-
ance and the internal audit) and the external audit. It also handles matters dealt with by the Board of Directors 
that call for specific financial expertise (dividend policy, for example). The Committee is the Board of Directors’ 
most important controlling instrument and is responsible for monitoring the Group-wide assurance functions. It 
formulates positions on business matters which lie within the decision-making authority of the Board of Directors 
and has the final say on those business matters for which it has the corresponding competence. Details of the 
Committee’s activities are set out in the Audit Committee rules of procedure.

See
www.swisscom.ch/ 

basicprinciples

The Chairman and one other member of the Committee are experts in the financial field, and the majority of the 
remaining Committee members are experienced in finance and accounting. The Audit Committee is convened by 
the Chairman or at the request of a Committee member as often as business requires, but at least once per quarter. 
The CEO, CFO, Head of Group Strategy & Board Services, Head of Accounting, Head of Internal Audit and the 
external auditors attend the Audit Committee meetings. Depending on the agenda, other members of Swisscom 
management are called upon to attend. The Audit Committee can also involve independent third parties such as 
lawyers, public accountants and tax experts as required. 
The following table gives an overview of the Audit Committee’s composition, meetings, conference calls and circu-
lar resolutions in 2017. 

 	 Meetings	 	 Conference calls	 	 Circular resolutions	

Total 	 5	 	 1	 	 –	

Average duration (in hours) 	 4:55	 	 0:30	 	 –	

Participation: 	 	 	 	 	 	

Theophil Schlatter, Chairman 1	 5	 	 1	 	 –	

Roland Abt 1	 5	 	 1	 	 –	

Valérie Berset Bircher 	 5	 	 1	 	 –	

Hans Werder 2	 1	 	 1	 	 –	

Hansueli Loosli 	 5	 	 1	 	 –	
	

1	 Financial expert.
2	 Resigned from the Board of Directors as of 3 April 2017.

Compensation Committee
For information on the Compensation Committee, refer to the section “Remuneration Report”. 

 

See report
page 81

Nomination Committee
The Nomination Committee is formed on an ad-hoc basis for the purpose of preparing the groundwork for electing 
new members to the Board of Directors and the Group Executive Board when needed. The Committee is presided 
over by the Chairman and its composition is determined on a case-by-case basis. The Committee carries out its 
work based on a specific requirements profile defined by the Board of Directors and presents suitable candidates 
to the Board of Directors. The Board of Directors appoints the members of the Group Executive Board or decides 
upon the motion to be submitted to the Annual General Meeting for the election and approval of members of the 
Board of Directors. A Nomination Committee comprising the following members was formed in the 2017 financial 
year: Hansueli Loosli (Chair), Valérie Berset Bircher and Frank Esser. The Committee held two meetings lasting an 
average of two hours and twenty minutes. 

http://www.swisscom.ch/basicprinciples
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4.8	 Assignment of powers of authority 

The Telecommunications Enterprise Act (TEA) makes reference to the Swiss Code of Obligations regarding the 
non-transferable and irrevocable duties of the Board of Directors of Swisscom Ltd. Pursuant to Article 716a of the 
Code of Obligations, the Board of Directors is responsible first and foremost for the overall management and 
supervision of persons entrusted with managing the company’s operations. 
It decides on the appointment and removal of members of the Group Executive Board. The Board of Directors also 
determines the strategic, organisational, financial planning and accounting guidelines, taking into account the 
goals that the Swiss Confederation, as majority shareholder, aims to achieve. The Swiss Federal Council formulates 
these goals for a four-year period in accordance with the provisions of the TEA.

See
www.swisscom.ch/ 
targets_2018-2021

The Board of Directors has delegated day-to-day business management to the CEO in accordance with the TEA 
and the Articles of Incorporation. In addition to its statutory duties, the Board of Directors decides on business 
transactions of major importance to the Group, including, for example, the acquisition or disposal of companies 
with a financial exposure in excess of CHF 20 million and investments or divestments with a financial exposure in 
excess of CHF 50 million. The division of powers between the Board of Directors and the CEO is set out in detail in 
the Organisational Rules and in Annex 2 to the Organisational Rules, “Rules of Procedure and Accountability” (see 
function table). 

See
www.swisscom.ch/ 
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4.9	 Information and controlling instruments of the Board of Directors vis-à-vis the Group Executive Board

The Board of Directors is briefed comprehensively so it can fulfil its powers and responsibilities. The Chairman of 
the Board of Directors and the CEO meet at least once a month to discuss fundamental issues concerning 
Swisscom Ltd and its Group companies. The Chairman also meets in person with each member of the Group Exec-
utive Board as well as the heads of other Group and business divisions once a year for an in-depth discussion of 
topical issues. 
At every ordinary meeting of the Board of Directors, the CEO also provides the Board of Directors with detailed 
information on the course of business, major projects and events, and any measures adopted. Every month, the 
Board of Directors receives a report containing all key performance indicators relating to the Group and the seg-
ments. In addition, the Board of Directors receives a quarterly report on the course of business, financial position, 
results of operations, cash flows and risk position of the Group and the segments. It also receives projections for 
operational and financial developments for the current financial year. The management reporting is carried out in 
accordance with the same accounting principles and standards as external financial reporting. It also includes key 
non-financial information that is important for controlling and steering purposes. Every member of the Board of 
Directors is entitled to request information on all matters relating to the Group at any time, provided this does not 
conflict with the provisions regarding the reclusion of a member from Board deliberations or confidentiality obli-
gations. The Board of Directors is informed immediately of any events of an exceptional nature.
The Board of Directors is responsible for establishing and monitoring the Group-wide assurance functions of risk 
management, internal control system, compliance and internal audit and is briefed comprehensively on these 
matters. 

4.9.1	 Risk management 
The Board of Directors has set the objective of protecting the company’s enterprise value through the implemen-
tation of Group-wide risk management. A corporate culture that promotes the conscious handling of risks and 
opportunities facilitates the achievement of this objective. Accordingly, Swisscom has implemented a Group-
wide, central risk management system which takes account of both external and internal events. It captures risks 
in the areas of strategy (including market risks), operations (including finance risks), compliance and financial 
reporting. Swisscom engages in level-appropriate, comprehensive reporting and maintains the appropriate docu-
mentation. The objective is to identify, assess and address significant risks and opportunities in good time. To this 
end, the central Risk Management unit, which reports to both the CFO and the Controlling department, collabo-
rates closely with the Controlling department, the Strategy department, other assurance functions and line func-
tions. Swisscom assesses its risks and their quantitative effects in the event that the risks crystallise. The risks are 
managed on the basis of a risk strategy. The risks are evaluated in terms of their impact on key performance indi-
cators. Swisscom reviews and updates its risk profile on a quarterly basis. The Audit Committee and the Group 
Executive Board are informed about significant risks, their potential effects and the status of remedial measures 
on a quarterly basis, and the Board of Directors on a semi-annual basis. In urgent cases, the Chairman of the Audit 
Committee is informed without delay about any significant new risks. Significant risk factors are described in the 
Risks section of the Management Commentary.

 

See report
pages 53—54
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4.9.2	 Internal control system and financial reporting
The internal control system (ICS) ensures the reliability of financial reporting with an appropriate degree of assur-
ance. It acts to prevent, uncover and correct substantial errors in the consolidated financial statements, the finan-
cial statements of the Group companies and the Remuneration Report. The ICS encompasses the following inter-
nal control components: control environment, assessment of financial statement accounting risks, control 
activities, monitoring activities, information and communication. The Accounting unit, which is attached to 
Group Business Steering, and Internal Audit periodically monitor the functioning and effectiveness of the ICS. 
Significant shortcomings in the ICS identified during the monitoring activities are reported together with the 
corrective measures in a status report to the Audit Committee twice a year and to the Board of Directors on an 
annual basis. Should the ICS risk assessment change significantly, the Chairman of the Audit Committee is 
informed in a timely manner. Corrective measures to remedy the shortcomings are monitored centrally. The Audit 
Committee assesses the performance and effectiveness of the ICS on the basis of the periodic reporting. 

4.9.3	 Compliance Management
The Board of Directors has set the objective of safeguarding the Swisscom Group and its executive bodies and 
employees from legal sanctions, financial losses and reputational damage by ensuring Group-wide compliance. A 
corporate culture which promotes the willingness to behave in a way that complies with the relevant regulations 
facilitates the achievement of this objective. Swisscom has therefore implemented a Group-wide, central compli-
ance system. Within the framework of this system, every year Group Compliance, a specialist unit of the Group 
legal department, applies a risk-based approach towards identifying areas of legal compliance that require moni-
toring by the central system. Within these areas of legal compliance, the business activities of the Group compa-
nies are reviewed periodically in a proactive manner in order to identify risks in good time and determine the 
required measures. The employees affected are informed of these measures and their implementation is moni-
tored. Group Compliance reviews the suitability and effectiveness of the system annually. In certain areas, an 
annual audit of the implemented measures is also performed by external auditors (financial intermediation in 
accordance with the Money Laundering Act). Group Compliance reports to the Audit Committee and the Board of 
Directors once per year on its activities and risk assessments. Should there be significant changes in the risk 
assessment or if serious breaches are identified, the Chairman of the Audit Committee is informed in a timely 
manner.

4.9.4	 Internal audit
Internal auditing is carried out by the Internal Audit unit. Internal Audit supports the Swisscom Ltd Board of Directors 
and its Audit Committee in fulfilling their statutory and regulatory supervisory and controlling obligations. Internal 
Audit also supports management by highlighting areas of potential for improving business processes. It documents 
the audit findings and monitors the implementation of measures.
Internal Audit is responsible for planning and performing audits throughout the Group in compliance with profes-
sional auditing standards. It conducts an objective evaluation and audit of the appropriateness, efficiency and 
effectiveness of, in particular, the governance and control systems of the operational processes as well as the 
assurance functions of risk management, the internal control system and compliance management in all organi-
sational units of the Swisscom Group.
Internal Audit possesses maximum independence. It is under the direct control of the Chairman of the Board of 
Directors and reports to the Audit Committee. At its meetings, which are held at least on a quarterly basis, the 
Audit Committee is briefed on audit findings and the status of any corrective measures implemented. In addition 
to ordinary reporting, Internal Audit informs the Audit Committee of any irregularities which come to its atten-
tion. At an administrative level, Internal Audit provides reports to the Head of Group Strategy & Board Services.
Internal Audit liaises closely and exchanges information with the external auditors. The external auditors have 
unrestricted access to the audit reports and audit documents of Internal Audit. Internal Audit closely coordinates 
audit planning with the external auditors. The integrated strategic audit plan, which includes the coordinated 
annual plan of both the internal and external auditors, is prepared annually on the basis of a risk analysis and 
presented to the Audit Committee for approval. Independently of this audit, the Audit Committee can commis-
sion special audits based on information received on the whistle-blowing platform operated by Internal Audit. This 
reporting procedure approved by the Audit Committee ensures the anonymous and confidential receipt and han-
dling of objections raised relating to external reporting, financial reporting and assurance function issues. The 
Chairman of the Board of Directors and the Chairman of the Audit Committee are informed of notifications 
received and a report is drawn up on a quarterly basis for the Audit Committee.



Co
rp

or
at

e 
G

ov
er

na
nc

e 
an

d 
Re

m
un

er
at

io
n 

Re
po

rt
Co

rp
or

at
e 

G
ov

er
na

nc
e

72

 5	 Group Executive Board
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 5.1	 Members of the Group Executive Board

In accordance with the Articles of Incorporation, the Executive Board shall comprise one or more members, who 
must not be members of the Board of Directors of Swisscom Ltd at the same time. Temporary exceptions are only 
permitted in exceptional cases. Accordingly, the Board of Directors has delegated responsibility for the overall 
executive management of Swisscom Ltd to the CEO. The CEO is entitled to delegate his powers to subordinates, 
for the main part to other members of the Group Executive Board. The members of the Group Executive Board are 
appointed by the Board of Directors. In June 2017, Christian Petit left the Group Executive Board, at which time Urs 
Lehner took over as Head of Enterprise Customers.

See report
page 57

An overview of the composition of the Group Executive Board as at 31 December 2017 is given in the table below.

 	  	 	 	  	 Appointed to the	

Name 	 Nationality 	 Year of birth	 	 Function 	 Group Executive Board as of	

Urs Schaeppi 1	 Switzerland 	 1960	 	 CEO Swisscom Ltd 	 March 2006	

Mario Rossi 	 Switzerland 	 1960	 	 CFO Swisscom Ltd 	 January 2013	

Hans C. Werner 	 Switzerland 	 1960	 	 CPO Swisscom Ltd 	 September 2011	

Marc Werner 	 Switzerland and France 	 1967	 	 Head of Sales & Services 	 January 2014	

Urs Lehner 	 Switzerland 	 1968	 	 Head of Enterprise Customers 	 June 2017	

Heinz Herren 	 Switzerland 	 1962	 	 Head of IT, Network & Infrastructure 	 January 2014 

Dirk Wierzbitzki 	 Germany 	 1965	 	 Head of Products & Marketing 	 January 2016	
 	

1	 Since November 2013 CEO. 	

5.2	 Education, professional activities and affiliations

Details of the careers and qualifications of the members of the Group Executive Board are provided below along 
with a summary of the mandates they hold outside the Group and other significant activities. Pursuant to the 
Articles of Incorporation, the Group Executive Board members may perform no more than one additional man-
date in listed companies and no more than two additional mandates in non-listed companies. In total, they may 
not perform more than two such additional mandates. These restrictions on the number of mandates do not 
apply to mandates performed by an Executive Board member by order of Swisscom or to mandates in interest 
groups, charitable associations, institutions and foundations or employee retirement-benefit foundations. How-
ever, the total number of these mandates is limited to ten and seven respectively. Prior to accepting new man-
dates outside the Swisscom Group, the members of the Group Executive Board are obligated to obtain the 
approval of the Chairman of the Board of Directors. Details on the regulation of external mandates, in particular 
the definition of the term “mandate” and information on other mandates that do not fall under the aforemen-
tioned numerical restrictions for listed and non-listed companies, are set out in Article 8.3 of the Articles of 
Incorporation. 
None of the members of the Group Executive Board exceed the set limits for mandates. 

See
www.swisscom.ch/ 
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Urs Schaeppi 
Education: Degree in engineering (Dipl. Ing. ETH) and 
business administration (lic. oec. HSG) 
Career history: 1994–1998 plant manager at Biberist 
paper factory; 1998–2006 Head of Commercial Busi-
ness, Swisscom Mobile; 2006–2007 CEO, Swisscom 
Solutions Ltd; 2007–August 2013 Head of Enterprise 
Customers, Swisscom (Switzerland) Ltd; since Janu-
ary 2013 Head of Swisscom (Switzerland) Ltd; 23 July– 
6  November 2013 acting CEO, Swisscom Ltd, since 
7 November 2013 CEO
Since March 2006 member of the Swisscom Group 
Executive Board
Mandates by order of Swisscom: Member of the Exec-
utive Board, Association Suisse des Télécommunica-
tions (asut), Berne; member of the Foundation Board, 
IMD International Institute for Management Develop-
ment, Lausanne; member of the Foundation Council, 
Swiss Innovation Park Foundation, Berne; member of 
the Board of Directors, Admeira AG, Berne; member of 
the Board of Trustees of the Swiss Entrepreneurs Foun-
dation, since December 2017
Other significant activities: Member of the Board of 
Directors, Swiss-American Chamber of Commerce, 
Zurich; member of the Executive Board, Glasfasernetz 
Schweiz, Berne; member of the Advisory Board of the 
Department of Economics of the University of Zurich; 
member of the Steering Committee of digitalswitzer-
land, Zurich (formerly Digital Zurich 2025); member of 
the Advisory Board on Digital Transformation for the 
Federal Department of the Environment, Transport, 
Energy and Communications (DETEC) and the Federal 
Department of Economic Affairs, Education and 
Research (EAER), since June 2017
 

Mario Rossi
Education: Commercial apprenticeship; Swiss Certified 
Public Accountant
Career history: 1998–2002 Swisscom Ltd, Head of 
Group Controlling; 2002–2006 Swisscom Fixnet Ltd, 
Chief Financial Officer (CFO); 2006–2007 Swisscom Ltd, 
CFO and member of the Group Executive Board; 2007–
2009 Fastweb S.p.A., CFO; 2009–2012 Swisscom (Swit-
zerland) Ltd, CFO; since January 2013 Swisscom Ltd, 
CFO and member of the Swisscom Group Executive 
Board 
Mandates by order of Swisscom: Vice-President of the 
Board of Trustees, comPlan, Berne
Mandates in interest groups, charitable associations, 
institutions and foundations, and employee benefit 
foundations: Member of the Foundation Board of the 
Hasler Foundation, Berne
Other significant activities: Member of the Sanctions 
Committee, SIX Swiss Exchange Ltd, Zurich 
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Hans C. Werner 
Education: Graduate in business management, PhD in 
business administration (Dr. oec.) 
Career history: 1997–1999 Kantonsschule Büelrain, 
Winterthur, Rector; 1999–2007 Swiss Re: 1999–2000 
Head of Technical Training and Business Training, 2001 
Divisional Operation Officer, Reinsurance & Risk Divi-
sion, 2002–2003 Head of Human Resources (HR) Cor-
porate Centre and HR Shared Services, 2003–2007 
Head of Global HR; 2007–2009 Schindler Aufzüge AG, 
Head of HR and Training; 2010–2011 Europe North and 
East Schindler, HR Vice President; since September 
2011 Swisscom Ltd, Chief Personnel Officer (CPO) and 
member of the Swisscom Group Executive Board 
Mandates by order of Swisscom: Member of the Board, 
Swiss Employer’s Association, Zurich; member of the 
Board of Trustees, comPlan, Berne
Other significant activities: President of the Institute 
Council and member of the Advisory Board of the Inter-
national Institute of Management in Technology (iimt)
 

Marc Werner 
Education: Technical apprenticeship with specialised 
secondary school diploma, Swiss Certified Marketing 
Executive; Senior Management Programme (University 
of St. Gallen); Senior Executive Programme at London 
Business School
Career history: 1997–2000 Minolta (Schweiz) AG, Head 
of Marketing and Sales and member of the Executive 
Management; 2000–2004 Bluewin AG, Head of Mar-
keting & Sales, member of the Executive Board; 2005–
2007 Swisscom Fixnet Ltd, Head of Marketing & Sales 
Residential Customers; 2008–2013 Swisscom (Switzer-
land) Ltd: 2008–2011 Head of Marketing & Sales Resi-
dential Customers and Deputy Head of Residential 
Customers, 2012–2013 Head of Customer Service Resi-
dential Customers and Deputy Head of Residential 
Customers, September 2013–December 2015 Head of 
Residential Customers division, since January 2016 
Head of Sales & Services and since January 2014 mem-
ber of the Swisscom Group Executive Board 
Mandates in non-listed companies: Member of the 
Board of Directors of Net-Metrix AG, Zurich, until 
March 2017
Mandates by order of Swisscom: Chairman of the 
Board of Directors, siroop AG, Zurich; member of the 
Board of Directors, Digital Festival AG, since September 
2017
Mandates in interest groups, charitable associations, 
institutions and foundations, and employee benefit 
foundations: Member of the Board of Directors of simsa 
– Swiss Internet Industry Association, Zurich, until April 
2017
Other significant activities: Member of the Communi-
cations Council of KS/CS – Communication Switzer-
land (formerly the Verband SW Schweizer Werbung), 
Zurich; member of the Executive Board of the SWA-
ASA – Association of Swiss Advertisers, Zurich; mem-
ber of the Executive Board of the SVC Swiss Venture 
Club
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Urs Lehner
Education: Degree in IT Engineering (UAS, university of 
applied sciences), Executive MBA in Business Engineering, 
University of St. Gallen (HSG)
Career history: 1997–2013 Trivadis Group, most 
recently: 2004–2008 Solution Portfolio Manager, 
member of the Group Executive Board of Trivadis 
Group, 2008–2011 Chief Operating Officer (COO) of 
Trivadis Group, 2011–2013 member of the Board of 
Directors of Trivadis Holding AG; July 2011–June 2017 
Swisscom (Switzerland) Ltd: July 2011–December 2013 
Head of Marketing & Sales Corporate Business, 2014–
2015 Head of Marketing & Sales Enterprise Customers, 
2016–June 2017 Head of Sales & Services Enterprise 
Customers; since June 2017 Swisscom, Head of Enter-
prise Customers and member of the Group Executive 
Board
Mandates: –
Other significant activities: –

Heinz Herren
Education: Degree in electronic engineering (HTL) 
Career history: 1994–2000 3Com Corporation; 2000 
Inalp Networks Inc.; 2001–2007 Swisscom Fixnet AG: 
2001–2005 Head of Marketing Wholesale, 2005–2007 
Head of Small and Medium-Sized Enterprises; 2007–
December 2012 Swisscom, member of the Group Exec-
utive Board; 2007–2013 Swisscom (Switzerland) Ltd: 
2007–2010 Head of Small and Medium-Sized Enter-
prises, 2011–2013 Head of Network & IT; since January 
2014 Swisscom, Head of IT, Network & Infrastructure 
(formerly IT, Network & Innovation) and member of 
the Group Executive Board 
Mandates in non-listed companies: Member of the 
Board of Directors, Schweizerische Mobiliar Genossen-
schaft, Berne, since May 2017
Mandates by order of Swisscom: Member of the Board 
of Directors, Belgacom International Carrier Services S.A., 
Brussels; member of the Board of Directors and Execu-
tive Board of economiesuisse, since August 2017
Other significant activities: –

Dirk Wierzbitzki 
Education: Degree in electrical engineering (Dipl. Ing.)
Career history: 1994–2001 Mannesmann (now Voda-
fone Germany): various management roles in the area 
of product management; 2001–2010 Vodafone Group: 
2001–2003 Director for Innovation Management, 
Vodafone Global Products and Services, 2003–2006 
Director for Commercial Terminals, 2006–2008 Direc-
tor for Consumer Internet Services and Platforms, 
2008–2010 Director for Communications Services; 
2010–2015 Swisscom (Switzerland) Ltd: member of 
Management Residential Customers, 2010–2012 Head 
of Customer Experience Design for Residential Cus-
tomers, 2013–2015 Head of Fixed-network Business & 
TV for Residential Customers; since January 2016, 
Swisscom, Head of Products & Marketing and member 
of the Swisscom Group Executive Board 
Mandates by order of Swisscom: Member of the Board 
of Directors, SoftAtHome, Paris
Other significant activities: –
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 5.3	 Management agreements

Neither Swisscom Ltd nor any of the Group companies included in the scope of consolidation have entered into 
management agreements with third parties. 

6	 Remuneration, shareholdings and loans

All information on the remuneration of the Board of Directors and the Group Executive Board of Swisscom Ltd is 
provided in the separate Remuneration Report.

See report
page 81

7	 Shareholders’ participation rights

7.1	 Voting right restrictions and proxies

Each registered share entitles the holder to one vote. Voting rights can only be exercised if the shareholder is 
entered in the share register of Swisscom Ltd with voting rights. The Board of Directors may refuse to recognise an 
acquirer of shares as a shareholder or beneficial holder with voting rights if the latter’s total holding, when the 
new shares are added to any voting shares already registered in its name, exceeds the limit of 5% of all registered 
shares entered in the commercial register. With the other shares, the acquirer is entered in the share register as a 
shareholder or beneficial holder without voting rights. This restriction on voting rights also applies to registered 
shares acquired through the exercise of subscription, option or conversion rights. A Group clause applies to the 
calculation of the percentage restriction.
The 5% voting right restriction does not apply to the Swiss Confederation which, under the terms of the Tele
communications Enterprise Act (TEA), holds the capital and voting majority of Swisscom Ltd. The Board of Directors 
may also recognise an acquirer of shares with more than 5% of all registered shares as a shareholder or beneficial 
holder with voting rights, in particular in the following exceptional cases:
>	 Where shares are acquired as a result of a merger or business combination
>	 Where shares are acquired as a result of a non-cash contribution or an exchange of shares
>	 Where shares are acquired with a view to cementing a long-term partnership or strategic alliance

In addition to the percentage restriction on voting rights, the Board of Directors may refuse to recognise and enter 
as a shareholder or beneficial holder with voting rights any person acquiring shares who fails to expressly declare 
upon request that he/she has acquired the shares in his/her own name and for his/her own account or as beneficial 
holder. Should an acquirer of shares refuse to make such a declaration, he/she will be entered as a shareholder 
without voting rights.
Where an entry has been made on the basis of false statements by the acquirer, the Board of Directors may, after 
consulting the party concerned, delete their share register entry as a shareholder with voting rights and enter 
him/her as a shareholder without voting rights. The acquirer must be notified of the deletion immediately.
The restrictions on voting rights provided for in the Articles of Incorporation may be changed by resolution of the 
Annual General Meeting, for which an absolute majority of valid votes cast is required.
During the year under review, the Board of Directors did not recognise any acquirers of shares with more than 5% 
of all registered shares as a shareholder or beneficial holder with voting rights, did not reject any requests for 
recognition or registration and did not remove any shareholders with voting rights from the share register due to 
the provision of false data. 

7.2	 Statutory quorum requirements

The Annual General Meeting of Shareholders of Swisscom Ltd adopts its resolutions and holds its elections by the 
absolute majority of valid votes cast. Abstentions are not deemed to be votes cast. In addition to the special quorum 
requirements under the Swiss Code of Obligations, the Articles of Incorporation require a two-thirds majority of 
the voting shares represented in the following cases:
>	 Introduction of restrictions on voting rights
>	 Change in the Articles of Incorporation concerning special quorums for resolutions
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7.3	 Convocation of the Annual General Meeting and agenda items

The Board of Directors must convene the Annual General Meeting at least 20 calendar days prior to the date of the 
meeting by means of an announcement in the Swiss Commercial Gazette. The meeting can also be convened by 
registered or unregistered letter to all registered shareholders. One or more shareholders who together represent 
at least 10% of the share capital can demand in writing that an extraordinary general meeting be convened, 
stating the agenda item and the proposal and, in the case of elections, the names of the proposed candidates.
The Board of Directors is responsible for defining the agenda. Shareholders representing shares with a par value 
of at least CHF 40,000 may request that an item be placed on the agenda. This request must be submitted in 
writing to the Board of Directors at least 45 days prior to the Annual General Meeting, stating the agenda item 
and the proposal (Article 5.4.3 of the Articles of Association).

See
www.swisscom.ch/ 

basicprinciples

7.4	 Representation at the Annual General Meeting

Shareholders may be represented at the Annual General Meeting by another shareholder with voting rights or by 
the independent proxy elected by the Annual General Meeting. The law firm Reber Rechtsanwälte, Zurich, was 
appointed as independent proxy for the period up until the conclusion of the General Annual Meeting in April 2018. 
Partnerships and legal entities may be represented by authorised signatories, while minors and wards may be 
represented by their legal representative even if the latter is not a shareholder. 
Authorisation may be granted in writing or electronically via the shareholders’ platform operated by Computer-
share Switzerland Ltd. Shareholders who are represented by a proxy may issue instructions for each agenda item 
and also for all unannounced agenda items and motions, stating whether they wish to vote for or against the 
motion or abstain. The independent proxy must cast the votes entrusted to him by shareholders according to their 
instructions. If it receives no instructions, it shall abstain. Abstentions are not deemed to be cast votes (Article 5.7.4 
of the Articles of Incorporation). 

7.5	 Entries in the share register

Shareholders entered in the share register with voting rights are entitled to vote at the Annual General Meeting. 
To ensure due procedure, the Board of Directors defines a cut-off date at its own discretion for determining voting 
entitlements, which is a few business days before the respective Annual General Meeting. Entries into and dele-
tions from the share register can be made at any time regardless of the cut-off date. The cut-off date is announced 
with the invitation to the Annual General Meeting and also published in the financial calendar on the Swisscom 
website. Shareholders entered in the share register with voting rights as of 4 p.m. on 29 March 2017 were entitled 
to vote at the Annual General Meeting of 3 April 2017.

8	 Change of control and defensive measures 

Under the terms of the Telecommunications Enterprise Act (TEA), the Swiss Confederation must hold the majority 
of the capital and voting rights in Swisscom Ltd. This requirement is also set out in the Articles of Incorporation. 
There is thus no duty to submit a takeover bid as defined in the Federal Act on Stock Exchanges and Securities 
Trading, since this would contradict the TEA.
Details on clauses on change of control are given in the section “Remuneration Report”.

 

See report
page 91

http://www.swisscom.ch/basicprinciples
http://www.swisscom.ch/basicprinciples
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 9	 Auditor

9.1	 Selection process, duration of mandate and term of office of the Auditor-in-charge

The statutory auditor is appointed annually by the Annual General Meeting following a proposal submitted by the 
Board of Directors. Re-election is permitted. The policies for appointing the statutory auditor have been set forth 
in a policy by the Board of Directors. A new tender is issued for the statutory auditor’s mandate at least every 10 to 
14 years. The statutory auditor’s tenure is limited to 20 years. The Audit Committee steers the selection process, 
defines transparent selection criteria and submits two proposals accompanied by a substantiated recommenda-
tion in favour of one audit firm to the Board of Directors. The last tendering process was launched in 2007 with 
effect from the 2008 financial year. The Board of Directors of Swisscom Ltd has decided to issue a new tender for 
the statutory auditor’s mandate in 2018 with effect from the 2019 financial year.
KPMG AG, Muri bei Bern, has acted as the statutory auditor of Swisscom Ltd and its Group companies (with the 
exception of Fastweb S.p.A, which is audited by PriceWaterhouseCoopers S.p.A.) since 1 January 2004. 
As regulated by the Swiss Code of Obligations, the person who leads the audit may only perform the mandate for 
a maximum of seven years. Hanspeter Stocker of KPMG AG has been responsible for the audit mandate as Auditor-
in-charge since 2015. 

9.2	 Audit fees

Remuneration for the auditing services provided by KPMG AG in 2017 amounted to CHF 2,843 thousand (previous 
year: CHF 3,239 thousand). PricewaterhouseCoopers S.p.A. as auditors for Fastweb received an audit fee of 
CHF 671 thousand in 2017 (prior year: CHF 768 thousand).

9.3	 Supplementary fees

The fees owed to KPMG AG for additional audit-related services amounted to CHF 388 thousand (previous year: 
CHF  283  thousand), and the fees for other services were CHF  121 thousand (prior year: CHF 127 thousand). The 
audit-related services comprise certifications of electronic signatures, special reviews and reporting-related advisory 
services. The other services comprise tax advising and consulting services regarding regulatory requirements.
The fees owed to PricewaterhouseCoopers S.p.A. for additional audit-related and other services for Fastweb amounted 
to CHF 319 thousand (prior year: CHF 112 thousand). 

9.4	 Supervision and controlling instruments vis-à-vis the auditors

The Audit Committee verifies the qualifications and independence of the statutory auditors as a licensed, state-
supervised auditing firm as well as the quality of the audit services performed as commissioned by the Board of 
Directors. It is also responsible for observing the statutory rotation principle for the Auditor-in-charge and for 
reviewing and issuing the new tender for the audit mandate. It approves the integrated strategic audit plan, which 
includes the annual audit plan of both the internal and external auditors, and the annual fee for the auditing services 
provided to the Group and Group companies. The Audit Committee has defined guidelines for additional service man-
dates (including a list of prohibited services). In a regulation, it has also set a threshold for fees charged for additional 
services, which is defined as a percentage of the audit fees. In order to ensure the independence of the auditors, 
additional service mandates must be approved by the CFO of the local Group company or by the Audit Committee 
(where the fee exceeds CHF 300 thousand).  The Audit Committee is reported to quarterly by the CFO and annually 
by the auditors on current mandates being performed by the auditors, broken down according to audit services, 
audit-related services and non-audit services. 
The statutory auditors, represented by the Auditor-in-charge and his deputy, usually attend all Audit Committee 
meetings. They inform the Committee in detail on the performance and results of their work, in particular regard-
ing the annual financial statement audit. They submit a written report to the Board of Directors and the Audit 
Committee on the conduct and results of the audit of the annual financial statements, as well as on their findings 
with regard to accounting and the internal control system. The Chairman of the Audit Committee liaises closely 
with the Auditor-in-charge beyond the meetings of the Committee and regularly reports to the Board of Directors. 
The statutory auditors and Internal Audit took part in all five meetings of the Audit Committee in 2017. They did 
not participate in the meetings of the full Board of Directors. 



Co
rp

or
at

e 
G

ov
er

na
nc

e 
an

d 
Re

m
un

er
at

io
n 

Re
po

rt
Co

rp
or

at
e 

G
ov

er
na

nc
e

80

10	 Information policy

Swisscom pursues an open, active information policy vis-à-vis the general public and the capital markets. It publishes 
comprehensive, consistent and transparent financial information on a quarterly basis. It also publishes an annual 
sustainability report in accordance with the Global Reporting Initiative (GRI) and an annual report including a 
management commentary, corporate governance report, remuneration report and the financial statements. The 
interim reports and annual report are available on the Swisscom website under “Investors” or may be ordered 
directly from Swisscom. The Sustainability Report is available on the Swisscom website under “Company”.

See
www.swisscom.ch/ 

financialreports

See
www.swisscom.ch/ 

cr-report2017

Swisscom meets investors regularly throughout the year, presents its financial results at analysts’ meetings and 
road shows, attends selected conferences for financial analysts and investors, and keeps its shareholders continuously 
informed about its business through press releases. 
Related presentations and the ad-hoc press release published by Swisscom are available on the Swisscom website 
under “Investors”. It is possible to subscribe to the ad-hoc messages published by Swisscom. 

 

See
www.swisscom.ch/adhoc

 
The comprehensive minutes of the Annual General Meeting of 3 April 2017 and minutes from past meetings are 
available on the Swisscom website.

See
www.swisscom.ch/ 

generalmeeting

Those responsible for investor relations can be contacted via the website or by e-mail, telephone or post. 
The contact details and address of the head office may be found in the website imprint.

 

See report
page 169

11	 Financial calendar

>	 Annual General Meeting for the 2017 financial year: 4 April 2018, Forum Fribourg, Granges-Paccot
>	 1st Quarter Interim Report: 2 May 2018
>	 Half-year Interim Report: 16 August 2018
>	 3rd Quarter Interim Report: 1 November 2018
>	 Annual Report 2018: February 2019

The detailed financial calendar is published on the Swisscom website under “Investors” and is updated on a regular 
basis.

See
www.swisscom.ch/ 

financialcalendar

http://www.swisscom.ch/financialreports
http://www.swisscom.ch/financialreports
http://www.swisscom.ch/cr-report2017
http://www.swisscom.ch/cr-report2017
http://www.swisscom.ch/generalmeeting
http://www.swisscom.ch/generalmeeting
http://www.swisscom.ch/financialcalendar
http://www.swisscom.ch/financialcalendar
http://www.swisscom.ch/adhoc
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Remuneration Report
Remuneration paid to the Board of Directors and the Group Executive Board is 
tied to the generation of sustainable returns and therefore creates an incentive 
to achieve long-term corporate success as well as added value for shareholders.

1	 Governance 

1.1	 General principles

The Remuneration Report is based on sections 3.5 and 5 of the annex to the Corporate Governance Directive 
issued by SIX Swiss Exchange and Articles 13 to 16 of the Ordinance against Excessive Compensation in Listed 
Stock Companies (OaEC). Swisscom implements the requirements of the OaEC and complies with the recommen-
dations of the Swiss Code of Best Practice for Corporate Governance 2014 issued by economiesuisse, the umbrella 
organisation representing Swiss business.
Swisscom’s internal principles for determining the level of remuneration are primarily set out in the Articles of 
Incorporation, the Organisational Rules and the Regulations of the Compensation Committee. The latest version of 
these documents as well as revised or superseded versions can be viewed online on the Swisscom website under 
“Basic principles”. 

See
www.swisscom.ch/ 

basicprinciples

As in previous years, the Remuneration Report will be put to a consultative vote at the Annual General Meeting on 
4 April 2018.

1.2	 Division of tasks between the Annual General Meeting, the Board of Directors and the Compensation 
Committee

The Annual General Meeting approves the maximum total remuneration amounts payable to the Board of Directors 
and the Group Executive Board for the following financial year upon the motion proposed by the Board of Directors. 
Details of the relevant regulation and the consequences of a negative decision by the Annual General Meeting are 
set out in Articles 5.7.7 and 5.7.8 of the Articles of Incorporation. Article 7.2.2 of the Articles of Incorporation also 
defines the requirements for and the maximum level of the additional amount that can be paid to a member of 
the Group Executive Board who is newly appointed during a period for which the Annual General Meeting has 
already approved the remuneration. 
The Board of Directors approves, inter alia, the personnel and remuneration policy for the entire Group, as well as 
the general terms and conditions of employment for members of the Group Executive Board. It sets the remuner-
ation of the Board of Directors and decides on the remuneration of the CEO as well as the total remuneration for 
the Group Executive Board. In doing so, it takes into account the maximum amounts approved by the Annual 
General Meeting for the remuneration to be paid to the Board of Directors and the Group Executive Board for the 
financial year in question.
The Compensation Committee handles all business matters of the Board of Directors concerning remuneration, 
submits proposals to the Board of Directors in this context, and, within the framework of the approved total 
remuneration, is empowered to decide upon the remuneration of the individual Group Executive Board members 
(with the exception of the CEO). Neither the CEO nor the other members of the Group Executive Board are entitled 
to participate in meetings at which their remuneration is discussed or decided. The conduct of the members of 
the Board of Directors with respect to conflicts of interest is defined in section 2.6 of the Organisational Rules.
The decision-making powers are governed by the Articles of Incorporation, the Organisational Rules of the Board 
of Directors and the Regulations of the Compensation Committee. 

See
www.swisscom.ch/ 

basicprinciples

http://www.swisscom.ch/basicprinciples
http://www.swisscom.ch/basicprinciples
http://www.swisscom.ch/basicprinciples
http://www.swisscom.ch/basicprinciples
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The table below shows the division of responsibilities between the Annual General Meeting, the Board of Directors 
and the Compensation Committee. 

 	 Remuneration	 	 Board	 	 Annual	

Subject 	 Committee	 	 of Directors	 	 General Meeting	

Maximum total amounts for remuneration of the Board of Directors 	 	 	 	 	 	

and Group Executive Board 	 V	  1	 A	  2	 G	  3

Additional amount for remuneration of newly appointed 	 	 	 	 	 	

members of the Group Executive Board 	 V	 	 A	 	 G	

Principles for performance-related and equity-participation schemes 	 V	 	 A	 	 G	

Personnel and remuneration policy 	 V	 	 G	  4	 –	

Principles underlying retirement-benefit plans and social security payments 	 V	 	 G	 	 –	

Concept of remuneration to members of the Board of Directors 	 V	 	 G	  4	 –	

Equity-share and performance-based participation plans of the Group 	 V	 	 G	  4	 –	

General terms of employment of the Group Executive Board 	 V	 	 G	  4	 –	

Determination of the targets for the variable performance-related salary component 	 V	 	 G	  4	 –	

Remuneration of the Board of Directors 	 V	 	 G	  5	 –	

Remuneration of the CEO Swisscom Ltd 	 V	 	 G	  5	 –	

Total remuneration of the Group Executive Board 	 V	 	 G	  5	 –	

Remuneration of the members of the Group Executive Board (excl. CEO) 	 G	  5, 6	 –	 	 –	
 			 

1 	V stands for preparation and proposal to the Board of Directors.
2 	A stands for proposal to the Annual General Meeting.
3 	G stands for approval.		

4 	In the framework of the Articles of Incorporation.		

5 	In the framework of the maximum total remuneration defined by the Annual General Meeting.		

6 	In the framework of the total remuneration defined by the Board of Directors.		

1.3	 Election, composition and modus operandi of the Compensation Committee 

The Compensation Committee consists of three to six members. They are elected individually each year by the 
Annual General Meeting. If the number of members falls below three, the Board of Directors appoints the missing 
member(s) from its midst until the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting. The Board of Directors 
appoints the Chairman of the Compensation Committee, which constitutes itself. If the Annual General Meeting 
elects the Chairman of the Board of Directors to the Compensation Committee, he has no voting rights. The Chair-
man of the Board of Directors does not participate in meetings in which discussions take place or decisions are 
made with regard to his own remuneration. The CEO, CPO, Head of Group Strategy & Board Services and the Head 
of Rewards & HR-Analytics attend the meetings in an advisory capacity, unless the agenda items exclusively con-
cern the Board of Directors or the CEO and CPO, in which case the CEO and CPO are not present. Other members 
of the Board of Directors, auditors or experts may be called upon to attend the meetings in an advisory capacity. 
Minutes are kept of the meetings, which are provided to the members of the Committee and to other members 
of the Board of Directors on request. The meetings of the Compensation Committee are generally held in February, 
June and December. Further meetings can be convened as and when required. The Chairman reports verbally on 
the activities of the Compensation Committee at the next meeting of the Board of Directors.
The details are governed by Article 6.5 of the Articles of Incorporation, as well as by the Organisational Rules of the 
Board of Directors and the Regulations of the Compensation Committee. 

See
www.swisscom.ch/ 

basicprinciples

The members of the Compensation Committee neither work nor have worked for Swisscom in an executive capacity, 
nor do they maintain any significant commercial links with Swisscom Ltd or the Swisscom Group. Customer and 
supplier relationships exist between the Swiss Confederation and Swisscom. Details of these are provided in 
Note 6.2 to the consolidated financial statements. 

See report
page 142

http://www.swisscom.ch/basicprinciples
http://www.swisscom.ch/basicprinciples
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The following table gives an overview of the composition of the Committee, the Committee meetings, conference 
calls and circular resolutions held or taken in 2017.

 	 Meetings	 	 Conference calls	 	 Circular resolutions	

Total 	 3	 	 –	 	 –	

Average duration (in hours) 	 0:50	 	 –	 	 –	

Participation: 	 	 	 	 	 	

Barbara Frei, Chairwoman 	 3	 	 –	 	 –	

Frank Esser 	 3	 	 –	 	 –	

Renzo Simoni 1, 2	 2	 	 –	 	 –	

Theophil Schlatter 	 3	 	 –	 	 –	

Hans Werder 2, 3	 1	 	 –	 	 –	

Hansueli Loosli 4	 3	 	 –	 	 –	
	

1	 Elected to the Compensation Committee as of 3 April 2017.
2	 Representative of the Confederation.
3	 Resigned from the Board of Directors as of 3 April 2017.
4	 Participation without voting rights.

2	 Remuneration of the Board of Directors

2.1	 Principles 

The remuneration system for the members of the Board of Directors is designed to attract and retain experienced 
and motivated individuals for the Board of Directors’ function. It also seeks to align the interests of the members 
of the Board of Directors with those of the shareholders. The remuneration is commensurate with the activities 
and level of responsibility of each member and is proportionate to the normal market remuneration for compara-
ble functions. The basic principles regarding the remuneration of the Board of Directors and the allocation of 
equity shares are set out in Articles 6.4 and 8.1 of the Articles of Incorporation. 

See
www.swisscom.ch/ 

basicprinciples

The remuneration is made up of a Director’s fee which varies in relation to the member’s function, meeting 
attendance fees as well as pension fund and any fringe benefits. No variable performance-related emoluments are 
paid. The members of the Board of Directors are obligated to draw a portion of their fee in the form of equity shares 
and to comply with the requirements on minimum shareholdings, thus ensuring they directly participate finan-
cially in the performance of Swisscom’s shares. The remuneration is reviewed every December for the following 
year for ongoing appropriateness. In December 2016, the Board of Directors assessed the appropriateness of the 
remuneration as part of a discretionary decision based on the study published in 2016 by ethos, the Swiss Foun-
dation for Sustainable Development. This study provides information for the 2015 financial year on the remuneration 
of the management of Switzerland’s 204 largest listed companies that are constituents of the Swiss Performance 
Index. No external consultants were called on with regard to the structuring of remuneration. The Board of Directors 
opted not to adjust remuneration for the 2017 financial year. 

2.2	 Remuneration components 

Director’s fee 
The Director’s fee is made up of a basic emolument and functional allowances as compensation for the individual 
functions. The basic emolument for all members of the Board of Directors excluding employee social insurance 
contributions is CHF 110,000 (net) per year. 
The functional allowances amount to CHF 255,000 net per year for the Chairman, CHF 20,000 net each for the Vice 
Chairman and the Chairmen of the Finance and Compensation Committees, CHF 50,000 net for the Chairman of 
the Audit Committee, and CHF 40,000 net for the representative of the Swiss Confederation. Annual remuneration 
of CHF 10,000 net is awarded for membership in a standing committee. No functional allowance, however, is paid 
for participation in ad-hoc committees appointed on a case-by-case basis.
Under the Management Incentive Plan, the members of the Board of Directors are obligated to draw 25% of their 
Director’s fee in the form of shares, with Swisscom adding a 50% top-up to the amount invested in shares. In this 
manner, the remuneration (excluding meeting attendance fees, pension fund benefits and fringe benefits) is 
made up of a two-thirds cash portion and a one-third equity share portion. The amount of the share purchase obliga-
tion can vary in the case of members who join, leave, assume or give up a function during the year. Shares are allo-
cated on the basis of their value accepted for tax purposes, rounded up to the next whole number of shares, and 

http://www.swisscom.ch/basicprinciples
http://www.swisscom.ch/basicprinciples
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are subject to a blocking period of three years. This restriction on disposal also applies if members leave the com-
pany during the blocking period. The shares, which are allocated in April of each reporting year in respect of the 
reporting year, are recorded at market value on the date of allocation. The share-based remuneration is aug-
mented by a factor of 1.19 in order to take account of the difference between the tax value and the market value. 
In April 2017, 1,493 shares were allocated to the members of the Board of Directors (prior year: 1,308 shares) with 
a tax value of CHF 387 per share (prior year: CHF 439). Their market value was CHF 461 (prior year: CHF 522.50) 
per share. 

Meeting attendance fees
For meetings, attendance fees of CHF 1,100 net are paid for each full day and CHF 650 net for each half-day. 

Pension fund and fringe benefits
Swisscom assumes the costs of social insurance, in particular old-age and survivors’ insurance and unemployment 
insurance, for the members of the Board of Directors. The disclosed remuneration paid to the members of the Board 
of Directors includes the employee’s share of social insurance contributions. The employer’s share of contributions 
is disclosed separately and is also included in the total remuneration.
With regards to the disclosure of service-related and non-cash benefits and expenses, a tax-based point of view is 
taken. No significant service-related and non-cash benefits are rendered. Expenses are reimbursed on the basis of 
actual costs incurred. Accordingly, neither service-related and non-cash benefits nor out-of-pocket expenses are 
included in the reported remuneration. 

2.3	 Total remuneration

Total remuneration paid to the individual members of the Board of Directors for the 2017 and 2016 financial years 
is presented in the tables below, broken down into individual components. The higher amount of total remuner-
ation for 2017 is attributable to the change in the composition of the committees and the fact that a greater 
number of meetings were held.

 	 Base salary	 	 	 	 	 	 	
 	 and functional allowances	 	 	 	 	 	 	

 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 Employer	 	 	
 	 Cash	 	 Share-based	 	 Meeting	 	 contributions	 	 	

2017, in CHF thousand 	 remuneration	 	 payment	 	 attendance fees	 	 to social security	 	 Total 2017	

Hansueli Loosli 	 315	 	 186	 	 28	 	 29	 	 558	

Roland Abt 	 96	 	 57	 	 21	 	 10	 	 184	

Valérie Berset Bircher 	 96	 	 57	 	 22	 	 10	 	 185	

Alain Carrupt 	 96	 	 57	 	 18	 	 10	 	 181	

Frank Esser 	 120	 	 71	 	 21	 	 12	 	 224	

Barbara Frei 	 112	 	 66	 	 16	 	 11	 	 205	

Catherine Mühlemann 	 96	 	 57	 	 18	 	 10	 	 181	

Theophil Schlatter 	 158	 	 93	 	 21	 	 12	 	 284	

Renzo Simoni 1	 90	 	 78	 	 15	 	 10	 	 193	

Hans Werder 2	 45	 	 3	 	 5	 	 2	 	 55	

Total remuneration to members 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

of the Board of Directors 	 1,224	 	 725	 	 185	 	 116	 	 2,250	
 	

1 	Elected to the Board of Directors as of 3 April 2017.
2 	Resigned from the Board of Directors as of 3 April 2017.
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 	 Base salary	 	 	 	 	 	 	
 	 and functional allowances	 	 	 	 	 	 	

 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 Employer	 	 	
 	 Cash	 	 Share-based	 	 Meeting	 	 contributions	 	 	

2016, in CHF thousand 	 remuneration	 	 payment	 	 attendance fees	 	 to social security	 	 Total 2016	

Hansueli Loosli 	 315	 	 186	 	 27	 	 29	 	 557	

Roland Abt 1	 59	 	 49	 	 11	 	 7	 	 126	

Valérie Berset Bircher 1	 64	 	 53	 	 16	 	 8	 	 141	

Alain Carrupt 1	 64	 	 53	 	 14	 	 8	 	 139	

Frank Esser 4	 112	 	 70	 	 19	 	 11	 	 212	

Barbara Frei 	 112	 	 66	 	 17	 	 11	 	 206	

Hugo Gerber 2, 3	 34	 	 4	 	 6	 	 3	 	 47	

Michel Gobet 3	 32	 	 4	 	 5	 	 2	 	 43	

Torsten Kreindl 3, 4	 40	 	 5	 	 5	 	 3	 	 53	

Catherine Mühlemann 	 96	 	 57	 	 16	 	 10	 	 179	

Theophil Schlatter 	 158	 	 93	 	 21	 	 12	 	 284	

Hans Werder 	 134	 	 80	 	 23	 	 11	 	 248	

Total remuneration to members 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

of the Board of Directors 4	 1,220	 	 720	 	 180	 	 115	 	 2,235	
 					   

1	 Elected to the Board of Directors as of 6 April 2016.
2	 The cash remuneration (including meeting attendance fees) till 6 April 2016 for the mandate as member of the Board of Directors
	 of Worklink AG of CHF 2,500 is included.
3	 Resigned from the Board of Directors as of 6 April 2016.
4	 In comparison to last year’s report, remuneration for 2016 was adjusted with regard to compensation for social security contributions made abroad.

Total remuneration paid to the members of the Board of Directors for the 2017 financial year is within the maxi-
mum total amount approved by the 2016 Annual General Meeting (AGM) for 2017 of CHF 2.5 million. 

2.4	 Minimum shareholding requirement 

The members of the Board of Directors are required to maintain a minimum shareholding equivalent to one annual 
emolument (basic emolument plus functional allowance). The members of the Board of Directors have four years 
to acquire the shareholding, in the form of the blocked shares paid as part of remuneration and, if applicable, 
through share purchases on the open market. Compliance with the shareholding requirement is reviewed annually 
by the Compensation Committee. If a member’s shareholding falls below the minimum requirement due to a 
drop in the share price, the difference must be made up by no later than the time of the next review. In justified 
cases such as personal hardship or legal obligations, the Chairman of the Board of Directors can approve individual 
exceptions at his discretion. 



Co
rp

or
at

e 
G

ov
er

na
nc

e 
an

d 
Re

m
un

er
at

io
n 

Re
po

rt
Re

m
un

er
at

io
n 

Re
po

rt

86

 2.5	 Shareholdings of the members of the Board of Directors 

Blocked and non-blocked shares held by members of the Board of Directors and/or related parties as at 31 Decem-
ber 2016 and 2017 are listed in the table below: 

Number 	 31.12.2017	 	 31.12.2016	

Hansueli Loosli 	 2,733	 	 2,350	

Roland Abt 	 205	 	 88	

Valérie Berset Bircher 	 213	 	 96	

Alain Carrupt 	 213	 	 96	

Frank Esser 	 478	 	 332	

Barbara Frei 	 784	 	 648	

Catherine Mühlemann 	 1,443	 	 1,326	

Theophil Schlatter 	 1,419	 	 1,225	

Renzo Simoni 1	 160	 	 –	

Hans Werder 2	 –	 	 1,128	

Total shares held by the members of the Board of Directors 	 7,648	 	 7,289	
 		

1	 Elected to the Board of Directors as of 3 April 2017.
2	 Resigned from the Board of Directors as of 3 April 2017.

None of the individuals/entities required to make notification holds voting shares exceeding 0.1% of the share 
capital.

3	 Remuneration of the Group Executive Board

3.1	 Principles 

The remuneration policy of Swisscom applicable to the Group Executive Board is designed to attract and retain 
highly skilled and motivated specialists and executive staff over the long term and provide an incentive to achieve 
a lasting increase in the enterprise value. It is systematic, transparent and long-term-oriented, and is predicated 
on the following principles: 
>	 Total remuneration is competitive and is in an appropriate relation to the market as well as the internal salary 

structure. 
>	 Remuneration is based on performance in line with the results achieved by Swisscom and the contribution 

made to results by the area for which the member of the Group Executive Board is responsible.
>	 Through direct financial participation in the performance of the Swisscom share, the interests of management 

are aligned with the interests of shareholders.

The remuneration of the Group Executive Board is a balanced combination of fixed and variable salary compo-
nents. The fixed component is made up of a base salary, fringe benefits (primarily, the use of a company car) and 
pension fund benefits. The variable remuneration includes a performance-related component settled in cash and 
shares. 
The members of the Group Executive Board are required to hold a minimum shareholding, which strengthens 
their direct financial participation in the medium-term performance of the Swisscom share and thus aligns their 
interests with those of shareholders. To facilitate compliance with the minimum shareholding requirement, 
Group Executive Board members have the possibility to draw up to 50% of the variable performance-related com-
ponent of their salary in shares. 
The basic principles regarding the performance-related remuneration and the profit and participation plans of the 
Group Executive Board are set out in Article 8.1 of the Articles of Incorporation.

See
www.swisscom.ch/ 

basicprinciples

http://www.swisscom.ch/basicprinciples
http://www.swisscom.ch/basicprinciples
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The Compensation Committee decides at its discretion on the level of remuneration, taking into consideration the 
external market value of the function in question, the internal salary structure and individual performance. 
For the purpose of assessing market values, Swisscom relies on cross-sector market comparisons with Swiss com-
panies as well as international sector comparisons. These two comparative perspectives allow Swisscom to form 
an optimal overview of the relevant employment market for managerial positions. In the year under review, 
Swisscom referred to two comparative studies conducted by Towers Watson, a recognised consultancy firm. The 
comparison with the Swiss market covers major companies domiciled in Switzerland from various sectors, with 
the exception of the financial and pharmaceutical sectors. On average, these companies generate revenue of 
CHF 4.7 billion and employ 13,000 people. The sector comparison covers telecommunications companies from 
eleven western European countries with an average revenue of CHF 8.9 billion and an average workforce of 
18,800 employees. The evaluation of the two comparative studies takes into account the extent of responsibility in 
terms of revenue, number of employees and international scope. 
As a rule, the Compensation Committee reviews individual remuneration paid to members of the Group Executive 
Board every three years of employment. Taking into account the benchmarks, the Board of Directors adjusted the 
salaries of two members of the Group Executive Board during the course of the reporting year in order to take the per-
formance of these members into account and to bring the salaries into line with standard market remuneration levels. 

3.2	 Remuneration components 

Base salary
The base salary is the remuneration paid according to the function, qualifications and performance of the individual 
member of the Group Executive Board. It is determined based on a discretionary decision taking into account the 
external market value for the function and the salary structure for the Group’s executive management. The base 
salary is paid in cash. 

Variable performance-related salary component
The members of the Group Executive Board are entitled to a variable, performance-related salary component which 
represents 70% of the base salary if objectives are achieved (target bonus). The amount of the performance-related 
component paid out depends on the extent to which the targets are achieved, as set by the Compensation Commit-
tee, taking into account the performance evaluation by the CEO. If targets are exceeded, up to 130% of the target 
bonus may be paid. The maximum performance-related salary component is thus limited to 91% of the base salary. 
This ensures that the maximum performance-related salary component does not exceed the annual base salary, even 
taking account of the market value of the component paid in shares. 

Instruments

Influencing factors

Purpose

Base salary 
Pension benefits 
Fringe benefits

Function, experience 
and qualifications,  
market

Employee recruitment, 
employee retention  
and protection

Performance-related 
component in cash 
and shares

Achievement  
of annual performance 
targets

Focus on annual 
targets and sustainable 
corporate results

Requirement to hold  
a minimum amount  
of Swisscom shares

Long-term 
growth of 
enterprise value

Alignment with 
shareholders interests

Remuneration Assets

Fixed remuneration Variable remuneration Minimum shareholding 
requirement
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Targets for the variable performance-related component
The targets underlying the variable performance-related component are adopted annually in December for the 
following year by the Board of Directors following a proposal submitted by the Compensation Committee. The 
targets relevant to the reporting year remained largely unchanged in line with the Group’s continuing corporate 
strategy. The targets are based on the Swisscom Group’s budget figures for 2017. 
All members of the Group Executive Board are measured against targets at the levels “Group”, “Customers” and 
“Segments”. Group targets consist of financial targets. Customer targets for the reporting year are measured using 
the Net Promoter Score – a recognised indicator of customer loyalty – taking into account the customer group for 
which the Group Executive Board member is responsible. Further information on customer satisfaction can be 
found in the Management Commentary.

See report
page 34

Segment targets are tailored to the relevant function of each Group Executive Board member and consist of finan-
cial and non-financial targets. As in the previous year, these include financial targets for the Italian subsidiary Fast-
web S.p.A. (Fastweb), based on which the Group Executive Board members delegated by Swisscom to Fastweb’s 
Board of Directors are measured. The target structure is thus aligned to Swisscom’s strategic priorities: strength-
ening the core business in Switzerland by offering the best infrastructure and customer experiences as well as 
through the realisation of new growth opportunities and further developing Fastweb in Italy.
The following table illustrates the target structure valid for the CEO and other Group Executive Board members in 
the year under review, showing the three target levels, individual targets and the respective weighting.

 	  	 	 	 Weighting of targets level
 	  	 Weighting of targets level	 	 of other members of the
Target levels 	 Objectives 	 CEO	 	 Group Executive Board

Group 	 Net revenue 	 18%	 	 12–18%	

 	 EBITDA margin 	 18%	 	 12–18%	

 	 Operating free cash flow 	 24%	 	 16–24%	

Customers 	 Net promoter score 	 20%	 	 20%	

Segments 	 Segment targets 	 20%	 	 20–40%	

Total 	  	 100%	 	 100%	

Achievement of targets 
The Compensation Committee determines the level of target achievement in the following year once the consol-
idated financial statements become available. Its decision is based on a quantitative assessment of the extent to 
which targets have been met using a scale for the overachievement and underachievement of each target. The 
achievement of an individual target can vary from 0% (if the lower limit is not achieved) to 200% (if the upper limit 
is exceeded). 

The overall achievement of targets governing the payment of the performance-related component is calculated 
according to the weighting of the individual targets. The payment is limited to a maximum of 130% of the target 
bonus. In determining the level of target achievement, the Compensation Committee has a degree of discretion 
in assessing the effective management performance, allowing special factors such as fluctuations in exchange 
rates to be taken into account. Based on the overall achievement of targets, the Compensation Committee 
submits a proposal for approval to the Board of Directors for the amount of the performance-related salary 
component to be paid to the Group Executive Board and the CEO.
In the year under review, the financial targets of the Group were on the whole exceeded. The customer targets 
were not fully met. Most of the other targets of the segments were achieved. 

Achievement scale for each target

200%

100%

0%

Payment limited if 130%  
of overall targets are met

At  
target

Upper  
limit

Measured  
performanceLower  

limit

Payment of the performance-related salary component is based on individual target achievement and 
is limited if 130% of overall targets are met (weighted target achievement across all individual targets).

Ac
hi
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em
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t o

f t
ar

ge
ts

130%
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The subsequent payment of the performance-related component is 105% of the target bonus for the CEO and 
between 102% and 106% of the target bonus for the other members of the Group Executive Board.

Payment of the variable performance-related component
The variable performance-related component is paid in April of the following year, with 25% being paid in the form 
of Swisscom shares, in accordance with the Management Incentive Plan. Group Executive Board members may opt 
to increase this share by up to a maximum of 50%. The remaining portion of the performance-related component 
is settled in cash. In the event of a departure from the Group Executive Board during the course of the year, the 
payment of the performance-related component for the current year is generally made in full in cash. The decision 
of what percentage of the variable performance-related salary component is to be drawn in the form of shares 
must be communicated prior to the end of the reporting year, but no later than in November following the publi-
cation of the third-quarter results. In the year under review, three members of the Group Executive Board opted 
for a higher share component. The shares are allocated on the basis of their tax value, rounded up to whole num-
bers of shares, and are subject to a three-year blocking period. This restriction on disposal also applies if the 
employment relationship is terminated during the blocking period. The share-based remuneration disclosed in the 
year under review is augmented by a factor of 1.19 in order to take account of the difference between the market 
value and the tax value. The market value is determined as of the date of allocation. Shares in respect of the cur-
rent year are allocated in April 2018. 
In April 2017, a total of 2,121 shares (prior year: 1,841 shares) with a tax value of CHF 387 (prior year: CHF 439) per 
share and a market value of CHF 461 (prior year: CHF 522.50) per share were allocated for the 2016 financial year 
to the members of the Group Executive Board. 

Pension fund and fringe benefits
The members of the Group Executive Board, like all eligible employees in Switzerland, are insured against the risks of 
old age, death and disability through the comPlan pension plan (see pension fund regulations at www.pk-complan.
ch). The disclosed pension benefits (amounts which give rise to or increase pension entitlements) encompass all 
savings, guarantee and risk contributions paid by the employer to the pension plan. They also include the pro rata 
costs of the AHV bridging pension paid by comPlan in the event of early retirement and the premium for the 
supplementary life insurance concluded for Swisscom management staff in Switzerland. Further information 
about this is provided in Note 4.3 to the consolidated financial statements.

See report
pages 129—134

With regards to the disclosure of service-related and non-cash benefits and expenses, a tax-based point of view is 
taken. The members of the Group Executive Board are entitled to the use of a company car. The disclosed 
service-related and non-cash benefits rendered therefore include an amount for private use of the company car. 
Out-of-pocket expenses are reimbursed on a lump-sum basis in accordance with expense reimbursement rules 
approved by the tax authorities, and other expenses are reimbursed on an actual cost basis. They are not included 
in the reported remuneration.

http://www.pk-complan.
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 3.3	 Total remuneration 

The following table shows total remuneration paid to the members of the Group Executive Board for the 2016 and 
2017 financial years, broken down into individual components and including the highest amount paid to one 
member. In the year under review, the variable performance-related salary component for members of the Group 
Executive Board (CHF 2,867 thousand in total) was 76.7% of the base salary (CHF 3,736 thousand in total). The total 
remuneration paid to the highest-earning member of the Group Executive Board (CEO, Urs Schaeppi) increased by 
1.9% compared to the prior year. The increase in total remuneration paid to the Group Executive Board and the 
CEO is primarily attributable to the higher variable remuneration as compared to the previous year.

 	 Total	 	 Total	 	 	 	 	
 	 Group	 	 Group	 	 Thereof	 	 Thereof	
 	 Executive Board	 	 Executive Board	 	 Urs Schaeppi	 	 Urs Schaeppi	

In CHF thousand 	 2017	 	 2016	 	 2017	 	 2016	

Fixed base salary paid in cash 	 3,736	 	 3,782	 	 882	 	 882	

Variable performance-related remuneration paid in cash 	 1,966	 	 1,604	 	 486	 	 284	

Variable performance-related remuneration paid in shares 1	 901	 	 975	 	 193	 	 338	

Service-related and non-cash benefits 	 92	 	 84	 	 21	 	 14	

Employer contributions to social security 2	 591	 	 541	 	 145	 	 126	

Retirement benefits 3	 847	 	 1,064	 	 141	 	 189	

Total remuneration to members of the Group Executive Board 	 8,133	 	 8,050	 	 1,868	 	 1,833	

Benefits paid following retirement from Group Executive Board 4	 629	 	 –	 	 –	 	 –	

Total remuneration paid to Group Executive Board, 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

incl. benefits paid following retirement from Board 	 8,762	 	 8,050	 	 1,868	 	 1,833	
 		

1 	The shares are reported at market value and are blocked from sale for three years.
2 	Employer contributions to social security (AHV, IV, EO and FAK, incl. administration costs, and daily sickness benefits and accident insurance)
 	 are included in the total remuneration.
3 	The amount for 2016 includes the share attributable to the Group Executive Board members of the non-recurring special pension-fund contribution made to cushion 

the impact of pension reductions resulting from the lowering of the conversion rate.
4 	Contractual compensation payments made during the notice period to a Group Executive Board member who resigned from Board during the financial year.

Total remuneration paid to the members of the Group Executive Board for the 2017 financial year is within the 
maximum total amount approved by the 2016 Annual General Meeting (AGM) for 2017 of CHF 9.7 million. 

3.4	 Minimum shareholding requirement 

The members of the Group Executive Board are required to hold a minimum amount of Swisscom shares. The 
minimum shareholding to be held by the CEO is equivalent to two years’ base salary. The remaining members 
maintain a shareholding equivalent to one year’s base salary. The members of the Group Executive Board have 
four years to build up the required minimum shareholding in the form of the blocked shares paid as part of remu-
neration and, if applicable, through share purchases on the open market. Compliance with the shareholding 
requirement is reviewed annually by the Compensation Committee. If a member’s shareholding falls below the 
minimum requirement due to a drop in the share price or a salary adjustment, the difference must be made up by 
no later than the time of the next review. In justified cases such as personal hardship or legal obligations, the 
Chairman of the Board of Directors can approve individual exceptions at his discretion.
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3.5	 Shareholdings of the members of the Executive Board 

Blocked and non-blocked shares held by members of the Group Executive Board or related parties as at 31 Decem-
ber 2016 and 2017 are listed in the table below: 

Number 	 31.12.2017	 	 31.12.2016	

Urs Schaeppi (CEO) 	 3,964	 	 3,229	

Mario Rossi 	 1,236	 	 1,027	

Hans C. Werner 	 1,068	 	 897	

Marc Werner 	 750	 	 382	

Urs Lehner 1	 115	 	 –	

Christian Petit 2	 –	 	 1,337	

Heinz Herren 	 1,586	 	 1,333	

Dirk Wierzbitzki 	 234	 	 64	

Total shares held by the members of the Group Executive Board 	 8,953	 	 8,269	
 		

1 	Joined the Group Executive Board as of 21 June 2017.
2 	Resigned from the Group Executive Board as of 21 June 2017.

None of the individuals/entities required to make notification hold voting shares exceeding 0.1% of the share capital.

3.6	 Employment contracts 

The employment contracts of the members of the Group Executive Board are subject to a twelve-month notice 
period. No termination benefits apply beyond the salary payable for a maximum of twelve months. The employ-
ment contracts stipulate that Swisscom may allow wrongfully awarded or paid remuneration to lapse or reclaim 
such remuneration. They do not contain a non-competition clause or a clause on change of control. 

4	 Other remuneration

4.1	 Remuneration for additional services

Swisscom may pay remuneration to members of the Board of Directors for assignments in Group companies and 
for those performed by order of Swisscom (Article 6.4 of the Articles of Incorporation). The members of the Board 
of Directors were not paid out any remuneration for work of this kind in the year under review.
The members of the Group Executive Board are not entitled to separate remuneration for any directorships they 
hold either within or outside the Swisscom Group.

4.2	 Remuneration for former members of the Board of Directors or Group Executive Board and related parties

In the year under review, no remuneration was paid to former members of the Board of Directors or Group Executive 
Board in connection with their earlier activities as a member of a governing body of the company and/or which are 
not at arm’s length. There were also no payments made to individuals who are closely related to any former or 
current member of the Board of Directors or the Group Executive Board which are not at arm’s length.

4.3	 Loans and credits granted 

Swisscom Ltd has no statutory basis for the granting of loans, credit facilities and pension fund benefits apart from the 
retirement benefits paid to the members of the Board of Directors and Group Executive Board. 
In the 2017 financial year, Swisscom granted no guarantees, loans, advances or credit facilities of any kind either 
to former or current members of the Board of Directors or related parties, or to former or current members of the 
Group Executive Board or related parties. Nor are there any receivables of any kind outstanding. 
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Report of the Statutory Auditor 
To the General Meeting of Shareholders of Swisscom Ltd, Ittigen (Berne) 

 

We have audited the accompanying remuneration report of Swisscom Ltd for the year ended 31 December 2017. 
The audit was limited to the information according to articles 14 - 16 of the Ordinance against Excessive 
compensation in Stock Exchange Listed Companies contained in the sections 2.3, 2.5, 3.3, 3.5 and 4.1 to 4.3 on 
pages 81 to 91 of the remuneration report. 

Responsibility of the Board of Directors 

The Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation and overall fair presentation of the remuneration report 
in accordance with Swiss law and the Ordinance against Excessive compensation in Stock Exchange Listed 
Companies (Ordinance). The Board of Directors is also responsible for designing the remuneration system and 
defining individual remuneration packages.  

Auditor's Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the accompanying remuneration report. We conducted our audit in 
accordance with Swiss Auditing Standards. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements 
and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the remuneration report complies 
with Swiss law and articles 14 – 16 of the Ordinance. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence on the disclosures made in the remuneration 
report with regard to compensation, loans and credits in accordance with articles 14 – 16 of the Ordinance. The 
procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material 
misstatements in the remuneration report, whether due to fraud or error. This audit also includes evaluating the 
reasonableness of the methods applied to value components of remuneration, as well as assessing the overall 
presentation of the remuneration report. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
opinion. 

Opinion 

In our opinion, the remuneration report for the year ended 31 December 2017 of Swisscom Ltd. complies with 
Swiss law and articles 14 – 16 of the Ordinance.  

KPMG AG 
 
  

 
 
 
 

 
Hanspeter Stocker Daniel Haas 
Licensed Audit Expert 
Auditor in Charge 

Licensed Audit Expert 

 

Gümligen-Berne, 6 February 2018 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

KPMG AG, Hofgut, PO Box 112, CH-3073 Gümligen-Berne 
 
KPMG AG is a subsidiary of KPMG Holding AG, which is a member of the KPMG network of independent firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative 
(“KPMG International”), a Swiss legal entity. All rights reserved. 
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Consolidated financial statements
Consolidated statement 
of comprehensive income
In CHF million, except for per share amounts 	 Note	 	 2017	 	 2016	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Income statement 	 	 	 	 	 	

Net revenue 	 1.1	 	 11,662	 	 11,643	

Direct costs 	 1.2	 	 (2,666)		 (2,759)	

Personnel expense 	 1.2, 4.1	 	 (3,002)		 (2,947)	

Other operating expense 	 1.2	 	 (2,207)		 (2,112)	

Capitalised self-constructed assets and other income 	 1.2	 	 508	 	 468	

Operating income before depreciation, amortisation and impairment losses 	 	 	 4,295	 	 4,293	

Depreciation, amortisation and impairment losses 	 3.2–3.4	 	 (2,164)		 (2,145)	

Operating income 	 	 	 2,131	 	 2,148	

Financial income 	 2.4	 	 44	 	 80	

Financial expense 	 2.4	 	 (204)		 (235)	

Result of equity-accounted investees 	 5.3	 	 (11)		 (3)	

Income before income taxes 	 	 	 1,960	 	 1,990	

Income tax expense 	 6.1	 	 (392)		 (386)	

Net income 	 	 	 1,568	 	 1,604	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Other comprehensive income 	 	 	 	 	 	

Actuarial gains and losses from defined benefit pension plans 	 2.1	 	 679	 	 924	

Other comprehensive income from equity-accounted investees 	 2.1, 5.3	 	 –	 	 (5)	

Items that will not be reclassified to income statement 	 	 	 679	 	 919	

Foreign currency translation adjustments of foreign subsidiaries 	 2.1	 	 143	 	 (99)	

Change in available-for-sale financial assets 	 2.1	 	 (5)		 4	

Change in cash flow hedges 	 2.1	 	 (5)		 9	

Other comprehensive income from equity-accounted investees 	 2.1	 	 2	 	 (2)	

Items that are or may be reclassified subsequently to income statement 	 	 	 135	 	 (88)	

Other comprehensive income 	 	 	 814	 	 831	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Comprehensive income 	 	 	 	 	 	

Net income 	 	 	 1,568	 	 1,604	

Other comprehensive income 	 	 	 814	 	 831	

Comprehensive income 	 	 	 2,382	 	 2,435	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Share of net income and comprehensive income 	 	 	 	 	 	

Equity holders of Swisscom Ltd 	 	 	 1,570	 	 1,604	

Non-controlling interests 	 	 	 (2)		 –	

Net income 	 	 	 1,568	 	 1,604	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Equity holders of Swisscom Ltd 	 	 	 2,384	 	 2,435	

Non-controlling interests 	 	 	 (2)		 –	

Comprehensive income 	 	 	 2,382	 	 2,435	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Earnings per share 	 	 	 	 	 	

Basic and diluted earnings per share (in CHF) 	 2.1	 	 30.31	 	 30.97	
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Consolidated balance sheet
In CHF million 	 Note	 	 31.12.2017	 	 31.12.2016	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Assets 	 	 	 	 	 	

Cash and cash equivalents 	 	 	 525	 	 329	

Trade receivables 	 3.1	 	 2,389	 	 2,425	

Other operating assets 	 3.1	 	 729	 	 680	

Other financial assets 	 	 	 78	 	 177	

Current income tax assets 	 6.1	 	 10	 	 18	

Total current assets 	 	 	 3,731	 	 3,629	

Property, plant and equipment 	 3.2	 	 10,697	 	 10,177	

Goodwill 	 3.3	 	 5,186	 	 5,156	

Intangible assets 	 3.4	 	 1,758	 	 1,756	

Equity-accounted investees 	 5.3	 	 152	 	 193	

Other financial assets 	 	 	 337	 	 262	

Deferred tax assets 	 6.1	 	 197	 	 281	

Total non-current assets 	 	 	 18,327	 	 17,825	

Total assets 	 	 	 22,058	 	 21,454	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Liabilities and equity 	 	 	 	 	 	

Financial liabilities 	 2.2	 	 1,834	 	 1,125	

Trade payables 	 3.1	 	 1,753	 	 1,597	

Provisions 	 3.5	 	 177	 	 182	

Other operating liabilities 	 3.1	 	 1,165	 	 1,123	

Current income tax liabilities 	 6.1	 	 213	 	 125	

Total current liabilities 	 	 	 5,142	 	 4,152	

Financial liabilities 	 2.2	 	 6,452	 	 7,371	

Defined benefit obligations 	 4.3	 	 1,048	 	 1,850	

Provisions 	 3.5	 	 900	 	 780	

Deferred gain on sale and leaseback of real estate 	 2.2	 	 146	 	 158	

Deferred tax liabilities 	 6.1	 	 725	 	 621	

Total non-current liabilities 	 	 	 9,271	 	 10,780	

Total liabilities 	 	 	 14,413	 	 14,932	

Share capital 	 	 	 52	 	 52	

Capital reserves 	 	 	 136	 	 136	

Retained earnings 	 2.1	 	 9,155	 	 8,148	

Foreign currency translation adjustments 	 2.1	 	 (1,689)		 (1,834)	

Other reserves 	 2.1	 	 2	 	 12	

Equity attributable to equity-holders of Swisscom Ltd 	 	 	 7,656	 	 6,514	

Non-controlling interests 	 	 	 (11)		 8	

Total equity 	 	 	 7,645	 	 6,522	

Total liabilities and equity 	 	 	 22,058	 	 21,454	
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Consolidated statement 
of cash flows
In CHF million 	 Note	 	 2017	 	 2016	

Net income 	 	 	 1,568	 	 1,604	

Income tax expense 	 6.1	 	 392	 	 386	

Result of equity-accounted investees 	 5.3	 	 11	 	 3	

Financial income 	 2.4	 	 (44)		 (80)	

Financial expense 	 2.4	 	 204	 	 235	

Depreciation, amortisation and impairment losses 	 3.2–3.4	 	 2,164	 	 2,145	

Gain on sale of property, plant and equipment 	 1.2	 	 (24)		 (20)	

Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 	 	 	 2	 	 9	

Expense for share-based payments 	 	 	 2	 	 3	

Change in provisions 	 3.5	 	 51	 	 (141)	

Change in defined benefit obligations 	 4.3	 	 36	 	 68	

Change in operating assets and liabilities 	 3.1	 	 165	 	 (17)	

Change in deferred gain from the sale and leaseback of real estate 	 2.2	 	 (12)		 (5)	

Interest received 	 	 	 26	 	 27	

Dividends received 	 5.3	 	 20	 	 17	

Interest paid 	 2.2	 	 (181)		 (184)	

Income taxes paid 	 6.1	 	 (289)		 (328)	

Cash flow from operating activities 	 	 	 4,091	 	 3,722	

Purchase of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets 	 3.2, 3.4	 	 (2,378)		 (2,416)	

Sale of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets 	 	 	 30	 	 27	

Acquisition of subsidiaries, net of cash and cash equivalents acquired 	 5.2	 	 (63)		 (38)	

Purchase of equity-accounted investees 	 5.2	 	 (20)		 (3)	

Proceeds from sale of equity-accounted investees 	 5.2	 	 76	 	 88	

Purchase of other financial assets 	 	 	 (58)		 (196)	

Proceeds from other financial assets 	 	 	 158	 	 92	

Cash flow used in investing activities 	 	 	 (2,255)		 (2,446)	

Issuance of financial liabilities 	 2.2	 	 757	 	 898	

Repayment of financial liabilities 	 2.2	 	 (1,158)		 (999)	

Dividends paid to equity holders of Swisscom Ltd 	 2.1	 	 (1,140)		 (1,140)	

Dividends paid to non-controlling interests 	 	 	 (8)		 (8)	

Acquisition of non-controlling interests 	 5.2	 	 (99)		 (4)	

Other cash flows from financing activities 	 	 	 (9)		 (16)	

Cash flow used in financing activities 	 	 	 (1,657)		 (1,269)	

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 	 	 	 179	 	 7	

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January 	 	 	 329	 	 324	

Foreign currency translation adjustments in respect of cash and cash equivalents 	 	 	 17	 	 (2)	

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 	 	 	 525	 	 329	
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Consolidated statement 
of changes in equity
 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 Equity	 	 	 	 	
 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 Foreign	 	 	 	attributable	 	 	 	 	
 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 currency	 	 	 	 to equity	 	 Non-	 	 	
 	 	 	 Share	 	 Capital	 	 Retained	 	 translation	 	 Other	 	 holders of	 	 controlling	 	 Total	

In CHF million 	 	 	 capital	 	 reserves	 	 earnings	 	adjustments	 	 reserves	 	 Swisscom	 	 interests	 	 equity	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 		 	 	 	

Balance at 31 December 2015 	 	 	 52	 	 136	 	 6,783	 	 (1,733)		 (1)		 5,237	 	 5	 	 5,242	

Net income 	 	 	 –	 	 –	 	 1,604	 	 –	 	 –	 	 1,604	 	 –	 	 1,604	

Other comprehensive income 	 	 	 –	 	 –	 	 919	 	 (101)		 13	 	 831	 	 –	 	 831	

Comprehensive income 	 	 	 –	 	 –	 	 2,523	 	 (101)		 13	 	 2,435	 	 –	 	 2,435	

Dividends paid 	 	 	 –	 	 –	 	 (1,140)		 –	 	 –	 	 (1,140)		 (8)		 (1,148)	

Treasury shares 	 	 	 –	 	 –	 	 (1)		 –	 	 –	 	 (1)		 –	 	 (1)	

Transactions with 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

non-controlling interests 	 	 	 –	 	 –	 	 (17)		 –	 	 –	 	 (17)		 11	 	 (6)	

Balance at 31 December 2016 	 	 	 52	 	 136		  8,148	 	 (1,834)		 12	 	 6,514	 	 8	 	 6,522	

Net income 	 	 	 –	 	 –	 	 1,570	 	 –	 	 –	 	 1,570	 	 (2)		 1,568	

Other comprehensive income 	 	 	 –	 	 –	 	 679	 	 145	 	 (10)		 814	 	 –	 	 814	

Comprehensive income 	 	 	 –	 	 –	 	 2,249	 	 145	 	 (10)		 2,384	 	 (2)		 2,382	

Dividends paid 	 	 	 –	 	 –	 	 (1,140)		 –	 	 –	 	 (1,140)		 (8)		 (1,148)	

Transactions with 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

non-controlling interests 	 	 	 –	 	 –	 	 (102)		 –	 	 –	 	 (102)		 (9)		 (111)	

Balance at 31 December 2017 	 	 	 52	 	 136		  9,155	 	 (1,689)		 2	 	 7,656	 	 (11)		 7,645	
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Notes to the consolidated 
financial statements
This financial report is a translation from the original German version. In case of any inconsistency the German 
version shall prevail.

About this report

Compared to the prior year, the contents and structure of the 2017 Swisscom consolidated financial statements 
are fundamentally redesigned in order to enhance, for its addressees, the transparency and relevance of the financial 
reporting information for decision-making purposes. These amendments encompass the following:
>	 modification of the structure of the notes.
>	 elimination of irrelevant and immaterial information.
>	 reduction of the complexity of note disclosures through highlighting and the use of tables. 

In addition, the following changes were made to improve the presentation of the consolidated financial statements:
>	 expenses for materials and services used are now designated as «direct costs». Commissions paid to dealers 

are now classified under contract acquisition costs as part of direct costs. In addition, usage charges for net-
works of other telecommunication providers abroad are now disclosed under traffic charges of subsidiaries 
abroad. Until the present, dealer commissions and traffic charges were classified under other operating costs.

>	 all revenue and cost accruals which apply in the normal course of business are now disclosed as current items 
in the balance sheet. 

>	 dividends received as well as interest paid and received are now disclosed under cash flow from operating 
activities. 

The prior-year amounts were restated as follows:

In CHF million 	 Reported	 	 Adjustment	 	 Restated	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Income statement 	 	 	 	 	 	

Direct costs 	 (2,323)		 (436)		 (2,759)	

Other operating expense 	 (2,548)		 436	 	 (2,112)	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Balance sheet 	 	 	 	 	 	

Current assets 	 3,535	 	 94	 	 3,629	

Non-current assets 	 17,919	 	 (94)		 17,825	

Current liabilities 	 (3,978)		 (174)		 (4,152)	

Non-current liabilities 	 (10,954)		 174	 	 (10,780)	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Cash flow statement 	 	 	 	 	 	

Cash flow from operating activities 	 3,862	 	 (140)		 3,722	

Cash flow used in investing activities 	 (2,402)		 (44)		 (2,446)	

Cash flow used in financing activities 	 (1,453)		 184	 	 (1,269)	
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 General information

The Swisscom Group (hereinafter referred to as “Swisscom”) provides telecommunication services and is active 
primarily in Switzerland and Italy. The consolidated financial statements as of and for the year ended 31 Decem-
ber 2017 comprise Swisscom Ltd, as parent company, and its subsidiaries. Swisscom Ltd is a limited-liability 
company incorporated in accordance with Swiss law, under a private statute, and has its registered office in Ittigen 
(Berne). Its address is: Swisscom Ltd, Alte Tiefenaustrasse 6, 3048 Worblaufen. Swisscom is listed on the SIX Swiss 
Exchange. The number of issued shares, as in the prior year, aggregated 51,801,943. The shares have a nominal value 
of CHF 1 and are fully paid-up. Each share entitles the holder to one vote. The majority shareholder of Swisscom Ltd 
remains, as in the prior year, the Swiss Confederation (“Confederation”). The Confederation is obligated by current 
law to hold the majority of the capital and voting rights. The Board of Directors of Swisscom has approved the issu-
ance of these consolidated financial statements on 6 February 2018. As of this date, no material post-balance-
sheet events had occurred. The consolidated financial statements will be submitted for approval to the Annual 
General Meeting of Shareholders of Swisscom Ltd to be held on 4 April 2018.

Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements of Swisscom have been prepared in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS) and in compliance with the provisions of Swiss law. The reporting period covers twelve 
months. The consolidated financial statements are presented in Swiss francs (CHF) which corresponds to the 
functional currency of Swisscom Ltd. Unless otherwise noted, all amounts are stated in millions of Swiss francs. 
The consolidated financial statements are drawn up on the historical cost basis, unless a standard or interpreta-
tion prescribes another measurement basis for a particular caption in which case this is explicitly stated in the 
financial statement reporting policies. Material financial statement reporting policies of relevance for an under-
standing of the consolidated financial statements are set out in the specific notes to the financial statements.

Significant accounting judgments, estimates and assumptions in applying the financial statement accounting 
policies

The preparation of consolidated financial statements is dependent upon estimates and assumptions being made 
in applying the accounting policies for which management can exercise a certain degree of judgment. This concerns 
the following positions:

Description 	 Further information	

Useful lives of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets 	 Note 3.2 and 3.4

Recoverability of Goodwill 	 Note 3.3	

Provisions for dismantlement and restoration costs 	 Note 3.5	

Provision for regulatory and competition law procedures 	 Note 3.5	

Defined benefit obligations 	 Note 4.3	

Amended International Financial Reporting Standards and Interpretations which are to be applied for the first time 
in the accounting period

As from 1 January 2017 onwards, Swisscom adopted various amendments to existing International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS) and Interpretations, which have no material impact on the results or financial position 
of the Group.

Standard 	 Name 

Amendements to IAS 7 	 Disclosure initiative 

Amendements to IAS 12 	 Recognition of deferred tax assets for unrealised losses 

Further information as to the changes in IFRS which must be applied in 2018 or later are set out in Note 6.3.
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 1	 Operational performance

This chapter sets outs information on the operating performance of Swisscom for the current reporting year. 
The classification according to operating segments corresponds to the reporting system used internally to 
evaluate performance and allocate resources, as well as to Swisscom’s management structure. 

1.1	 Segment information 

General
Swisscom has further increased the level of digitalisation within its organisational structure in order to strengthen 
areas with close customer proximity and boost the company’s effectiveness in the ICT market. In this manner, 
Swisscom strives to improve the customer experience from a single source, simplify processes and enhance effi-
ciency in order to create greater scope for innovation. As a result of the organisational changes, the Small and Medium-
Sized Enterprises segment (SME) of Swisscom Switzerland was split up. The SME telecommunications business is 
now included in the Residential Customers segment as part of segment reporting. Swisscom Directories (local-
search) has been transferred to the new Digital Business division, which is reported under Other Operating 
Segments. In addition, all field service functions of Swisscom Switzerland are reported under the Residential 
Customers segment. Fleet management from the Participations division (Other Operating Segments) has also 
been transferred to the IT, Network & Infrastructure segment and the Health division merged into the Enterprise 
Customers segment. The prior-year amounts were restated accordingly. Segment reporting is now made in 
accordance with the following segments:

Segment 	 Activity 

Residential Customers 	 The segment Residential Customers comprises connection fees for broadband and TV services, fixed-
network and mobilephone subscriptions as well as national and international telephone and data traffic for 
residential customers and customers from small- and medium size enterprises. Furthermore, the segment 
includes the sale of merchandise. 

Enterprise Customers 	 Enterprise Customers focuses on complete communication solutions for large business customers. Its 
product offering in the field of business ICT infrastructure covers the whole range of services from individual 
products to complete business solutions. 

Wholesale 	 This segment comprises the use of Swisscom fixed and mobile networks by other telecommunication 
service providers and the use of third-party networks by Swisscom. It also includes roaming with foreign 
operators whose customers use Swisscom’s mobile networks, as well as broadband services and regulated 
products as a result of the unbundling of the “last mile” for other telecommunication service providers. 

IT, Network & Infrastructure 	 The segment IT, Network & Infrastructure is responsible for the planning, operation and maintenance of 
Swisscom’s network infrastructure and all IT systems. It is responsible for the development and production 
of standardised IT and network services in Switzerland. In addition, IT, Network & Infrastructure also 
includes the support functions Finances, Human Resources and Strategy for Swisscom Switzerland as well 
as the management of real estate and the vehicle fleet in Switzerland. 

Fastweb 	 Fastweb is one of the largest providers of broadband services in Italy. Its product portfolio covers voice, data, 
broadband and TV services as well as video-on-demand for residential and corporate customers. In addition, 
Fastweb offers mobile phone services on the basis of an MVNO contract (as a virtual network operator). It 
also provides comprehensive network services and customised solutions. 

Other Operating Segments 	 Other Operating Segments mainly comprise the areas Digital Business und Participations. Digital Business 
comprises primarily Swisscom Directories AG (localsearch), which is active in the field of online and telephone 
directories. Participations consist principally of the subsidiaries Billag Ltd, cablex Ltd and Swisscom Broadcast 
Ltd. Billag Ltd collects radio and TV license fees on behalf of the Swiss Confederation. cablex Ltd operates in 
the field of construction and maintenance of wired and wireless networks in Switzerland, primarily in the 
field of telecommunication. Swisscom Broadcast Ltd is the leading provider in Switzerland of radio services, 
of cross-platform services for customers in the media field and of securitised radio transmissions. 

 

Swisscom Group

Swisscom Switzerland

  Residential 
Customers

Enterprise 
Customers Wholesale IT, Network  

& Infrastructure
Fastweb Other operating  

segments
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Reporting is made on the basis of the segments “Residential Customers”, “Enterprise Customers”, “Wholesale”, 
and “IT, Network & Infrastructure”, which are grouped under Swisscom Switzerland, as well as “Fastweb” and 
“Other Operating Segments”. In addition, “Group Headquarters”, which includes non-allocated costs, is disclosed 
separately in segment reporting.
Group Headquarters does not charge any management fees to other segments for its financial management 
services, nor does the IT, Network & Infrastructure segment charge any network costs to other segments. The 
remaining services between the segments are recharged at market prices. Segment expense encompasses the 
direct and indirect costs which include personnel expense, other operating costs less capitalised costs of self-
constructed assets and other income. Retirement-benefit expense includes ordinary employer contributions. The 
difference between the ordinary employer contributions and the pension cost as provided for under IAS 19 is 
reported in the column “Eliminations”. In 2017, an expense of CHF 92 million is disclosed under “Eliminations” as a 
pension cost reconciliation item in accordance with IAS 19 (prior year: CHF 72 million). The results of the segments 
“Residential Customers”, “Enterprise Customers” and “Wholesale” correspond to a contribution margin prior to 
network costs. The segment result of IT, Network & Infrastructure consists of operating expenses and deprecia-
tion and amortisation less revenues from the rental and administration of buildings and vehicles as well as capi-
talised costs of property, plant and equipment and other income. The segment results of Swisscom Switzerland 
and of the other operating segments do not reflect the retirement-benefit reconciliation item in accordance with 
IAS 19. The segment results of Fastweb correspond to the operating results. 

Restatement of segment information 2016

In CHF million 	 Reported	 	 Adjustment	 	 Restated	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Net revenue 	 	 	 	 	 	

financial year 2016 	 	 	 	 	 	

Residential Customers 	 5,160	 	 1,105	 	 6,265	

Small and Medium-Sized Enterprises 	 1,367	 	 (1,367)		 –	

Enterprise Customers 	 2,611	 	 (71)		 2,540	

Wholesale 	 989	 	 (10)		 979	

IT, Network & Infrastructure (before IT, Network & Innovation) 	 129	 	 44	 	 173	

Elimination 	 (816)		 116	 	 (700)	

Swisscom Switzerland 	 9,440	 	 (183)		 9,257	

Fastweb 	 1,957	 	 –	 	 1,957	

Other Operating Segments 	 594	 	 195	 	 789	

Group Headquarters 	 2	 	 –	 	 2	

Elimination 	 (350)		 (12)		 (362)	

Total net revenue 	 11,643	 	 –	 	 11,643	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Segment result 	 	 	 	 	 	

financial year 2016 	 	 	 	 	 	

Residential Customers 	 2,748	 	 753	 	 3,501	

Small and Medium-Sized Enterprises 	 847	 	 (847)		 –	

Enterprise Customers 	 722	 	 32	 	 754	

Wholesale 	 388	 	 (9)		 379	

IT, Network & Infrastructure (before IT, Network & Innovation) 	 (2,508)		 17	 	 (2,491)	

Swisscom Switzerland 	 2,197	 	 (54)		 2,143	

Fastweb 	 124	 	 –	 	 124	

Other Operating Segments 	 27	 	 54	 	 81	

Group Headquarters 	 (114)		 –	 	 (114)	

Reconciliation pension cost 	 (72)		 –	 	 (72)	

Elimination 	 (14)		 –	 	 (14)	

Total segment result 	 2,148	 	 –	 	 2,148	
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Segment information 2017

 	 	 	 	 	 Other	 	 Group	 	 	 	 	
 	 Swisscom	 	 	 	 Operating	 	 Head-	 	 Elimi-	 	 	

2017, in CHF million 	 Switzerland	 	 Fastweb	 	 Segments	 	 quarters	 	 nation	 	 Total	

Residential customers 	 5,971	 	 1,097	 	 –	 	 –	 	 –	 	 7,068	

Corporate customers 	 2,428	 	 791	 	 529	 	 1	 	 –	 	 3,749	

Wholesale customers 	 578	 	 267	 	 –	 	 –	 	 –	 	 845	

Net revenue from external customers 	 8,977	 	 2,155	 	 529	 	 1	 	 –	 	 11,662	

Net revenue from other segments 	 81	 	 9	 	 321	 	 –	 	 (411)		 –	

Net revenue 	 9,058	 	 2,164	 	 850	 	 1	 	 (411)		 11,662	

Direct costs 	 (1,943)		 (716)		 (31)		 –	 	 24	 	 (2,666)	

Indirect costs 1	 (3,615)		 (603)		 (639)		 (112)		 268	 	 (4,701)	

Segment result before depreciation and amortisation 	 3,500	 	 845	 	 180	 	 (111)		 (119)		 4,295	

Depreciation, amortisation and impairment losses 	 (1,485)		 (589)		 (96)		 –	 	 6	 	 (2,164)	

Segment result 	 2,015	 	 256	 	 84	 	 (111)		 (113)		 2,131	

Financial income and financial expense, net 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 (160)	

Result of equity-accounted investees 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 (11)	

Income before income taxes 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 1,960	

Income tax expense 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 (392)	

Net income 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 1,568	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Segment result before depreciation and amortisation 	 3,500	 	 845	 	 180	 	 (111)		 (119)		 4,295	

Capital expenditure in property, plant and equipment 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

and intangible assets 	 (1,654)		 (692)		 (58)		 –	 	 26	 	 (2,378)	

Change in provisions 	 39	 	 (4)		 9	 	 7	 	 –	 	 51	

Change in defined benefit obligations 	 (56)		 (1)		 –	 	 1	 	 92	 	 36	

Change in operating net working capital 	 184	 	 38	 	 (50)		 7	 	 (14)		 165	

Other 2	 (11)		 –	 	 –	 	 –	 	 1	 	 (10)	

Operating free cash flow 	 2,002	 	 186	 	 81	 	 (96)		 (14)		 2,159	
 						    

1	 Including capitalised costs of self-constructed assets and other income.					   

2	 Proceeds from the sale of property, plant and equipment, non-cash change in net working capital from operating activities, change in deferred gain from the sale and 
leaseback of real estate, and dividend payments to owners of non-controlling interests.					   

Segment information Swisscom Switzerland 2017

 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 IT,	 	 	 	 Total	
 	 Residential	 	 Enterprise	 	 Whole-	 	 Network &	 	 Elimi-	 	 Swisscom	

2017, in CHF million 	 Customers	 	 Customers	 	 sale	 	Infrastructure	 	 nation	 	 Switzerland	

Telecom services 	 5,363	 	 1,101	 	 –	 	 –	 	 –	 	 6,464	

Solution business 	 –	 	 1,084	 	 –	 	 –	 	 –	 	 1,084	

Merchandise 	 451	 	 197	 	 –	 	 –	 	 –	 	 648	

Wholesale 	 –	 	 –	 	 578	 	 –	 	 –	 	 578	

Revenue other 	 157	 	 20	 	 –	 	 26	 	 –	 	 203	

Net revenue from external customers 	 5,971	 	 2,402	 	 578	 	 26	 	 –	 	 8,977	

Net revenue from other segments 	 82	 	 106	 	 366	 	 141	 	 (614)		 81	

Net revenue 	 6,053	 	 2,508	 	 944	 	 167	 	 (614)		 9,058	

Direct costs 	 (1,397)		 (728)		 (478)		 (12)		 672	 	 (1,943)	

Indirect costs 1	 (1,144)		 (948)		 (20)		 (1,445)		 (58)		 (3,615)	

Segment result before depreciation and amortisation 	 3,512	 	 832	 	 446	 	 (1,290)		 –	 	 3,500	

Depreciation, amortisation and impairment losses 	 (126)		 (84)		 –	 	 (1,275)		 –	 	 (1,485)	

Segment result 	 3,386	 	 748	 	 446	 	 (2,565)		 –	 	 2,015	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Capital expenditure in property, plant and equipment 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

and intangible assets 	 (186)		 (72)		 –	 	 (1,396)		 –	 	 (1,654)	
 						    

1	 Including capitalised costs of self-constructed assets and other income.					   
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Segment information 2016

 	 	 	 	 	 Other	 	 Group	 	 	 	 	
 	 Swisscom	 	 	 	 Operating	 	 Head-	 	 Elimi-	 	 	

2016, in CHF million, restated 	 Switzerland	 	 Fastweb	 	 Segments	 	 quarters	 	 nation	 	 Total	

Residential customers 	 6,132	 	 988	 	 –	 	 –	 	 –	 	 7,120	

Corporate customers 	 2,452	 	 769	 	 519	 	 1	 	 –	 	 3,741	

Wholesale customers 	 591	 	 191	 	 –	 	 –	 	 –	 	 782	

Net revenue from external customers 	 9,175	 	 1,948	 	 519	 	 1	 	 –	 	 11,643	

Net revenue from other segments 	 82	 	 9	 	 270	 	 1	 	 (362)		 –	

Net revenue 	 9,257	 	 1,957	 	 789	 	 2	 	 (362)		 11,643	

Direct costs 	 (2,028)		 (721)		 (34)		 –	 	 24	 	 (2,759)	

Indirect costs 1	 (3,613)		 (515)		 (591)		 (116)		 244	 	 (4,591)	

Segment result before depreciation and amortisation 	 3,616	 	 721	 	 164	 	 (114)		 (94)		 4,293	

Depreciation, amortisation and impairment losses 	 (1,473)		 (597)		 (83)		 –	 	 8	 	 (2,145)	

Segment result 	 2,143	 	 124	 	 81	 	 (114)		 (86)		 2,148	

Financial income and financial expense, net 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 (155)	

Result of equity-accounted investees 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 (3)	

Income before income taxes 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 1,990	

Income tax expense 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 (386)	

Net income 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 1,604	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Segment result before depreciation and amortisation 	 3,616	 	 721	 	 164	 	 (114)		 (94)		 4,293	

Capital expenditure in property, plant and equipment 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

and intangible assets 	 (1,755)		 (633)		 (49)		 –	 	 21	 	 (2,416)	

Change in provisions 	 (160)		 1	 	 4	 	 14	 	 –	 	 (141)	

Change in defined benefit obligations 	 (3)		 –	 	 1	 	 (2)		 72	 	 68	

Change in operating net working capital 	 (62)		 45	 	 –	 	 (41)		 41	 	 (17)	

Other 2	 4	 	 –	 	 –	 	 –	 	 –	 	 4	

Operating free cash flow 	 1,640	 	 134	 	 120	 	 (143)		 40	 	 1,791	
 						    

1	 Including capitalised costs of self-constructed assets and other income.					   

2	 Proceeds from the sale of property, plant and equipment, non-cash change in net working capital from operating activities, change in deferred gain from the sale and 
leaseback of real estate, and dividend payments to owners of non-controlling interests.					   

Segment information Swisscom Switzerland 2016

 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 IT,	 	 	 	 Total	
 	 Residential	 	 Enterprise	 	 Whole-	 	 Network &	 	 Elimi-	 	 Swisscom	

2016, in CHF million, restated 	 Customers	 	 Customers	 	 sale	 	Infrastructure	 	 nation	 	 Switzerland	

Telecom services 	 5,518	 	 1,144	 	 –	 	 –	 	 –	 	 6,662	

Solution business 	 –	 	 1,072	 	 –	 	 –	 	 –	 	 1,072	

Merchandise 	 457	 	 180	 	 –	 	 –	 	 –	 	 637	

Wholesale 	 –	 	 –	 	 591	 	 –	 	 –	 	 591	

Revenue other 	 157	 	 25	 	 –	 	 31	 	 –	 	 213	

Net revenue from external customers 	 6,132	 	 2,421	 	 591	 	 31	 	 –	 	 9,175	

Net revenue from other segments 	 133	 	 119	 	 388	 	 142	 	 (700)		 82	

Net revenue 	 6,265	 	 2,540	 	 979	 	 173	 	 (700)		 9,257	

Direct costs 	 (1,427)		 (772)		 (562)		 (12)		 745	 	 (2,028)	

Indirect costs 1	 (1,187)		 (920)		 (38)		 (1,423)		 (45)		 (3,613)	

Segment result before depreciation and amortisation 	 3,651	 	 848	 	 379	 	 (1,262)		 –	 	 3,616	

Depreciation, amortisation and impairment losses 	 (150)		 (94)		 –	 	 (1,229)		 –	 	 (1,473)	

Segment result 	 3,501	 	 754	 	 379	 	 (2,491)		 –	 	 2,143	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Capital expenditure in property, plant and equipment 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

and intangible assets 	 (187)		 (126)		 –	 	 (1,442)		 –	 	 (1,755)	
 						    

1	 Including capitalised costs of self-constructed assets and other income.					   
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Disclosure by geographical regions

 	 2017	 	 2016	

 	 	 	 Non-current	 	 	 	 Non-current	

In CHF million 	 Net revenue	 	 assets	 	 Net revenue	 	 assets	

Switzerland 	 9,476	 	 14,400	 	 9,665	 	 14,273	

Italy 	 2,155	 	 3,359	 	 1,948	 	 2,877	

Other countries 	 31	 	 34	 	 30	 	 132	

Not allocated 	 –	 	 534	 	 –	 	 543	

Total 	 11,662	 	 18,327	 	 11,643	 	 17,825	

Disclosure by products and services

In CHF million 	 2017	 	 2016	

Telecom services 	 8,269	 	 8,321	

Solution business 	 1,084	 	 1,072	

Merchandise 	 699	 	 697	

Wholesale 	 845	 	 782	

Revenue other 	 765	 	 771	

Total net revenue 	 11,662	 	 11,643	

Accounting policies

Category 	 Revenue recognition 

Telecom services 	 The telecom services include the provision of mobile and fixed-line telecommunications in Switzerland and 
abroad. 

 	 Mobile phone services encompass basic subscription charges; and in addition, domestic and international 
mobile phone traffic generated by Swisscom customers in Switzerland or abroad as well as roaming by 
foreign operators whose customers use the Swisscom network. Swisscom offers subscriptions at a fixed 
monthly flat-rate fee, the revenue from which is recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of the 
contract. Depending on the subscription, revenue is recorded on the basis of the actual minutes used. 
Connection fees are deferred and released to income over the minimum contract term on a straight-line 
basis. If no minimum contract term has been agreed, revenue is recognised on the date of connection. If a 
mobile handset is sold as a part of a bundled offering with a subscription, it is treated as a multi-component 
transaction. The price of the entire multi-component transaction is spread on a pro-rata basis over the 
various component parts on the basis of the respective individual sales prices thereof. In this respect, the 
revenue to be recognised for each individual component is limited by that part of the total consideration 
provided by the customer for the multi-component transaction whose payment is not dependent on the 
provision of additional services. 

 	 Fixed-network services encompass primarily national and international telephony traffic for residential 
and business customers, as well as business with prepaid calling cards. Revenue from telephony services is 
recorded at the time the calls are made. Revenue from the sale of prepaid call cards is deferred and released 
to income as and when actual minutes are used or when the cards expire. 

 	 Swisscom provides bundled service offerings which include Internet and TV as well as an optional fixed-line 
connection with telephony services. The subscription fees are fixed (flat rate). Revenue is recognised on a 
straight-line basis over the contractual term. 

Solution business 	 Services in the field of communication and IT solutions primarily include consultancy services as well as 
the implementation, maintenance and operation of communication infrastructures. Furthermore, they 
include applications and services as well as the integration, operation and maintenance of data networks 
and outsourcing services. Revenues from customer-specific construction contracts are accounted for using 
the percentage-of-completion method which is based on the ratio of costs incurred to date to the estimated 
total costs. Revenue for long-term outsourcing contracts is recorded based on the volume of services 
provided to the customer. Start-up costs relating to and the integration of new outsourcing transactions are 
capitalised as other assets and amortised on a straight-line basis over the duration of the contract. Revenue 
from maintenance is recorded evenly over the term of the maintenance contracts. 

Merchandise 	 Revenue arising from the sale of mobile phones, fixed-line devices, routers, TV-Boxes and other accessories 
is recorded at the time of delivery and when the service is provided. 

Wholesale 	 The services encompass primarily leased lines and the use of Swisscom’s fixed network by other 
telecommunication service providers (roaming). Revenue from leased lines is recorded on a straight-line 
basis over the duration of the contract. Roaming services are recorded as revenue on the basis of the minutes 
used or the agreed contractual rates at the time the service is provided. Revenue from roaming services with 
other telecommunication service providers is recorded gross. 
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 1.2	 Operating expenses 

Direct costs

In CHF million 	 2017	 	 2016	

Customer premises equipment and merchandise 	 1,128	 	 1,141	

Services purchased 	 431	 	 471	

Traffic fees of foreign subsidiaries 	 400	 	 392	

International traffic fees 	 302	 	 282	

Costs of obtaining a contract 	 296	 	 304	

National traffic fees 	 109	 	 169	

Total direct costs 	 2,666	 	 2,759	

Indirect costs

In CHF million 	 2017	 	 2016	

Salary and social security expenses 	 2,856	 	 2,868	

Other personnel expense 	 146	 	 79	

Total personnel expense 1	 3,002	 	 2,947	 	 	 	 	

Information technology cost 	 306	 	 271	

Maintenance expense 	 284	 	 256	

Rental expense 	 206	 	 199	

Energy costs 	 105	 	 114	

Advertising and selling expenses 	 249	 	 216	

Consultancy expenses and freelance workforce 	 176	 	 191	

Administration expense 	 108	 	 122	

Allowances for receivables 	 91	 	 94	

Miscellaneous operating expenses 	 682	 	 649	

Total other operating expense 	 2,207	 	 2,112	 	 	 	 	

Capitalised self-constructed assets 	 (327)		 (347)	

Income from litigations 2	 (102)		 (60)	

Gain on sale of property, plant and equipment 	 (24)		 (20)	

Miscellaneous income 	 (55)		 (41)	

Total capitalised self-constructed assets and other income 	 (508)		 (468)	 	 	 	 	

Total indirect costs 	 4,701	 	 4,591	
 		

1	 See Note 4.1.	
2	 See Note 3.5.	

Capitalised costs of self-constructed assets include personnel costs for the production of technical installations, 
the construction of network infrastructures and the development of software for internal use.

Accounting policies
Subscriber acquisition costs
Swisscom pays commissions to dealers for the acquisition and retention of customers. The commission payable is 
dependent on the type of subscription. Subscriber acquisition and loyalty-programme costs are expensed imme-
diately and disclosed as costs of obtaining a contract. 
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 2	 Capital and financial risk management

Set out below are the procedures and guidelines governing the active management of equity resources and of 
the financial risks to which Swisscom is exposed. Swisscom strives to achieve a robust capital equity basis which 
guarantees its ability to continue as a going concern and to offer its investors an appropriate return based on 
the risks assumed. Furthermore, Swisscom maintains financial resources to enable it to make capital invest-
ments which will provide future benefits to customers and enhanced returns to investors. 

2.1	 Capital management and equity

Net-debt-to-EBITDA ratio
Swisscom strives to achieve a net indebtedness of approximately 1.9 x EBITDA (operating result before taxes, 
interest and depreciation, amortisation and impairment losses). Exceeding this ratio temporarily is permitted. 
Net debt consists of total financial liabilities less cash and cash equivalents, current financial assets as well as 
non-current fixed interest-bearing certificates of deposit and derivative financial instruments for financing 
received. The net-debt-to-EBITDA ratio is as follows:

In CHF million 	 31.12.2017	 	 31.12.2016	

Net debt 	 7,447	 	 7,846	

Operating income before depreciation, amortisation and impairment losses 	 4,295	 	 4,293	

Ratio net debt/EBITDA 	 1.7	 	 1.8	

Equity ratio
Swisscom strives to achieve an equity ratio of 30%, at a minimum. The equity ratio is computed as follows:

In CHF million 	 31.12.2017	 	 31.12.2016	

Equity 	 7,645	 	 6,522	

Total assets 	 22,058	 	 21,454	

Equity ratio in % 	 34.7	 	 30.4	

Dividend policy
Swisscom aims to achieve a stable dividend policy which is based on cash-flow generation and allocation of capital. 
Distributable reserves are not determined on the basis of the equity as reported in the consolidated financial 
statements but rather on the basis of equity as reported in the statutory financial statements of the parent company, 
Swisscom Ltd. At 31 December 2017, Swisscom Ltd’s distributable reserves amounted to CHF 5,251 million. 
The dividend is proposed by the Board of Directors and must be approved by the Annual General Meeting of 
Shareholders. Treasury shares are not entitled to a dividend. Swisscom paid the following dividends in 2016 and 2017:

In CHF million, except where indicated 	 2017	 	 2016	

Number of registered shares eligible for dividend (in millions of shares) 	 51.801	 	 51.800	

Ordinary dividend per share (in CHF) 	 22.00	 	 22.00	

Dividends paid 	 1,140	 	 1,140	

The Board of Directors proposes to the Annual Shareholders’ Meeting of Swisscom Ltd to be held on 4 April 2018 
the payment of an ordinary dividend of CHF 22 per share in respect of the 2017 financial year. This equates to an 
aggregate dividend distribution of CHF 1,140 million. The expected dividend payment date is on 10 April 2018. 

Earnings per share

In CHF million, except where indicated 	 2017	 	 2016	

Share of net income attributable to equity holders of Swisscom Ltd 	 1,570	 	 1,604	

Weighted average number of shares outstanding (number) 	 51,800,771	 	 51,800,352	

Basic and diluted earnings per share (in CHF) 	 30.31	 	 30.97	
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Supplementary information on equity 

Development of retained earnings and other reserves as well as comprehensive income 2017

 	 	 	 Foreign	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
 	 	 	 currency	 	 	 	 	 	 Equity	 	 Non-	 	 	
 	 Retained	 	 translation	 	 Fair value	 	 Hedging	 	 holders of	 	 controlling	 	 	

In CHF million 	 earnings	 	 adjustments	 	 reserve	 	 reserve	 	 Swisscom	 	 interests	 	 Total	

Balance at 31 December 2016 	 8,148	 	 (1,834)		 9	 	 3	 	 6,326	 	 8	 	 6,334	

Net income 	 1,570	 	 –	 	 –	 	 –	 	 1,570	 	 (2)		 1,568	

Actuarial gains and losses from defined 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

benefit pension plans 	 850	 	 –	 	 –	 	 –	 	 850	 	 –	 	 850	

Income tax expense 	 (171)		 –	 	 –	 	 –	 	 (171)		 –	 	 (171)	

Items that will not be reclassified 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

to income statement 	 679	 	 –	 	 –	 	 –	 	 679	 	 –	 	 679	

Foreign currency translation adjustments 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

of foreign subsidiaries 	 –	 	 166	 	 –	 	 –	 	 166	 	 –	 	 166	

Change in fair value 	 –	 	 –	 	 (11)		 –	 	 (11)		 –	 	 (11)	

Gains and losses transferred to income statement 	 –	 	 (4)		 5	 	 (6)		 (5)		 –	 	 (5)	

Equity-accounted investees 	 –	 	 2	 	 –	 	 –	 	 2	 	 –	 	 2	

Income tax expense 	 –	 	 (19)		 1	 	 1	 	 (17)		 	 	 (17)	

Items that are or may be reclassified 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

subsequently to income statement 	 –	 	 145	 	 (5)		 (5)		 135	 	 –	 	 135	

Other comprehensive income 	 679	 	 145	 	 (5)		 (5)		 814	 	 –	 	 814	

Comprehensive income 	 2,249	 	 145	 	 (5)		 (5)		 2,384	 	 (2)		 2,382	

Dividends paid 	 (1,140)		 –	 	 –	 	 –	 	 (1,140)		 (8)		 (1,148)	

Transactions with 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

non-controlling interests 	 (102)		 –	 	 –	 	 –	 	 (102)		 (9)		 (111)	

Balance at 31 December 2017 	 9,155	 	 (1,689)		 4	 	 (2)		 7,468	 	 (11)		 7,457	

Development of retained earnings and other reserves as well as comprehensive income 2016

 	 	 	 Foreign	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
 	 	 	 currency	 	 	 	 	 	 Equity	 	 Non-	 	 	
 	 Retained	 	 translation	 	 Fair value	 	 Hedging	 	 holders of	 	 controlling	 	 	

In CHF million 	 earnings	 	 adjustments	 	 reserve	 	 reserve	 	 Swisscom	 	 interests	 	 Total	

Balance at 31 December 2015 	 6,783	 	 (1,733)		 5	 	 (6)		 5,049	 	 5	 	 5,054	

Net income 	 1,604	 	 –	 	 –	 	 –	 	 1,604	 	 –	 	 1,604	

Actuarial gains and losses from defined 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

benefit pension plans 	 1,162	 	 –	 	 –	 	 –	 	 1,162	 	 –	 	 1,162	

Equity-accounted investees 	 (5)		 –	 	 –	 	 –	 	 (5)		 –	 	 (5)	

Income tax expense 	 (238)		 –	 	 –	 	 –	 	 (238)		 	 	 (238)	

Items that will not be reclassified 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

to income statement 	 919	 	 –	 	 –	 	 –	 	 919	 	 –	 	 919	

Foreign currency translation adjustments 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

of foreign subsidiaries 	 –	 	 (21)		 –	 	 –	 	 (21)		 –	 	 (21)	

Change in fair value 	 –	 	 –	 	 7	 	 8	 	 15	 	 –	 	 15	

Gains and losses transferred to income statement 	 –	 	 5	 	 (3)		 2	 	 4	 	 –	 	 4	

Equity-accounted investees 	 –	 	 (2)		 –	 	 –	 	 (2)		 –	 	 (2)	

Income tax expense 	 –	 	 (83)		 –	 	 (1)		 (84)		 	 	 (84)	

Items that are or may be reclassified 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

subsequently to income statement 	 –	 	 (101)		 4	 	 9	 	 (88)		 –	 	 (88)	

Other comprehensive income 	 919	 	 (101)		 4	 	 9	 	 831	 	 –	 	 831	

Comprehensive income 	 2,523	 	 (101)		 4	 	 9	 	 2,435	 	 –	 	 2,435	

Dividends paid 	 (1,140)		 –	 	 –	 	 –	 	 (1,140)		 (8)		 (1,148)	

Treasury shares 	 (1)		 –	 	 –	 	 –	 	 (1)		 –	 	 (1)	

Transactions with 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

non-controlling interests 	 (17)		 –	 	 –	 	 –	 	 (17)		 11	 	 (6)	

Balance at 31 December 2016 	 8,148	 	 (1,834)		 9	 	 3	 	 6,326	 	 8	 	 6,334	
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2.2	 Financial liabilities

In CHF million 	 2017	 	 2016	

Balance at 1 January 	 8,496	 	 8,593	

New bank loans 	 177	 	 2	

Issuance of debenture bonds 	 500	 	 700	

Issuance of private placements 	 –	 	 175	

Issuance of other financial liabilities 	 80	 	 21	

Issuance of financial liabilities 	 757	 	 898	

Repayment of bank loans 	 (247)		 (599)	

Repayment of debenture bonds 	 (640)		 –	

Repayment of private placements 	 (250)		 (375)	

Repayment of finance lease liabilities 	 (19)		 (22)	

Repayment of other financial liabilities 	 (2)		 (3)	

Repayment of financial liabilities 	 (1,158)		 (999)	

Interest expense 	 160	 	 168	

Interest payments 	 (181)		 (184)	

Foreign currency translation adjustments 	 224	 	 (20)	

Change in finance lease liabilities 	 (26)		 19	

Change in fair value 	 (3)		 2	

Other changes 	 17	 	 19	

Balance at 31 December 	 8,286	 	 8,496	

					   

Bank loans 	 760	 	 753	

Debenture bonds 	 6,137	 	 6,140	

Private placements 	 493	 	 738	

Finance lease liabilities 	 461	 	 508	

Derivative financial instruments 1	 60	 	 63	

Other financial liabilities 2	 375	 	 294	

Total financial liabilities 	 8,286	 	 8,496	

Thereof current financial liabilities 	 1,834	 	 1,125	

Thereof non-current financial liabilities 	 6,452	 	 7,371	
 		

1	 See Note 2.5.	
2	 See Note 5.1.	

Credit lines
Swisscom has two confirmed lines of credit from banks each amounting to CHF 1,000 million maturing in 2020 and 
2022, respectively. As of 31 December 2017, none of these lines of credit had been drawn down, as in the prior year.

Bank loans

 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 Carrying amount	

 	 	 	 Par value	 	 Nominal	 	 Effective	 	 	 	 	

In CHF million 	 Maturity years	 	 in currency	 	 interest rate	 	 interest rate	 	 31.12.2017	 	 31.12.2016	

Bank loans in CHF 1	 2016–2017	 	 70	 	 –0.20%	 	 –0.20%	 	 –	 	 70	

Bank loans in EUR 1	 2016–2017	 	 60	 	 0.05%	 	 –0.22%	 	 –	 	 64	

 	 	 	 	 	 Euribor	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Bank loans in EUR 1, 3	 2013–2020	 	 180	 	 +0.386%	 	 0.11%	 	 211	 	 258	

Bank loans in EUR 2	 2015–2020	 	 200	 	 0.76%	 	 –0.52%	 	 238	 	 219	

Bank loans in EUR 2, 3	 2017–2024	 	 150	 	 0.67%	 	 0.67%	 	 175	 	 –	

Bank loans in USD 2	 2009–2028	 	 54	 	 8.30%	 	 4.62%	 	 74	 	 76	

Bank loans in USD 2	 2009–2028	 	 48	 	 7.65%	 	 4.63%	 	 62	 	 66	

Total bank loans 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 760	 	 753	
 						    

1	 Variable interest-bearing.	
2	 Fixed interest-bearing.	
3	 Designated for hedge accounting of net investments in foreign operations.
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During the fourth quarter of 2017, Swisscom took up a bank loan of EUR 150 million maturing in 2024. The financing 
so received was applied to repay existing loans. In 2016, Swisscom took up short-term bank loans on a weekly and 
monthly basis in the amounts of CHF 70 million and EUR 60 million. 
The bank loans may become due for immediate repayment if the shareholding of the Swiss Confederation in the 
capital of Swisscom falls below one third or if another shareholder can exercise control over Swisscom.

Debenture bonds

 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 Carrying amount	

 	 	 	 Par value	 	 Nominal	 	 Effective	 	 	 	 	

In CHF million 	 Maturity years	 	 in currency	 	 interest rate	 	 interest rate	 	 31.12.2017	 	 31.12.2016	

Debenture bond in CHF 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

(ISIN: CH0032254739) 	 2007–2017	 	 600	 	 3.75%	 	 3.76%	 	 –	 	 610	

Debenture bond in CHF 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

(ISIN: CH0104691628) 	 2009–2018	 	 1,385	 	 3.25%	 	 3.44%	 	 1,396	 	 1,434	

Debenture bond in EUR 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

(ISIN: XS0972165848) 	 2013–2020	 	 500	 	 2.00%	 	 2.22%	 	 585	 	 535	

Debenture bond in EUR 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

(ISIN: XS1051076922) 1	 2014–2021	 	 500	 	 1.88%	 	 2.06%	 	 585	 	 536	

Debenture bond in CHF 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

(ISIN: CH0114695379) 	 2010–2022	 	 500	 	 2.63%	 	 2.81%	 	 500	 	 500	

Debenture bond in CHF 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

(ISIN: CH0268988174) 	 2015–2023	 	 250	 	 0.25%	 	 –0.37%	 	 253	 	 253	

Debenture bond in CHF 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

(ISIN: CH0188335365) 	 2012–2024	 	 500	 	 1.75%	 	 1.77%	 	 504	 	 504	

Debenture bond in EUR 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

(ISIN: XS1288894691) 1	 2015–2025	 	 500	 	 1.75%	 	 –0.06%	 	 599	 	 554	

Debenture bond in CHF 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

(ISIN: CH0247776138) 	 2014–2026	 	 200	 	 1.50%	 	 1.47%	 	 202	 	 202	

Debenture bond in CHF 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

(ISIN: CH0344583783) 	 2016–2027	 	 200	 	 0.38%	 	 –0.39%	 	 197	 	 198	

Debenture bond in CHF 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

(ISIN: CH0362748359) 	 2017–2027	 	 350	 	 0.38%	 	 0.38%	 	 351	 	 –	

Debenture bond in CHF 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

(ISIN: CH0317921663) 	 2016–2028	 	 200	 	 0.38%	 	 0.30%	 	 202	 	 202	

Debenture bond in CHF 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

(ISIN: CH0254147504) 	 2014–2029	 	 160	 	 1.50%	 	 1.47%	 	 161	 	 161	

Debenture bond in CHF 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

(ISIN: CH0336352775) 	 2016–2032	 	 300	 	 0.13%	 	 0.14%	 	 299	 	 299	

Debenture bond in CHF 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

(ISIN: CH0373476164) 	 2017–2033	 	 150	 	 0.75%	 	 0.71%	 	 151	 	 –	

Debenture bond in CHF 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

(ISIN: CH0268988182) 	 2015–2035	 	 150	 	 1.00%	 	 0.96%	 	 152	 	 152	

Total debenture bonds 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 6,137	 	 6,140	
 						    

1	 Designated for hedge accounting of net investments in foreign operations.					   

In the second quarter of 2017, Swisscom took up a debenture bond of a nominal amount of CHF 350 million with 
a coupon rate of 0.375% and a duration of 10 years. In the fourth quarter of 2017, Swisscom issued a debenture 
bond of a nominal amount of CHF 150 million with a coupon rate of 0.75% and a term of 16 years. The funds 
received were applied to repay existing debt. In the third quarter of 2017, Swisscom repaid a debenture bond of a 
nominal amount of CHF 600 million upon maturity.
In 2016, Swisscom issued three debenture bonds of an aggregate nominal amount of CHF 700 million. The financing 
so received was applied to repay existing loans. 



Co
ns

ol
id

at
ed

 fi
na

nc
ia

l s
ta

te
m

en
ts

N
ot

es
 to

 th
e 

co
ns

ol
id

at
ed

 fi
na

nc
ia

l s
ta

te
m

en
ts

110

Private placements

 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 Carrying amount	

 	 	 	 Par value	 	 Nominal	 	 Effective	 	 	 	 	

In CHF million 	 Maturity years	 	 in currency	 	 interest rate	 	 interest rate	 	 31.12.2017	 	 31.12.2016	

Private placements in CHF 	 2007–2017	 	 250	 	 0.80%	 	 1.56%	 	 –	 	 249	

Private placements in CHF 	 2007–2018	 	 72	 	 Variable	 	 1.31%	 	 71	 	 70	

Private placements in CHF 	 2007–2019	 	 278	 	 Variable	 	 1.25%	 	 272	 	 269	

Private placements in CHF 	 2016–2031	 	 150	 	 0.56%	 	 0.56%	 	 150	 	 150	

Total private placements 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 493	 	 738	

In the fourth quarter of 2017, Swisscom repaid a private placement of CHF 250 million on maturity. In 2016, a 
maturing private placement of CHF 150 million was prolonged for a further term of 15 years. 
The Swiss-franc-denominated private placements with a carrying value of CHF 343 million maturing in 2018 to 
2019 may become due for immediate repayment if the shareholding of the Swiss Confederation in the capital of 
Swisscom falls below 35% or if another shareholder can exercise control over Swisscom. The investors in the 
remaining private placements are entitled to resell their investments to Swisscom should the Swiss Confederation 
permanently give up its majority shareholding in Swisscom.

Finance lease liabilities
Swisscom concluded two agreements in 2001 for the sale of real estate. At the same time, Swisscom entered into 
long-term agreements to lease back part of the real estate sold which, in part, qualify as finance leases. The gain 
realised on real estate classified as finance leases was deferred. As of 31 December 2017, the deferred gains 
totalled CHF 146 million (prior year: CHF 158 million). The deferred gains are released to other income over the 
term of the individual leases. The effective interest rate of the finance lease liabilities was 4.9%. 
The minimum lease payments, financial liabilities and the future payment thereof, in terms of their net present 
value, relating to these leaseback agreements are set out in the following table:

 	 Minimum lease payments	 	 Carrying amount	

In CHF million 	 31.12.2017	 	 31.12.2016	 	 31.12.2017	 	 31.12.2016	

Within 1 year 	 48	 	 45	 	 23	 	 16	

Between 1 and 5 years 	 144	 	 149	 	 48	 	 40	

After 5 years 	 793	 	 984	 	 390	 	 452	

Total minimum lease payments/carrying amount 	 985	 	 1,178	 	 461	 	 508	

Thereof current finance lease liabilities 	 	 	 	 	 23	 	 16	

Thereof non-current finance lease liabilities 	 	 	 	 	 438	 	 492	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Net carrying amount of buildings acquired under finance lease 	 	 	 	 	 328	 	 382	

Accounting policies
Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value less direct transaction costs. In subsequent accounting periods, 
they are re-measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Finance leases
A lease is recorded as a finance lease when substantially all of the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an 
asset are passed on. The asset is initially recorded at the lower of its fair value and the present value of the minimum 
lease payments and is amortised over the lesser of the asset’s estimated useful life and the lease term. The interest 
component of the lease payments is recognised as interest expense over the lease term computed on the basis of 
the effective interest method. Lease contracts for land and buildings are recorded separately if the lease payments 
can be reliably allocated. Gains on sale-and-leaseback transactions are deferred and released on a straight-line 
basis over the lease term as other income. Losses on sale-and-leaseback transactions are expensed immediately. 

2.3	 Operating leases

Operating leases relate primarily to the rental of real estate held for business purposes. In 2017, payments for 
operating leases amounted to CHF 201 million (prior year: CHF 198 million). Future minimum lease payments in 
respect of operating lease contracts are as follows:
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In CHF million 	 31.12.2017	 	 31.12.2016	

Within 1 year 	 178	 	 162	

Between 1 and 2 years 	 157	 	 142	

Between 2 and 3 years 	 138	 	 126	

Between 3 and 4 years 	 112	 	 113	

Between 4 and 5 years 	 85	 	 88	

After 5 years 	 317	 	 305	

Total minimum lease payments from operating lease 	 987	 	 936	

Accounting policies
Lease arrangements which do not transfer all the significant risks and rewards of ownership are classified as operating 
leases. Payments are recorded as other operating expense using the straight-line method over the lease period. 
Gains and losses on sale-and-leaseback transactions are recorded directly in the income statement.

2.4	 Financial result

In CHF million 	 2017	 	 2016	

Interest income on financial assets 	 11	 	 13	

Foreign exchange gains 	 10	 	 7	

Change in fair value of interest rate swaps 1	 8	 	 –	

Gain from sale of equity-accounted investees 2	 6	 	 42	

Capitalised borrowing costs 	 5	 	 6	

Other financial income 	 4	 	 12	

Total financial income 	 44	 	 80	

Interest expense on financial liabilities 	 (160)		 (168)	

Interest expense on defined benefit obligations 3	 (11)		 (25)	

Present-value adjustments on provisions 4	 (6)		 (11)	

Change in fair value of interest rate swaps 1	 –	 	 (10)	

Other financial expense 	 (27)		 (21)	

Total financial expense 	 (204)		 (235)	

Financial income and financial expense, net 	 (160)		 (155)	 		

Net interest expense 	 (149)		 (155)	
 	 	 	 	

1	 See Note 2.5.
2	 See Note 5.2.
3	 See Note 4.3.
4	 See Note 3.5.
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 2.5	 Financial risk management

Swisscom is exposed to various financial risks arising from its business and financing activities. Financial risk 
management is conducted in accordance with established guidelines with the objective of containing the potential 
adverse effects thereof on the financial situation of Swisscom. The identified risks and measures to minimise 
them are presented below:

Risk 	 Source 	 Risk reduction 

Currency risks 	 Swisscom is exposed to foreign exchange changes 	 >	 Reduction in volatility by use of financial instruments 

 	 which can impact the Group’s cash flows, 		  and designation for hedge-accounting purposes 

 	 financial result and equity. 		  (foreign-currency transaction and translation risk) 

 	  	 >	 Deployment of foreign currency forward transactions, 
 	  		  foreign-currency options and currency swaps 

 	  	 >	 Foreign-currency financing (EUR & USD) 

 	  	  

Interest rate risk 	 Interest-rate risks result from changes in interest rates 	 >	 Active interest-rate risk management 

 	 which can negatively impact the financial situation 	 >	 Deployment of interest-rate swaps to reduce 

 	 of Swisscom. Interest-rate fluctuations can impact the 		  the volatility of planned cash flows 

 	 market value of certain financial assets, liabilities and 	  

 	 hedging instruments. 	  

Credit risks 	 Through its operating business activities and derivative 	 >	 Guideline establishing minimum requirements 

from operating 	 financial instruments and financial investments, 		  for counterparties 

business activities 	 Swisscom is exposed to the risk of default 	 >	 Designated counterparty limits 

and financial 	 of a counterparty. 	 >	 Employment of netting agreements foreseen under 

transactions 	  		  ISDA (International Swaps and Derivatives Association) 

 	  	 >	 Use of collateral agreements 

Liquidity risk 	 Prudent liquidity management involves the holding 	 >	 Procedures and principles 

 	 of adequate reserves of cash and cash equivalents, 		  to ensure adequate liquidity 

 	 negotiable securities as well as the possibility 	 >	 Two guaranteed bank credit lines 

 	 of obtaining corresponding credits. 		  each of CHF 1,000 million 

Foreign exchange risks
As regards financial instruments, the currency risks and hedging contracts for foreign currencies as of 31 Decem-
ber 2016 and 2017 are to be analysed as follows:

 	 31.12.2017	 	 31.12.2016	

In CHF million 	 EUR	 	 USD	 	 EUR	 	 USD	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Cash and cash equivalents 	 89	 	 3	 	 55	 	 3	

Trade receivables 	 7	 	 3	 	 8	 	 10	

Other financial assets 	 103	 	 230	 	 93	 	 244	

Financial liabilities 	 (2,377)		 (144)		 (2,161)		 (148)	

Trade payables 	 (71)		 (80)		 (66)		 (68)	

Net exposure at carrying amounts 	 (2,249)		 12	 	 (2,071)		 41	

Net exposure to forecasted cash flows in the next 12 months 	 1	 	 (405)		 89	 	 (470)	

Net exposure before hedges 	 (2,248)		 (393)		 (1,982)		 (429)	

Forward currency contracts 	 –	 	 –	 	 –	 	 (4)	

Foreign currency swaps 	 83	 	 189	 	 97	 	 406	

Currency swaps 	 819	 	 –	 	 752	 	 –	

Hedges 	 902	 	 189	 	 849	 	 402	

Net exposure 	 (1,346)		 (204)		 (1,133)		 (27)	

In addition, Swisscom has financial liabilities outstanding as of 31 December 2017 with an aggregate nominal 
value of EUR 1,330 million (CHF 1,555 million) (prior year: EUR 1,240 million; CHF 1,332 million) which were designated 
as net investments in foreign shareholdings for hedge-accounting purposes.
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Foreign currency sensitivity analysis
The following sensitivity analysis shows the impact on the income statement should the EUR/CHF and USD/CHF 
exchange rates change in line with their implicit volatility over the next twelve months. This analysis assumes that 
all other variables, in particular the interest rate level, remain constant. 

 	 Income impact	 	 Hedges for	 	 	 	 Hedges for	
 	 on balance sheet	 	 balance sheet	 	 Planned	 	 planned	
 	 items	 	 items	 	 cash flows	 	 cash flows	In CHF million 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

31.12.2017 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

EUR volatility 6.25% 	 140	 	 (56)		 –	 	 –	

USD volatility of 7.78% 	 (1)		 5	 	 32	 	 (20)	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

31.12.2016 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

EUR volatility of 7.47% 	 155	 	 (63)		 (7)		 –	

USD volatility of 10.35% 	 (4)		 7	 	 49	 	 (49)	

The volatility of the balance sheet positions and planned cash flows is partially offset by the volatility of the related 
hedging contracts.

Interest rate risks
The structure of interest-bearing financial instruments at nominal values is as follows:

In CHF million 	 31.12.2017	 	 31.12.2016	

Fixed interest-bearing financial liabilities 	 7,220	 	 7,331	

Variable interest-bearing financial liabilities 	 655	 	 765	

Total interest-bearing financial liabilities 	 7,875	 	 8,096	

Fixed interest-bearing financial assets 	 (127)		 (117)	

Variable interest-bearing financial assets 	 (603)		 (489)	

Total interest-bearing financial assets 	 (730)		 (606)	

Total interest-bearing financial assets and liabilities, net 	 7,145	 	 7,490	 	 	 	 	

Variable interest-bearing 	 52	 	 276	

Variable through interest rate swaps 	 1,244	 	 1,177	

Variable interest-bearing, net 	 1,296	 	 1,453	

Fixed interest-bearing 	 7,093	 	 7,214	

Variable through interest rate swaps 	 (1,244)		 (1,177)	

Fixed interest-bearing, net 	 5,849	 	 6,037	

Total interest-bearing financial assets and liabilities, net 	 7,145	 	 7,490	

Interest rate sensitivity analysis
A shift in interest rates by 100 basis points has no material impact on the income statement and equity as of 
31 December 2016 and 2017. 

Credit risks
Credit risks from financial transactions
The carrying values of cash and cash equivalents and other financial assets exposed to credit risk (excluding trade 
debtors) may be analysed as follows:

In CHF million 	 31.12.2017	 	 31.12.2016	

Cash and cash equivalents 	 525	 	 329	

Loans and receivables 	 201	 	 274	

Derivative financial instruments 	 100	 	 41	

Other assets valued at fair value 	 61	 	 63	

Total carrying amount of financial assets 	 887	 	 707	
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The carrying amounts analysed by Standard & Poor’s rating of the counterparties may be summarised as follows:

In CHF million 	 31.12.2017	 	 31.12.2016	

AAA 	 34	 	 14	

AA– to AA+ 	 433	 	 351	

A– to A+ 	 342	 	 243	

BBB– to BBB+ 	 22	 	 57	

Without rating 	 56	 	 42	

Total 	 887	 	 707	

Financial risks from operating activities
Credit risks on trade receivables and other receivables arise from the Group’s operating activities. Credit risks from 
other receivables are insignificant. The split of trade receivables by operating segment is as follows:

In CHF million 	 31.12.2017	 	 31.12.2016	 	 	 	 	

Trade receivables 	 	 	 	

Residential Customers 	 956	 	 1,020	

Enterprise Customers 	 531	 	 495	

Wholesale 	 102	 	 149	

IT, Network & Infrastructure 	 43	 	 82	

Swisscom Switzerland 	 1,632	 	 1,746	

Fastweb 	 814	 	 744	

Other Operating Segments 	 136	 	 118	

Total trade receivables 	 2,582	 	 2,608	 	 	 	 	

Allowances for doubtful debts 	 	 	 	

Residential Customers 	 (47)		 (48)	

Enterprise Customers 	 (3)		 (3)	

Wholesale 	 –	 	 (1)	

IT, Network & Infrastructure 	 (2)		 (2)	

Swisscom Switzerland 	 (52)		 (54)	

Fastweb 	 (131)		 (116)	

Other Operating Segments 	 (10)		 (13)	

Total allowances for doubtful debts 	 (193)		 (183)	 	 	 	 	

Trade receivables, net 	 	 	 	

Total trade receivables, net 	 2,389	 	 2,425	

The due dates of trade receivables as well as the related valuation allowances are to be analysed as follows:

 	 31.12.2017	 	 31.12.2016	

In CHF million 	 Gross amount	 	 Allowances	 	 Gross amount	 	 Allowances	

Not due 	 1,824	 	 (4)		 1,881	 	 (7)	

Past due up to 3 months 	 377	 	 (18)		 366	 	 (3)	

Past due 4 to 6 months 	 124	 	 (17)		 92	 	 (7)	

Past due 7 to 12 months 	 90	 	 (24)		 101	 	 (25)	

Past due over 1 year 	 167	 	 (130)		 168	 	 (141)	

Total 	 2,582	 	 (193)		 2,608	 	 (183)	



Co
ns

ol
id

at
ed

 fi
na

nc
ia

l s
ta

te
m

en
ts

N
ot

es
 to

 th
e 

co
ns

ol
id

at
ed

 fi
na

nc
ia

l s
ta

te
m

en
ts

115

The table below presents the changes in valuation allowances for trade receivables.

In CHF million 	 2017	 	 2016	

Balance at 1 January 	 183	 	 184	

Additions to allowances 	 93	 	 95	

Write-off of irrecoverable receivables subject to allowance 	 (90)		 (92)	

Release of unused allowances 	 (3)		 (4)	

Foreign currency translation adjustments 	 10	 	 –	

Balance at 31 December 	 193	 	 183	

Liquidity risk
Contractual maturities including estimated interest payable

 	 Carrying	 	 Contractual	 	 Due within	 	 Due within	 	 Due within	 	 Due after	

In CHF million 	 amount	 	 payments	 	 1 year	 	 1 to 2 years	 	 3 to 5 years	 	 5 years	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

31.12.2017 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Bank loans 	 760	 	 830	 	 80	 	 80	 	 328	 	 342	

Debenture bonds 	 6,137	 	 6,575	 	 1,497	 	 67	 	 1,836	 	 3,175	

Private placements 	 493	 	 514	 	 74	 	 280	 	 2	 	 158	

Finance lease liabilities 	 461	 	 985	 	 48	 	 42	 	 102	 	 793	

Other financial liabilities 	 375	 	 375	 	 235	 	 109	 	 28	 	 3	

Trade payables 	 1,753	 	 1,753	 	 1,718	 	 23	 	 12	 	 –	

Other payables 	 343	 	 343	 	 340	 	 3	 	 –	 	 –	

Derivative financial instruments 	 60	 	 108	 	 7	 	 4	 	 11	 	 86	

Total 	 10,382	 	 11,483	 	 3,999	 	 608	 	 2,319	 	 4,557	

 	 Carrying	 	 Contractual	 	 Due within	 	 Due within	 	 Due within	 	 Due after	

In CHF million 	 amount	 	 payments	 	 1 year	 	 1 to 2 years	 	 3 to 5 years	 	 5 years	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

31.12.2016 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Bank loans 	 753	 	 826	 	 207	 	 73	 	 367	 	 179	

Debenture bonds 	 6,140	 	 6,658	 	 731	 	 1,533	 	 1,248	 	 3,146	

Private placements 	 738	 	 765	 	 253	 	 73	 	 281	 	 158	

Finance lease liabilities 	 508	 	 1,178	 	 45	 	 44	 	 105	 	 984	

Other financial liabilities 	 294	 	 294	 	 4	 	 261	 	 3	 	 26	

Trade payables 	 1,597	 	 1,597	 	 1,576	 	 10	 	 11	 	 –	

Other payables 	 299	 	 299	 	 299	 	 –	 	 –	 	 –	

Derivative financial instruments 	 63	 	 108	 	 4	 	 4	 	 11	 	 89	

Total 	 10,392	 	 11,725	 	 3,119	 	 1,998	 	 2,026	 	 4,582	
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Derivative financial instruments

 	 Contract value 	 	 Positive fair value 	 	 Negative fair value 	

In CHF million 	 31.12.2017	 	 31.12.2016	 	 31.12.2017	 	 31.12.2016	 	 31.12.2017	 	 31.12.2016	

Interest rate swaps in CHF 	 425	 	 425	 	 2	 	 3	 	 (3)		 (2)	

Currency swaps in EUR 	 819	 	 752	 	 97	 	 29	 	 –	 	 –	

Total fair value hedges 	 1,244	 	 1,177	 	 99	 	 32	 	 (3)		 (2)	

Currency swaps in USD 	 149	 	 235	 	 –	 	 4	 	 (2)		 –	

Total cash flow hedges 	 149	 	 235	 	 –	 	 4	 	 (2)		 –	

Interest rate swaps in CHF 	 200	 	 200	 	 –	 	 –	 	 (54)		 (60)	

Currency swaps in USD 	 210	 	 335	 	 1	 	 5	 	 (1)		 (1)	

Currency swaps in EUR 	 101	 	 97	 	 –	 	 –	 	 –	 	 –	

Forward currency contracts in USD 	 –	 	 4	 	 –	 	 –	 	 –	 	 –	

Total other derivative financial instruments 	 511	 	 636	 	 1	 	 5	 	 (55)		 (61)	

Total derivative financial instruments 	 1,904	 	 2,048	 	 100	 	 41	 	 (60)		 (63)	

Thereof current derivative financial instruments 	 	 	 	 	 1	 	 9	 	 (4)		 (1)	

Thereof non-current derivative financial instruments 	 	 	 	 	 99	 	 32	 	 (56)		 (62)	

Accounting policies
Derivative financial instruments
Derivative financial instruments are initially recorded at fair value and subsequently re-measured at fair value. The 
method of recording the fluctuations in fair value depends on the underlying transaction and the objective pursued 
by entering such transaction. On the date a derivative contract is entered into, management designates the 
purpose of the hedging relationship: hedge of the fair value of an asset or liability (“fair value hedge”) or a hedge 
of future cash flows in the case of future transactions (“cash flow hedge”). Changes in the fair value of derivative 
financial instruments that were designated as hedging instruments for “fair value hedges” are recognised in the 
income statement. Changes in the fair value of derivative financial instruments that were designated as “cash 
flow hedges” are dealt with in other comprehensive income and recognised in the hedging reserve as part of 
equity. If a hedge of a future transaction subsequently results in the recording of a financial asset or financial 
liability, the amount included in equity is recognised in the income statement in the same period in which the 
financial asset or financial liability impacts the results. Otherwise, the amounts recorded in equity are recognised 
in the income statement as income or expense in the same period the cash flows of the intended or agreed future 
transaction occur. Changes in the fair value of derivative financial instruments that are not designated as hedging 
instruments are taken immediately to income.

Valuation categories and fair value of financial instruments 
Estimation of fair values
Fair values are allocated to one of the following three hierarchical levels:
>	 Level 1: exchange quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;
>	 Level 2: other factors which are observable on markets for assets and liabilities, either directly or indirectly;
>	 Level 3: factors that are not based on observable market data.

The fair value of publicly traded equity and debt instruments of Level 1 is based upon their -exchange quotations 
as of the balance-sheet date. The fair value of Level 2 financial assets and liabilities which are not quoted on 
exchanges are computed on the basis of future maturing payments discounted at market interest rates. Level 3 
assets consist of investments in various investment funds and individual companies. The fair value is determined 
on the basis of a computational model. Interest-rate and currency swaps are discounted at market rates. 
Foreign-currency forward transactions and foreign-currency swaps are valued by reference to foreign exchange 
forward rates as of the balance sheet date.
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 Valuation categories and fair value of financial instruments
The carrying amounts and fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities are summarised in the following 
table. Not included therein are cash and cash equivalents, trade receivables and payables as well as miscellaneous 
receivables and liabilities whose carrying amount corresponds to a reasonable estimation of their fair value.

 	 31.12.2017	 	 31.12.2016	

 	 Carrying	 	 Fair	 	 	 	 Carrying	 	 Fair	 	 	

In CHF million 	 amount	 	 value	 	 Level	 	 amount	 	 value	 	 Level	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Other financial assets 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Term deposits 	 7	 	 7	 	 2	 	 93	 	 93	 	 2	

Certificates of deposit 	 145	 	 162	 	 2	 	 152	 	 168	 	 2	

Loans 	 49	 	 49	 	 2	 	 29	 	 29	 	 2	

Loans and receivables 	 201	 	 218	 	 	 	 274	 	 290	 	 	

Equity instruments valued at fair value 	 10	 	 10	 	 1	 	 15	 	 15		  1	

Equity instruments valued at fair value 	 2	 	 2	 	 3	 	 5	 	 5		  3	

Equity instruments valued at cost 	 41	 	 41	 	 –	 	 41	 	 41	 	 –	

Available-for-sale 	 53	 	 53	 	 	 	 61	 	 61	 	 	

Debt instruments held for trading 	 61	 	 61	 	 1	 	 63	 	 63	 	 1	

Derivative financial instruments 	 100	 	 100	 	 2	 	 41	 	 41	 	 2	

Fair value through profit or loss 	 161	 	 161	 	 	 	 104	 	 104	 	 	

Total other financial assets 	 415	 	 432	 	 	 	 439	 	 455	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Financial liabilities 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Bank loans 	 760	 	 788	 	 2	 	 753	 	 782	 	 2	

Debenture bonds 	 6,137	 	 6,439	 	 1	 	 6,140	 	 6,517	 	 1	

Private placements 	 493	 	 504	 	 2	 	 738	 	 758	 	 2	

Finance lease liabilities 	 461	 	 879	 	 2	 	 508	 	 1,049	 	 2	

Derivative financial instruments 	 60	 	 60	 	 2	 	 63	 	 63	 	 2	

Other financial liabilities 	 375	 	 375	 	 2	 	 294	 	 294	 	 2	

Total financial liabilities 	 8,286	 	 9,045	 	 	 	 8,496	 	 9,463	 	 	

Financial assets amounting to CHF 145 million (prior year: CHF 152 million) are not freely available, as they serve 
as security for bank loans. 
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3	 Operating assets and liabilities

The following section discloses information on the movement in net current assets as well as in material 
non-current tangible and intangible assets. In addition, it provides information as to the allocation of goodwill 
over the individual cash-generating units and on the results of any applicable impairment tests. Furthermore, 
movements in provisions, contingent liabilities and contingent assets are presented in this section.

3.1	 Net current operating assets

Movements in operating assets and liabilities

 	 	 	 Operational	 	 Other	 	 	

In CHF million 	 31.12.2016	 	 changes	 	 changes	  1	 31.12.2017	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Financial year 2017 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Trade receivables 	 2,425	 	 (98)		 62	 	 2,389	

Other operating assets 	 680	 	 29	 	 20	 	 729	

Trade payables 	 (1,597)		 (85)		 (71)		 (1,753)	

Other operating liabilities 	 (1,123)		 (11)		 (31)		 (1,165)	

Total operating assets and liabilities, net 	 385	 	 (165)		 (20)		 200	
 				  

1 	Foreign currency translation and adjustments from acquisition and sale of subsidiaries.			 

 	 	 	 Operational	 	 Other	 	 	

In CHF million 	 31.12.2015	 	 changes	 	 changes	  1	 31.12.2016	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Financial year 2016 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Trade receivables 	 2,396	 	 34	 	 (5)		 2,425	

Other operating assets 	 631	 	 53	 	 (4)		 680	

Trade payables 	 (1,486)		 (117)		 6	 	 (1,597)	

Other operating liabilities 	 (1,171)		 47	 	 1	 	 (1,123)	

Total operating assets and liabilities, net 	 370	 	 17	 	 (2)		 385	
 				  

1 	Foreign currency translation and adjustments from acquisition and sale of subsidiaries.			 

As of 31 December 2017, the portion of other operating assets which will be consumed 12 months after the 
balance sheet date amounts to CHF 85 million (prior year: CHF 94 million) and that of other operating liabilities 
CHF 145 million (prior year: CHF 174 million).

Trade receivables

In CHF million 	 31.12.2017	 	 31.12.2016	

Billed revenue 	 2,389	 	 2,401	

Accrued revenue 	 193	 	 207	

Allowances 	 (193)		 (183)	

Total trade receivables 1	 2,389	 	 2,425	
 		

1	 Credit risks. See Note 2.5.	
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Other operating assets

In CHF million 	 31.12.2017	 	 31.12.2016	

Accruals from international roaming traffic 	 35	 	 45	

Receivables from construction contracts 	 41	 	 29	

Receivables from collection activities 	 10	 	 9	

Other receivables 	 34	 	 31	

Allowances 	 (7)		 (7)	

Total other receivables 	 113	 	 107	

Inventories 	 168	 	 154	

Prepaid expenses 	 277	 	 263	

Advance payments made 	 74	 	 51	

Costs to fulfill a contract 	 69	 	 67	

Value-added taxes receivable 	 20	 	 4	

Other non-financial assets 	 8	 	 34	

Total other non-financial assets 	 448	 	 419	

Total other operating assets 	 729	 	 680	

Other operating liabilities

In CHF million 	 31.12.2017	 	 31.12.2016	

Accruals for variable performance-related bonus 	 157	 	 143	

Accruals from international roaming traffic 	 43	 	 32	

Liabilities from collection activities 	 16	 	 18	

Liabilities from construction contracts 	 8	 	 14	

Miscellaneous liabilities 	 119	 	 92	

Total other liabilities 	 343	 	 299	

Deferred revenue 	 460	 	 440	

Value-added taxes payable 	 91	 	 94	

Accruals for annual holiday, overtime 	 66	 	 62	

Advance payments received 	 19	 	 30	

Other non-financial liabilities 	 186	 	 198	

Total other non-financial liabilities 	 822	 	 824	

Total other operating liabilities 	 1,165	 	 1,123	

Deferred revenues mainly comprise deferred payments for prepaid cards and prepaid subscription fees.

Accounting policies
Operating assets and liabilities
Total operating assets and liabilities used in the normal course of business are disclosed as current items in the 
balance sheet.

Trade receivables
Trade and other receivables are measured at amortised cost less impairment losses. Impairment losses on trade 
receivables are recognised, depending on the nature of the underlying transaction, in the form of individual 
valuation allowances or portfolio-based general valuation allowances which cover the anticipated default risk. 
As regards portfolio-based general valuation allowances, financial assets are grouped together based on hetero
geneous credit-risk attributes and reviewed collectively for impairment and whenever required, valuation allowances 
are recognised. In addition to contractually foreseen payment conditions, historical default rates are taken into 
consideration in determining the expected future cash flows from the portfolio. Valuation allowances for trade 
receivables are recognised as other operating expense. 
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3.2	 Property, plant and equipment

 	 	 	 Land, buildings	 	 	 	 Advances made	 	 	
 	 Technical	 	 and leasehold	 	 	 	 and assets	 	 	

In CHF million 	 installations	 	 improvements	  1	 Other assets	 	 under construction	 	 Total	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

At cost 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Balance at 31 December 2015 	 26,129	 	 2,762	 	 3,838	 	 362	 	 33,091	

Additions 	 1,423	 	 7	 	 242	 	 197	 	 1,869	

Disposals 	 (550)		 (30)		 (141)		 (1)		 (722)	

Adjustment to dismantlement and restoration costs 	 (47)		 –	 	 (2)		 –	 	 (49)	

Reclassifications 	 108	 	 5	 	 82	 	 (204)		 (9)	

Foreign currency translation adjustments 	 (40)		 (1)		 –	 	 –	 	 (41)	

Balance at 31 December 2016 	 27,023	 	 2,743	 	 4,019	 	 354	 	 34,139	

Additions 	 1,298	 	 4	 	 270	 	 234	 	 1,806	

Disposals 	 (663)		 (63)		 (137)		 –	 	 (863)	

Adjustment to dismantlement and restoration costs 	 36	 	 –	 	 13	 	 –	 	 49	

Reclassifications 	 95	 	 4	 	 107	 	 (226)		 (20)	

Foreign currency translation adjustments 	 386	 	 8	 	 1	 	 2	 	 397	

Balance at 31 December 2017 	 28,175	 	 2,696	 	 4,273	 	 364	 	 35,508	 				    	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Accumulated depreciation and impairment losses 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Balance at 31 December 2015 	 (18,716)		 (1,996)		 (2,524)		 –	 	 (23,236)	

Depreciation 	 (1,103)		 (37)		 (308)		 –	 	 (1,448)	

Disposals 	 550	 	 13	 	 136	 	 –	 	 699	

Reclassifications 	 1	 	 1	 	 –	 	 –	 	 2	

Foreign currency translation adjustments 	 21	 	 –	 	 –	 	 –	 	 21	

Balance at 31 December 2016 	 (19,247)		 (2,019)		 (2,696)		 –	 	 (23,962)	

Depreciation 	 (1,114)		 (35)		 (315)		 –	 	 (1,464)	

Disposals 	 668	 	 17	 	 132	 	 –	 	 817	

Reclassifications 	 21	 	 –	 	 (12)		 –	 	 9	

Foreign currency translation adjustments 	 (208)		 (3)		 –	 	 –	 	 (211)	

Balance at 31 December 2017 	 (19,880)		 (2,040)		 (2,891)		 –	 	 (24,811)	 				    	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Net carrying amount 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Net carrying amount at 31 December 2017 	 8,295	 	 656	 	 1,382	 	 364	 	 10,697	

Net carrying amount at 31 December 2016 	 7,776	 	 724	 	 1,323	 	 354	 	 10,177	

Net carrying amount at 31 December 2015 	 7,413	 	 766	 	 1,314	 	 362	 	 9,855	
 					   

1	 Buildings acquired under finance lease. See Note 2.2.				  

Commitments for future capital expenditures
Firm contractual commitments for future investments in property, plant and equipment as of 31 December 2017 
aggregated CHF 857 million (prior year: CHF 741 million).

Non-cash investing and financing transactions 
Additions to property, plant and equipment include additions from finance leases amounting to CHF 20 million 
(prior year: CHF 19 million). As a result of changes in the assumptions made in estimating the provisions for 
dismantlement and restoration costs, an increase of CHF 49 million (prior year: decrease of CHF 49 million) was 
recognised in property, plant and equipment with no impact on the income statement. See Note 3.5.
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Material accounting judgements or estimation uncertainties
Management estimates the useful economic lives and residual values of technical facilities, real estate and other 
installations and equipment on the basis of the anticipated period over which economic benefits will accrue to the 
company from the use of the assets. Useful economic lives are reviewed annually on the basis of historical and 
forecast expectations concerning future technological developments, economic and legal changes as well as 
further external factors. 

Accounting policies
Property, plant and equipment is recorded at acquisition or manufacturing cost less accumulated depreciation/
amortisation and impairment losses. In addition to the purchase cost and the costs directly attributable to bringing 
the asset to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by 
management, purchase or manufacturing cost also includes the estimated costs for dismantling and restoration 
of the site. External borrowing costs are capitalised insofar as they can be allocated directly to the acquisition or 
production of a qualifying asset. Costs of replacement, renewal or renovation of property, plant and equipment 
are capitalised as replacement investments if a future inflow of economic benefits is probable and the purchase 
or manufacturing costs can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the parts replaced is de-recognised. 
Systematic depreciation/amortisation is calculated using the straight-line method except for land, which is not 
depreciated. The estimated useful lives for the main categories of property, plant and equipment are:

Category 	 Years	

Ducts 1	 40	

Cables 1	 30	

Transmission and switching equipment 1	 4 to 15	

Other technical installations 1	 3 to 15	

Buildings and leasehold improvements 	 10 to 40	

Other installations 	 3 to 15	
 	

1	 Technical installations.

Whenever significant parts of an item of property, plant and equipment comprise individual components with 
differing useful lives, each component is depreciated/amortised separately. The process for determining useful 
estimated lives takes into account the anticipated use by the company, the expected wear and tear, technological 
developments as well as empirical values with comparable assets. Leasehold improvements and installations in 
leased premises are amortised on a straight-line basis over the shorter of their estimated useful lives and the 
remaining minimum lease term. The impact from changing useful economic lives and residual values are recorded 
on a prospective basis.
If indications exist that the value of an asset may be impaired, the recoverable amount of the asset is determined. 
If the recoverable amount of the asset, which is the greater of the fair value less costs to sell and the value in use, 
is less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount is written down to the recoverable amount.
The carrying amount of an item of property, plant and equipment is de-recognised upon disposal or whenever no 
future economic benefits are expected from its use. Gains and losses arising on the disposal of property, plant and 
equipment are recorded as other income or other operating expenses.
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3.3	 Goodwill

 	 	 	 Small and	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
 	 Residential	 	medium-sized	 	 Enterprise	 	 	 	 	 	 	
 	 Customers	 	 enterprises	 	 Customers	 	 	 	 Other	 	 	
 	 Swisscom	 	 Swisscom	 	 Swisscom	 	 	 	cash-generating	 	 	

In CHF million 	 Switzerland	 	 Switzerland	  1	 Switzerland	 	 Fastweb	 	 units	  2	 Total	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

At cost 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Balance at 31 December 2015 	 2,620	 	 656	 	 907	 	 1,916	 	 445	 	 6,544	

Foreign currency translation adjustments 	 –	 	 –	 	 –	 	 (17)		 (1)		 (18)	

Balance at 31 December 2016 	 2,620	 	 656	 	 907	 	 1,899	 	 444	 	 6,526	

Additions 	 –	 	 –	 	 –	 	 2	 	 –	 	 2	

Reclassifications 	 656	 	 (656)		 25	 	 –	 	 (25)		 –	

Foreign currency translation adjustments 	 1	 	 –	 	 –	 	 169	 	 3	 	 173	

Balance at 31 December 2017 	 3,277	 	 –	 	 932	 	 2,070	 	 422	 	 6,701	 					     	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Accumulated impairment losses 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Balance at 31 December 2015 	 –	 	 –	 	 –	 	 (1,383)		 –	 	 (1,383)	

Foreign currency translation adjustments 	 –	 	 –	 	 –	 	 13	 	 –	 	 13	

Balance at 31 December 2016 	 –	 	 –	 	 –	 	 (1,370)		 –	 	 (1,370)	

Impairment losses 	 –	 	 –	 	 –	 	 –	 	 (23)		 (23)	

Foreign currency translation adjustments 	 –	 	 –	 	 –	 	 (122)		 –	 	 (122)	

Balance at 31 December 2017 	 –	 	 –	 	 –	 	 (1,492)		 (23)		 (1,515)	 					     	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Net carrying amount 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Net carrying amount at 31 December 2017 	 3,277	 	 –	 	 932	 	 578	 	 399	 	 5,186	

Net carrying amount at 31 December 2016 	 2,620	 	 656	 	 907	 	 529	 	 444	 	 5,156	

Net carrying amount at 31 December 2015 	 2,620	 	 656	 	 907	 	 533	 	 445	 	 5,161	
 						    

1	 Telecom business with small and medium-sized enterprises in Switzerland.					   

2	 The cash-generating units include Wholesale Swisscom Switzerland, Swisscom Directories and Improve Digital.				  

	

Swisscom amended its organisational structure and dissolved the Small and Medium-Sized Enterprises Swisscom 
Switzerland segment and merged the Health division into the segment Enterprise Customers Swisscom Switzer-
land (see Note 1.1). The segment Small and Medium-Sized Enterprises Swisscom Switzerland consisted of the 
cash-generating units Telecommunications Business with small and medium-sized enterprises in Switzerland 
(SME telecommunications business) and Swisscom Directories. The SME telecommunications business was fully 
merged into the organisation and business processes of the Residential Customers Swisscom Switzerland unit. 
Accordingly, the previous goodwill amounting to CHF 656 million was transferred to the cash-generating unit 
Residential Clients Swisscom Switzerland. The goodwill of Swisscom Directories continues to be classified in the 
consolidated financial statements under other cash-generating units. In connection with the merger of Health 
division, goodwill amounting to CHF 25 million was transferred to the cash-generating unit Enterprise Customers 
Swisscom Switzerland.

Impairment testing
In the fourth quarter of 2017 and after completion of business planning, individual goodwill amounts were sub-
jected to an impairment test. The recoverable amount of a cash-generating unit is determined based on its value 
in use, using the discounted cash flow (DCF) method. The projected free cash flows are estimated on the basis of 
the business plans approved by management. In general, the business plans cover a three-year period. A planning 
horizon of five years is used for the impairment test of Fastweb. For the free cash flows extending beyond the 
detailed planning period, a terminal value was computed by capitalising the normalised cash flows using an 
assumed long-term constant growth rate. The growth rates applied are those customarily assumed for the country 
or market. The discount rate is derived from the Capital Asset Pricing Model (CAPM). This latter comprises the 
weighted cost of own equity and external borrowing costs. For the risk-free interest rate underlying the discount 
rate, the yield from government bonds (abroad – Germany) with a duration of 10 years and a zero-interest rate is 
used, subject to a minimum interest rate of 1.5% (Switzerland) and 2.0% (abroad). In the prior year, a minimum 
interest rate of 2.5% (Switzerland) and 3.0% (abroad) was used. For cash-generating units abroad, a risk premium 
for the country risk is then added. 
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Discount rates and long-term growth rates

 	 2017	 	 2016	

 	 WACC	 	 WACC	 	 Long-term	 	 WACC	 	 WACC	 	 Long-term	

Cash-generating unit 	 pre-tax	 	 post-tax	 	 growth rate	 	 pre-tax	 	 post-tax	 	 growth rate	

Residential Customers Swisscom Switzerland 	 5.92%	 	 4.64%	 	 0%	 	 6.66%	 	 5.25%	 	 0%	

Enterprise Customers Swisscom Switzerland 	 5.88%	 	 4.64%	 	 0%	 	 6.64%	 	 5.25%	 	 0%	

SME telecommunication business Switzerland 	 –	 	 –	 	 –	 	 6.66%	 	 5.25%	 	 0%	

Fastweb 	 9.10%	 	 7.02%	 	 1.0%	 	 9.63%	 	 7.38%	 	 1.0%	

Other cash-generating units 	 5.88–14.38%	 	 4.64–9.72%	 	 0–1.5%	 	 6.6–12.2%	 	 5.3–9.5%	 	 0–1.0%	

The discount rates used take into consideration the specific risks relating to the cash-generating unit being 
considered. The projected cash flows and management assumptions are corroborated by external sources of 
information.

Results and sensitivity of impairment tests
Residential Customers and Enterprise Customers Swisscom Switzerland
As of the measurement date, the recoverable amount at all cash-generating units, based on their value in use, was 
higher than the carrying amount relevant for the impairment test. Swisscom believes none of the anticipated 
changes in key assumptions which can rationally be expected would cause the carrying amount of the cash-
generating units to exceed the recoverable amount.

Fastweb
As of the date of the impairment test, no impairment of goodwill resulted. The recoverable amount exceeded the 
net carrying amount by EUR 332 million (CHF 386 million). In the prior year, the difference amounted to EUR 710 mil-
lion (CHF 768 million). The following changes in material assumptions lead to a situation where the value in use 
equates to the net carrying amount:

 	 2017	 	 2016	

 	 Assumptions	 	 Sensitivity	 	 Assumptions	 	 Sensitivity	

Average annual growth rate with the same EBITDA margin 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

as in the business plan 	 5.2%	 	 2.8%	 	 6.3%	 	 4.3%	

Normalised EBITDA margin 	 33%	 	 31%	 	 34%	 	 31%	

Normalised capital expenditure rate 	 21%	 	 23%	 	 20%	 	 23%	

Post-tax discount rate 	 7.02%	 	 7.71%	 	 7.38%	 	 8.84%	

Long-term growth rate 	 1.0%	 	 0.1%	 	 1.0%	 	 –0.8%	

Material accounting judgements or estimation uncertainties
The allocation of goodwill to the cash-generating units as well as the computation of the recoverable amount is 
subject to Management’s judgement. This comprises the estimation of future cash flows, the determination of 
the discounting factor and the rate of growth on the basis of historic data and forecast expectations.

Accounting policies
For the purposes of the impairment test, goodwill is allocated to the cash-generating units. The impairment test 
is performed annually on a mandatory basis. If there is any indication during the year that goodwill may be 
impaired, the cash-generating unit is tested for impairment at that time. An impairment loss is recognised if the 
recoverable amount of a cash-generating unit is lower than its carrying amount. The recoverable amount is the 
greater of the fair value less costs of disposal and the value in use. 
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3.4	 Intangible assets

 	 	 	 Internally	 	 	 	 Brands and	 	 Other	 	 	
 	 Purchased	 	 generated	 	 	 	 customer	 	 intangible	 	 	

In CHF million 	 software	 	 software	 	 Licenses	 	 relations	 	 assets	 	 Total	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

At cost 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Balance at 31 December 2015 	 2,035	 	 1,471	 	 454	 	 1,332	 	 612	 	 5,904	

Additions 	 187	 	 138	 	 –	 	 –	 	 247	 	 572	

Disposals 	 (75)		 (202)		 (3)		 (12)		 (51)		 (343)	

Reclassifications 	 31	 	 71	 	 –	 	 –	 	 (93)		 9	

Business combinations 	 –	 	 –	 	 –	 	 22	 	 –	 	 22	

Foreign currency translation adjustments 	 (12)		 (1)		 –	 	 (10)		 (1)		 (24)	

Balance at 31 December 2016 	 2,166	 	 1,477	 	 451	 	 1,332	 	 714	 	 6,140	

Additions 	 215	 	 152	 	 5	 	 –	 	 225	 	 597	

Disposals 	 (105)		 (443)		 (52)		 (852)		 (61)		 (1,513)	

Reclassifications 	 39	 	 228	 	 9	 	 –	 	 (256)		 20	

Business combinations 	 2	 	 1	 	 –	 	 53	 	 –	 	 56	

Sales of subsidiaries 	 (4)		 –	 	 –	 	 –	 	 –	 	 (4)	

Foreign currency translation adjustments 	 115	 	 12	 	 –	 	 27	 	 14	 	 168	

Balance at 31 December 2017 	 2,428	 	 1,427	 	 413	 	 560	 	 636	 	 5,464	 					     	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Accumulated amortisation and impairment losses 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Balance at 31 December 2015 	 (1,586)		 (970)		 (143)		 (1,120)		 (224)		 (4,043)	

Amortisation 	 (234)		 (246)		 (29)		 (94)		 (86)		 (689)	

Impairment losses 	 (2)		 –	 	 –	 	 –	 	 (6)		 (8)	

Disposals 	 75	 	 200	 	 3	 	 12	 	 45	 	 335	

Reclassifications 	 (1)		 2	 	 –	 	 –	 	 (3)		 (2)	

Foreign currency translation adjustments 	 10	 	 1	 	 –	 	 10	 	 2	 	 23	

Balance at 31 December 2016 	 (1,738)		 (1,013)		 (169)		 (1,192)		 (272)		 (4,384)	

Amortisation 	 (234)		 (277)		 (26)		 (55)		 (78)		 (670)	

Impairment losses 	 (2)		 (5)		 –	 	 –	 	 –	 	 (7)	

Disposals 	 105	 	 442	 	 52	 	 852	 	 46	 	 1,497	

Sales of subsidiaries 	 4	 	 –	 	 –	 	 –	 	 –	 	 4	

Reclassifications 	 9	 	 (33)		 (7)		 –	 	 22	 	 (9)	

Foreign currency translation adjustments 	 (93)		 (9)		 –	 	 (26)		 (9)		 (137)	

Balance at 31 December 2017 	 (1,949)		 (895)		 (150)		 (421)		 (291)		 (3,706)	 					     	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Net carrying amount 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Net carrying amount at 31 December 2017 	 479	 	 532	 	 263	 	 139	 	 345	 	 1,758	

Net carrying amount at 31 December 2016 	 428	 	 464	 	 282	 	 140	 	 442	 	 1,756	

Net carrying amount at 31 December 2015 	 449	 	 501	 	 311	 	 212	 	 388	 	 1,861	

As of 31 December 2017, other intangible assets included advance payments made and uncompleted development 
projects of CHF 171 million (prior year: CHF 215 million).
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 Commitments for future capital expenditures
As of 31 December 2017, firm contractual commitments for future investments in intangible assets aggregated 
CHF 84 million (prior year: CHF 104 million).

Material accounting judgements or estimation uncertainties
Management estimates the useful economic lives and residual values of intangible assets on the basis of the 
anticipated period over which economic benefits will accrue to the company from the use of the assets. Useful 
economic lives are reviewed annually on the basis of historical and forecast expectations concerning future 
technological developments, economic and legal changes as well as further external factors. 

Accounting policies
Mobile phone licenses, self-developed software as well as other intangible assets are recorded at purchase or 
manufacturing cost less accumulated amortisation. Intangible assets resulting from business combinations, such 
as brands and customer relationships, are recorded at fair market value as of the date of acquisition, less accumu-
lated amortisation and impairment losses. Systematic amortisation of mobile phone licenses is based on the term 
of the contract. It begins as soon as the related network is operational, unless other information is at hand which 
would suggest the need to modify the useful lives. The impact from changing useful economic lives and residual 
values are recorded on a prospective basis. Systematic amortisation is computed on a straight-line basis over the 
following estimated useful economic lives:

Category 	 Years	

Software internally generated and purchased 	 3 to 7	

Brands and customer relationships 	 5 to 10	

Licenses 	 2 to 16	

Other intangible assets 	 3 to 10	

If indications exist that the value of an asset may be impaired, the recoverable amount of the asset is determined. 
If the recoverable amount of the asset, which is the greater of the fair value less costs to sell and the value in use, 
is less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount is written down to the recoverable amount.

3.5	 Provisions, contingent liabilities and contingent assets

Provisions

 	 Dismantlement	 	 Regulatory	 	 	 	 	 	 	
 	 and restoration	 	 and competition	 	 Termination	 	 	 	 	

In CHF million 	 costs	 	 law proceedings	 	 benefits	  1	 Other	 	 Total	

Balance at 31 December 2016 	 542	 	 150	 	 79	 	 191	 	 962	

Additions to provisions 	 61	 	 6	 	 95	 	 85	 	 247	

Present-value adjustments 	 8	 	 –	 	 –	 	 (1)		 7	

Release of unused provisions 	 (8)		 –	 	 (34)		 (36)		 (78)	

Use of provisions 	 (3)		 –	 	 (28)		 (32)		 (63)	

Foreign currency translation adjustments 	 –	 	 –	 	 –	 	 2	 	 2	

Balance at 31 December 2017 	 600	 	 156	 	 112	 	 209	 	 1,077	

Thereof current provisions 	 –	 	 –	 	 98	 	 79	 	 177	

Thereof non-current provisions 	 600	 	 156	 	 14	 	 130	 	 900	
 					   

1	 See Note 4.1.				  

Provisions for dismantling and restoration costs 
The provisions are computed by reference to estimates of future anticipated dismantling costs and are discounted 
using an average interest rate of 1.19% (prior year: 1.18%). The effect of using different interest rates amounted to 
CHF 1 million (prior year: CHF 47 million). The cost index used for computing the dismantling costs was amended 
resulting in an impact of CHF 55 million (prior year: CHF –103 million). In 2017, as a result of reassessments, adjust-
ments totalling CHF 53 million (prior year: CHF 49 million) were recorded under property, plant and equipment, 
without impacting the income statement, and CHF 1 million (prior year: CHF 4 million) which was recognised in 
the income statement. The non-current portion of the provisions is expected to be settled after 2020. An increase 
of estimated costs by 10% would result in an increase of CHF 57 million in the amount of the provision. A shift in 
the timing of dismantling by a further ten years would lead to a reduction in the provision by CHF 76 million. 
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Provisions for regulatory and competition-law proceedings 
In accordance with the revised Telecommunications Act, Swisscom provides access services (incl. interconnection) 
to other telecommunication service providers in Switzerland. In previous years, several telecommunication service 
providers demanded from the Federal Communications Commission (ComCom) a reduction in the prices charged 
to them by Swisscom. The determination of the prices for access services during 2013 to 2017 is still pending. 
In 2009, the Competition Commission (Weko) levied a penalty totalling CHF 220 million on Swisscom for abuse of 
a market-dominant position in the case of ADSL services during the period through to the end of 2007. Swisscom 
has appealed against the ruling to the Federal Administrative Court. In September 2015, the Federal Administrative 
Court in principle upheld the Weko decision and reduced the penalty imposed on Swisscom by Weko from CHF 220 
million to CHF 186 million. As a result of the decision, Swisscom recognised a provision of CHF 186 million in the 
third quarter of 2015. Swisscom does not consider the penalty to be justified and has lodged an appeal to the 
Federal Court. At the beginning of 2016, it paid the penalty of CHF 186 million as no suspensive effect was granted. 
In the event that a legally enforceable finding as to market abuse is reached, civil-law claims might be asserted 
against Swisscom.
On the basis of legal opinions, Swisscom has established provisions for regulatory and competition-law proceedings. 
Any applicable payments will depend upon the date on which legally-binding decrees and decisions are issued and 
could occur within five years.

Other provisions
Other provisions include provisions for environmental, contractual and non-income-related tax risks. Any applicable 
payments of the non-current portion of the provisions could likely occur within three years. 

Contingent liabilities arising from competition-law proceedings 
The Competition Commission (Weko) is conducting several proceedings against Swisscom. In the event that a 
legally enforceable finding of market abuse is reached, Weko can impose a penalty on Swisscom. In addition, claims 
under civil law might be asserted against Swisscom. In April 2013, Weko initiated an investigation against Swisscom 
pursuant to the Anti-Trust Law in the area of broadcasting live-sport events on pay TV. In May 2016, Weko decreed a 
penalty of CHF 72 million on Swisscom in these proceedings. 
In November 2015, in its investigation as to the invitation to tender for the corporate network of the Swiss Post in 
2008, Weko reached the conclusion that Swisscom has a market-dominant position on the market for broadband 
access for business clients. Because of this conduct judged to be unlawful under Competition Law, Weko ruled a 
penalty of CHF 8 million. 
Swisscom has challenged the rulings of Weko concerning live sports broadcasts on pay TV as well as of the invitation 
to tender for the corporate network of the Swiss Post in the Federal Administrative Court as it considers that it has 
conducted itself in a lawful manner. Swisscom considers the levying of sanctions in the court of last appeal as 
improbable for which reason no provisions have been recognised in the consolidated financial statements as of and 
for the year ended 31 December 2017, as in the prior year. In view of the past proceedings conducted by Weko, 
further proceedings against Swisscom might be initiated.

Contingent assets from litigation
In 2015, the Italian competition authorities (AGCM) found TIM (formerly Telecom Italia) guilty of unlawful conduct 
as a market-dominant company and imposed a penalty of EUR 104 million. Related to the same matter, Fastweb has 
claimed damages from TIM and initiated legal action in connection therewith. In the fourth quarter of 2015, Fastweb 
and TIM reached an out-of-court settlement which encompassed the contested receivables of both parties due 
from each other. In the second quarter of 2017, TIM made a payment of EUR 95 million (CHF 102 million). For Fastweb, 
there exists no further uncertain receivable arising from the settlement to which conditions are attached. 
See Note 1.2.
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 Material accounting judgements or estimation uncertainties
The provisions for dismantling and restoration costs relate to the dismantling of telecommunication installations 
and transmitter stations as well as the restoration to its original state of land held by third party owners. The level 
of the provisions is determined to a significant degree by the estimation of future dismantling and restoration 
costs as well as the timing of the dismantling. 
Provisions for pending litigation are measured on the basis of available information and an estimate of probable 
expected cash outflows. Depending on the outcome of these proceedings, claims may be made against the group 
which are not or not fully be covered by provisions or existing insurance. The provisions so established constitute 
the best possible estimate of the ultimate liability. 
Possible liabilities whose occurrence as of the balance-sheet date cannot be assessed, or liabilities, the level of 
which cannot be reliably estimated, are disclosed as contingent liabilities. 

Accounting policies
Provisions are raised whenever a legal or de facto liability exists as a result of an occurrence in the past, the 
outflow of resources to settle the liability is probable and the amount of the liability can be estimated reliably. 
Provisions are discounted if the effect is material.

Provisions for dismantling and restoration costs
Swisscom is legally obligated to dismantle transmitter stations and telecommunication installations located on 
land belonging to third parties following decommissioning and to restore to its original state the property owned 
by third parties in the locations where these installations are erected. The costs of dismantling are capitalised as 
part of the acquisition costs of the installations and are amortised over the useful lives of the installations. The 
provisions are measured at the present value of the aggregate future costs and are reported under long-term 
provisions. Whenever the provision is re-measured, the present value of the changes in the liability are either added 
to or deducted from the cost of the related capitalised asset. The amount deducted from the cost of the related 
capitalised asset shall not exceed its net carrying amount. Any excess is taken directly to income.

Provisions for termination benefits
Costs relating to the implementation of personnel downsizing programmes are expensed in the period when 
management commits itself to a downsizing plan, it is probable that a liability has been incurred, the amount 
thereof can be reliably estimated, and the implementation of the programme has started or the individuals 
involved have been advised in sufficient detail as to the main terms of the downsizing programme. A public 
announcement and/or communication to personnel associations are deemed to be equivalent to commencing 
the implementation of the programme.
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 4	 Employees

Swisscom has over 20,000 employees, of which 17,700 are in Switzerland. In this section is to be found information 
about the employee headcount and personnel expense, the compensation paid to individuals in key positions, 
as well as retirement-benefit obligations.

4.1	 Employee headcount and personnel expense

Employee headcount

in full-time equivalent 	 31.12.2017	 	 31.12.2016	 	 Change	

Residential Customers 	 5,638	 	 6,065	 	 –7.0%	

Enterprise Customers 	 4,605	 	 4,651	 	 –1.0%	

Wholesale 	 88	 	 88	 	 0.0%	

IT, Network & Infrastructure 	 4,826	 	 5,072	 	 –4.9%	

Swisscom Switzerland 	 15,157	 	 15,876	 	 –4.5%	

Fastweb 	 2,504	 	 2,468	 	 1.5%	

Other Operating Segments 	 2,580	 	 2,493	 	 3.5%	

Group Headquarters 	 265	 	 290	 	 –8.6%	

Total headcount 	 20,506	 	 21,127	 	 –2.9%	

Thereof Switzerland 	 17,688	 	 18,372	 	 –3.7%	

Thereof foreign countries 	 2,818	 	 2,755	 	 2.3%	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Average number of employees 	 20,836	 	 21,453	 	 –2.9%	

Personnel expense

In CHF million 	 2017	 	 2016	

Salary and wage costs 	 2,214	 	 2,268	

Social security expenses 	 257	 	 253	

Expense of defined benefit plans 1	 375	 	 338	

Expense of defined contribution plans 	 10	 	 9	

Expense for share-based payments 	 2	 	 3	

Termination benefits 	 61	 	 20	

Other personnel expense 	 83	 	 56	

Total personnel expense 	 3,002	 	 2,947	

Thereof Switzerland 	 2,759	 	 2,718	

Thereof foreign countries 	 243	 	 229	
 		

1	 See Note 4.3.

Termination benefits
Swisscom supports employees affected by downsizing through a social plan. Depending on the relevant social 
plan as well as age and length of service, certain employees affected by downsizing may transfer to the employment 
company Worklink AG. The employment company Worklink AG hires out participating employees to third parties 
on a temporary basis.
The net expense for personnel reduction plans amounts to CHF 61 million. This amount consists of newly estab-
lished provisions of CHF 95 million, less the release of provisions no longer required of CHF 34 million. During 2016, 
Swisscom announced that the cost basis in Switzerland is to be reduced by CHF 60 million per annum until 2020. 
In view of the sustained market pressure in its core business, higher efficiency potential through digitalisation and 
the necessary time and means for developing new business in growth areas, such as the Cloud and security, 
Swisscom has raised this target for 2018 to 2020 to CHF 100 million per annum. Swisscom continues to achieve 
cost savings principally through a streamlining of work processes and an on-going reduction of job vacancies in 
declining business areas. The measures planned will result in the elimination of positions in Switzerland and in 
employees participating in the social plan.
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4.2	 Key management compensation

In CHF million 	 2017	 	 2016	

Current compensation 	 1.4	 	 1.4	

Share-based payments 	 0.7	 	 0.7	

Social security contributions 	 0.1	 	 0.1	

Total compensation to members of the Board of Directors 	 2.2	 	 2.2	

Current compensation 	 5.8	 	 5.5	

Share-based payments 	 0.9	 	 1.0	

Benefits paid following retirement from Group Executive Board 	 0.6	 	 –	

Pension contributions 	 0.9	 	 1.1	

Social security contributions 	 0.6	 	 0.5	

Total compensation to members of the Group Executive Board 	 8.8	 	 8.1	

Total compensation to members of the Board of Directors and of the Group Executive Board 	 11.0	 	 10.3	

Individuals in key positions of Swisscom are the members of the Group Executive Board and the Board of Directors 
of Swisscom Ltd. Compensation paid to members of the Board of Directors consists of basic emoluments plus 
functional allowances and meeting attendance fees. One third of the entire compensation of the Board of Directors 
(excluding meeting allowances) is paid in the form of equity shares. Compensation paid to the members of the 
Group Executive Board consists of a fixed basic salary component settled in cash, a variable performance-related 
portion settled in cash and shares, payments in kind and non-cash benefits as well as pension and social insurance 
benefits. 25% of the variable performance-related share of the members of the Group Executive Board is paid out 
in shares. The Group Executive Board members may elect to increase this share to 50%. 
The disclosures required by the Swiss Ordinance against Excessive Compensation in Listed Companies (OaEC) are 
set out in the chapter containing the Remuneration Report. Shares in Swisscom Ltd held by the members of the 
Board of Directors and Group Executive Board are set out in the notes to the consolidated financial statements of 
Swisscom Ltd. 

4.3	 Post-employment benefits

Defined benefit plans
comPlan
The majority of employees in Switzerland is insured for the risks of old age, death and disability by the Swisscom 
retirement-benefit scheme. The retirement-benefit scheme is implemented through the medium of the comPlan 
pension plan which has the legal form of a foundation. The supreme governing body of the pension plan is the 
Foundation Council which is made up of an equal number of representatives of the employees and the employer. 
The pension-fund rules, together with the legal provisions concerning occupational pension plans, constitute the 
formal regulatory framework of the pension plan. Individual retirement-savings accounts are maintained for each 
beneficiary, to which are credited savings contributions varying with age as well as interest accruing. The rate of 
interest to be applied to the retirement-savings accounts is set each year by the Foundation Council, having regard 
to the financial situation of the pension fund. The amounts credited to the individual savings accounts are funded 
by savings contributions of the employer and employees. In addition, the employer pays risk contributions to fund 
death and disability benefits. The standard retirement age is 65. Employees are entitled to early retirement with a 
reduced old-age pension. The amount of the old-age pension results from multiplying the individual retire-
ment-savings account by a conversion rate set out in the pension-fund rules. The retirement benefits can also be 
paid out, in full or in part, in the form of a capital payment. In case of early retirement, the employer finances 
additionally a OASI bridging pension until the standard retirement age. The amount of disability pensions is deter-
mined as a percentage of the insured salary and is independent of the number of service years. 
The formal regulatory framework contains various provisions concerning risk sharing between the beneficiaries 
and the employer. In the event of a funding shortfall, computed in accordance with Swiss financial statement 
accounting principles (Swiss GAAP ARR), the Foundation Council lays down measures which lead to an elimination 
of the funding deficit and a restoration of a financial equilibrium within a timeframe of 5 to 7 years. The measures 
may consist of the levying of restructuring contributions, a lower level of interest or zero interest accruing on the 
accumulated employee savings, the lowering of benefits or in a combination of such measures. Should a structural 
funding shortfall exist as a result of insufficient current interest-induced funding, the top priority is to remedy this 
situation by adapting future benefits. The employer’s restructuring contributions must, at a minimum, be equal 
to the sum of employee restructuring contributions. Under the formal regulatory framework, the employer has no 
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legal obligation to pay additional contributions to eliminate more than 50% of a funding shortfall. In the case of 
Swisscom, a de-facto obligation over and above the legal minimum obligation to pay additional or restructuring 
contributions derives from customary company-specific practice in the past. The upper limit of the employer’s 
share of future benefit costs within the meaning of IAS 19.87(c) is assumed to be at the level of the de-facto 
obligation. 
As a result of the low interest-rate level and increasing life expectancy, the Foundation Council decided in 2016 
upon various measures to ensure a financial equilibrium. The core elements of the measures comprise a lowering 
of the conversion rate and an increase in recurring savings contributions of the employees and employer. In addition 
to this, special contributions are to be credited to the savings accounts of older beneficiaries over a maximum 
period of 5 years in order to cushion the impact of future pension reductions. Swisscom bears a share of the costs 
of the special contributions through an extraordinary payment of CHF 50 million in 2017. The remaining costs of 
an anticipated amount of approx. CHF 250 million will be financed by using freely available funds of comPlan. The 
various measures gave rise in 2016 to a past-service cost of CHF 3 million. This is based on a revaluation of the net 
pension-fund obligations using the market values of the plan assets valid as of the date of the pension-fund 
amendment and the current actuarial assumptions which take into account the risk-sharing features. Ignoring the 
risk-sharing features, a negative past-service cost of CHF 546 million would have resulted in 2016 from the plan 
amendment.
In accordance with the Swiss accounting standards relevant for the pension fund (Swiss GAAP ARR), the funding 
surplus at 31 December 2017 amounts to CHF 0.8 billion with a coverage ratio of around 108% (prior year: 101%). 
The main reasons for the difference compared with IFRS are the use of a higher discount rate as well as a different 
actuarial measurement method with a deferred recognition of the costs of future retirement-benefit benefits. 

Other pension plans
Other pension plans exist for individual Swiss subsidiary companies which are not affiliated to comPlan and for 
Fastweb. Employees of the Italian subsidiary Fastweb have acquired entitlements to future pension benefits up to 
the end of 2006 which are recorded in the balance sheet as defined-benefit obligations. 

Pension cost from defined-benefit pension plans

In CHF million 	 comPlan	 	 Other plans	 	 2017	 	 comPlan	 	 Other plans	 	 2016	

Current service cost 	 368	 	 2	 	 370	 	 322	 	 8	 	 330	

Plan amendments 	 –	 	 –	 	 –	 	 3	 	 –	 	 3	

Administration expense 	 4	 	 1	 	 5	 	 4	 	 1	 	 5	

Total recognised in personnel expense 	 372	 	 3	 	 375	 	 329	 	 9	 	 338	

Interest expense on net defined benefit obligations 	 11	 	 –	 	 11	 	 25	 	 –	 	 25	

Total recognised in financial expense 	 11	 	 –	 	 11	 	 25	 	 –	 	 25	

Total expense of defined benefit plans 			   	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

recognised in income statement 	 383		  3	 	 386	 	 354	 	 9	 	 363	

In CHF million 	 comPlan	 	 Other plans	 	 2017	 	 comPlan	 	 Other plans	 	 2016	

Actuarial gains and losses from 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Change of the demographical assumptions 	 (131)		 –	 	 (131)		 102	 	 –	 	 102	

Change of the financial assumptions 	 (72)		 –	 	 (72)		 (280)		 2	 	 (278)	

Experience adjustments to defined benefit obligations 	 (17)		 –	 	 (17)		 36	 	 (3)		 33	

Change in share of employee contribution (risk sharing) 1	 246	 	 –	 	 246	 	 (711)		 –	 	 (711)	

Return on plan assets excluding the part 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

recognised in financial result 	 (879)		 3	 	 (876)		 (308)		 –	 	 (308)	

Expense (income) of defined benefit plans 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

recognised in other comprehensive income 	 (853)		 3	 	 (850)		 (1,161)		 (1)		 (1,162)	
 						    

1	 The reason behind the decrease in the share of employee contribution of CHF 246 million is the reduction in the structural funding shortfall, which is mainly 
attributable to the positive result on plan assets.					   

In 2016, the impact of the initial application of risk-sharing features in the financial assumptions totalled 
CHF 856 million, of which CHF 711 million is attributable to the limit on the employer share and CHF 145 million 
to required amendments of future benefits.
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Status of pension plans

In CHF million 	 comPlan	 	 Other plans	 	 2017	 	 comPlan	 	 Other plans	 	 2016	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Defined benefit obligations 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Balance at 1 January 	 11,635	 	 105	 	 11,740	 	 12,183	 	 117	 	 12,300	

Current service cost 	 368	 	 2	 	 370	 	 322	 	 8	 	 330	

Interest cost on defined benefit obligations 	 78	 	 –	 	 78	 	 113	 	 1	 	 114	

Employee contributions 	 186	 	 –	 	 186	 	 178	 	 2	 	 180	

Benefits paid 	 (471)		 (1)		 (472)		 (325)		 (9)		 (334)	

Actuarial losses (gains) 	 26	 	 –	 	 26	 	 (853)		 (1)		 (854)	

Business combinations 	 –	 	 1	 	 1	 	 –	 	 1	 	 1	

Plan amendments 	 –	 	 –	 	 –	 	 3	 	 –	 	 3	

Transfer of pension plans to comPlan 	 72	 	 (72)		 –	 	 14	 	 (14)		 –	

Balance at 31 December 	 11,894	 	 35	 	 11,929	 	 11,635	 	 105	 	 11,740	 		  	 			   	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Plan assets 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Balance at 1 January 	 9,826	 	 64	 	 9,890	 	 9,307	 	 74	 	 9,381	

Interest income on plan assets 	 67	 	 –	 	 67	 	 88	 	 1	 	 89	

Employer contributions 	 335	 	 3	 	 338	 	 268	 	 3	 	 271	

Employee contributions 	 186	 	 –	 	 186	 	 178	 	 2	 	 180	

Benefits paid 	 (471)		 –	 	 (471)		 (325)		 (9)		 (334)	

Return (expense) on plan assets excluding the part 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

recognised in financial result 	 879	 	 (3)		 876	 	 308	 	 –	 	 308	

Administration expense 	 (4)		 (1)		 (5)		 (4)		 (1)		 (5)	

Transfer of pension plans to comPlan 	 46	 	 (46)		 –	 	 6	 	 (6)		 –	

Balance at 31 December 	 10,864	 	 17	 	 10,881	 	 9,826	 	 64	 	 9,890	 		  	 			   	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Net defined benefit obligations 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Net defined benefit obligations recognised at 31 December 	 1,030	 	 18	 	 1,048	 	 1,809	 	 41	 	 1,850	

Movements in recognised defined-benefit obligations are to be analysed as follows:

In CHF million 	 comPlan	 	 Other plans	 	 2017	 	 comPlan	 	 Other plans	 	 2016	

Balance at 1 January 	 1,809	 	 41	 	 1,850	 	 2,876	 	 43	 	 2,919	

Pension cost, net 	 383	 	 3	 	 386	 	 354	 	 9	 	 363	

Employer contributions and benefits paid 	 (335)		 (4)		 (339)		 (268)		 (3)		 (271)	

Business combinations 	 –	 	 1	 	 1	 	 –	 	 1	 	 1	

Expense (income) of defined benefit plans 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

recognised in other comprehensive income 	 (853)		 3	 	 (850)		 (1,161)		 (1)		 (1,162)	

Transfer of pension plans to comPlan 	 26	 	 (26)		 –	 	 8	 	 (8)		 –	

Balance at 31 December 	 1,030	 	 18	 	 1,048	 	 1,809	 	 41	 	 1,850	

The weighted average duration of the net present value of the recorded defined-benefit obligations is 17 years 
(prior year: 18 years).
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Breakdown of pension plan assets
comPlan

 	 	 	 31.12.2017	 	 31.12.2016	

 	 Investment	 	 	 	 Not	 	 	 	 	 	 Not	 	 	

Category 	 strategy	 	 Quoted	 	 quoted	 	 Total	 	 Quoted	 	 quoted	 	 Total	

Government bonds Switzerland 	 8.0%	 	 1.8%	 	 3.5%	 	 5.3%	 	 2.3%	 	 4.5%	 	 6.8%	

Corporate bonds Switzerland 	 6.0%	 	 5.7%	 	 0.0%	 	 5.7%	 	 6.0%	 	 0.0%	 	 6.0%	

Government bonds developed markets, World 	 10.0%	 	 7.4%	 	 0.0%	 	 7.4%	 	 8.4%	 	 0.0%	 	 8.4%	

Corporate bonds developed markets, World 	 9.0%	 	 10.0%	 	 0.0%	 	 10.0%	 	 9.2%	 	 0.0%	 	 9.2%	

Government bonds emerging markets, World 	 7.0%	 	 7.4%	 	 0.0%	 	 7.4%	 	 7.2%	 	 0.0%	 	 7.2%	

Private debt 	 6.0%	 	 0.0%	 	 6.2%	 	 6.2%	 	 0.0%	 	 6.2%	 	 6.2%	

Third-party debt instruments 	 46.0%	 	 32.3%	 	 9.7%	 	 42.0%	 	 33.1%	 	 10.7%	 	 43.8%	

Equity shares Switzerland 	 5.0%	 	 5.5%	 	 0.0%	 	 5.5%	 	 5.2%	 	 0.0%	 	 5.2%	

Equity shares developed markets, World 	 12.0%	 	 13.2%	 	 0.0%	 	 13.2%	 	 13.3%	 	 0.0%	 	 13.3%	

Equity shares emerging markets, World 	 8.0%	 	 8.4%	 	 0.0%	 	 8.4%	 	 8.4%	 	 0.0%	 	 8.4%	

Equity instruments 	 25.0%	 	 27.1%	 	 0.0%	 	 27.1%	 	 26.9%	 	 0.0%	 	 26.9%	

Real estate Switzerland 	 11.0%	 	 7.1%	 	 4.7%	 	 11.8%	 	 7.5%	 	 4.6%	 	 12.1%	

Real estate World 	 6.0%	 	 3.6%	 	 2.5%	 	 6.1%	 	 3.7%	 	 1.2%	 	 4.9%	

Real estate 	 17.0%	 	 10.7%	 	 7.2%	 	 17.9%	 	 11.2%	 	 5.8%	 	 17.0%	

Commodities 	 4.0%	 	 2.1%	 	 2.0%	 	 4.1%	 	 1.9%	 	 2.0%	 	 3.9%	

Private markets 	 7.0%	 	 0.0%	 	 8.3%	 	 8.3%	 	 0.0%	 	 7.0%	 	 7.0%	

Cash and cash equivalents and other investments 	 1.0%	 	 0.0%	 	 0.6%	 	 0.6%	 	 0.0%	 	 1.4%	 	 1.4%	

Cash and cash equivalents and 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

alternative investments 	 12.0%	 	 2.1%	 	 10.9%	 	 13.0%	 	 1.9%	 	 10.4%	 	 12.3%	

Total plan assets 	 100.0%	 	 72.2%	 	 27.8%	 	 100.0%	 	 73.1%	 	 26.9%	 	 100.0%	

The Foundation Council determines the investment strategy and tactical bandwidths within the framework of 
the legal provisions. Within its terms of reference, the Investment Commission undertakes the asset allocation 
and is the central steering, coordination and monitoring body for the management of the pension-plan assets. 
The investment strategy pursues the goal of achieving the highest possible return on assets within the framework 
of its risk tolerance and thus of generating income on a long-term basis to meet all financial obligations. This is 
achieved through a broad diversification of risks over various investment categories, markets, currencies and 
industry segments in both developed and emerging markets. The interest rate duration of interest-bearing assets 
is 6.56 years (prior year: 5.52 years) and the average rating of these assets is A–. Within the overall portfolio, all 
foreign currency positions are hedged against the Swiss franc following a currency strategy to the extent neces-
sary to meet a pre-determined ratio of 88% (CHF or CHF-hedged). The unquoted and therefore lesser liquid invest-
ments make up 27.8% of total plan assets. Following this investment strategy, comPlan anticipates a target value 
for the value fluctuation reserve of 17.8% (basis: 2018 financial year). 

Additional information on plan assets 
As of 31 December 2017, plan assets include Swisscom Ltd shares and bonds with a fair value of CHF 6 million 
(prior year: CHF 5 million). The effective return on plan assets in 2017 amounted to CHF 943 million (prior year: 
CHF 397 million). 
In 2018, Swisscom expects to make payments to the pension funds for regulatory employee contributions totalling 
CHF 270 million.
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Assumptions underlying actuarial computations

 	 2017	 	 2016	

Assumptions 	 comPlan	 	 Other plans	 	 comPlan	 	 Other plans	

Discount rate at 31 December 	 0.69%	 	 1.30%	 	 0.64%	 	 0.91%	

Expected rate of salary increases 	 1.08%	 	 –	 	 1.08%	 	 0.74%	

Expected rate of pension increases 	 –	 	 –	 	 –	 	 –	

Interest on old age savings accounts 	 0.69%	 	 –	 	 0.64%	 	 1.03%	

Share of employee contribution to funding shortfall 	 40%	 	 –	 	 40%	 	 –	

Life expectancy at age of 65 – men (number of years) 	 22.10	 	 22.10	 	 22.26	 	 22.26	

Life expectancy at age of 65 – women (number of years) 	 23.90	 	 23.90	 	 24.32	 	 24.32	

The discount rate is based upon CHF-denominated corporate bonds with an AA rating of domestic and foreign 
issuers and listed on the Swiss Exchange SIX. The development of salaries corresponds to the historical average of 
recent years. No future growth in pensions is anticipated as comPlan has insufficient fluctuation reserves avail-
able. The interest rate used to compute interest accruing on the individual retirement savings is the discount rate. 
In 2017, life-expectancy assumptions are arrived at for the first time through a projection of future mortality 
improvements in accordance with the continuous mortality investigation model (CMI), based on the mortality 
improvements actually observed in Switzerland in the past. The computations are made with a future long-term 
mortality improvement rate of 1.75%. The first-time application of the CMI model gave rise to a reduction in net 
retirement-benefit obligations by CHF 100 million, which was recognised in other comprehensive income as a 
change in accounting estimate. In the previous year, BVG 2015 generation tables were used for the life-expectancy 
assumption.
The risk-sharing attributes contained in the formal regulatory framework relating to the handling of funding 
shortfalls were taken into account in the financial assumptions in two steps. As a first step, it is assumed that the 
Foundation Council will decide on a gradual lowering of future pensions by 5.4% (prior year: 5.6%) over a period of 
10 years in order to close the interest-induced structural funding gap. This is based upon a forecast for the future 
conversion rate using a mixed rate for the mandatory and extra-mandatory portions. The conversion rate in the 
mandatory portion applies the current legal conversion rate. In the extra-mandatory portion, the conversion rate 
is computed with the discount rate of 0.69%. As a second step, the present value of the remaining funding gap 
between the regulatory contributions and the benefits amended in the first step are spread over the employer 
and the employees. The legal and de-facto obligation of the employer to pay additional contributions is unchanged 
and assumed to be limited to 60% of the funding gap. This is based on the legal and regulatory provisions concerning 
the elimination of funding shortfalls as well as the measures actually decided upon by the Foundation Council and 
the employer in the past. Assuming the limitation of the employer’s share of the funding shortfall, this results in 
a reduction in defined-benefit obligations of CHF 465 million (prior year: CHF 711 million), which corresponds to 
the expected employee contribution. The effect of taking this into consideration for the first time was dealt with 
as a change in accounting estimate in 2016 and recognised in other comprehensive income. In 2017, the reduction 
of the employee contribution was recognised in other comprehensive income.

Sensitivity analysis comPlan 
Sensitivity analysis 2017

 	 Defined benefit obligations	 	 Current service cost	  1

 	 Increase	 	 Decrease	 	 Increase	 	 Decrease	

In CHF million 	 Assumption	 	 Assumption	 	 Assumption	 	 Assumption	

Discount rate (change +/–0.5%) 	 (556)		 650	 	 (39)		 47	

Expected rate of salary increases (change +/–0.5%) 	 44	 	 (41)		 7	 	 (7)	

Expected rate of pension increases (change +0.5%; –0.0%) 	 536	 	 –	 	 29	 	 –	

Interest on old age savings accounts (change +/–0.5%) 	 21	 	 (19)		 8	 	 (7)	

Share of employee contribution to funding shortfall (change +/–10%) 	 (116)		 116	 	 –	 	 –	

Life expectancy at age of 65 (change +/–0.5 year) 	 126	 	 (127)		 5	 	 (5)	
 				  

1	 The sensitivity refers to the current service cost recorded in personnel expense.		
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 Sensitivity analysis 2016

 	 Defined benefit obligations	 	 Current service cost	  1

In CHF million 	 Increase Assumption	 	Decrase Assumption	 	Increase Assumption	 	Decrase Assumption	

Discount rate (change +/–0.5%) 	 (574)		 670	 	 (40)		 48	

Expected rate of salary increases (change +/–0.5%) 	 47	 	 (45)		 7	 	 (7)	

Expected rate of pension increases (change +0.5%; –0.0%) 	 547	 	 –	 	 30	 	 –	

Interest on old age savings accounts (change +/–0.5%) 	 25	 	 (23)		 8	 	 (8)	

Share of employee contribution to funding shortfall (change +/–10%) 	 (178)		 178	 	 –	 	 –	

Life expectancy at age of 65 (change +/–0.5 year) 	 128	 	 (129)		 5	 	 (5)	
 				  

1	 The sensitivity refers to the current service cost recorded in personnel expense.		

The sensitivity analysis takes into consideration the movement in defined-benefit obligations as well as current-
service costs in adjusting the actuarial assumptions by half a percentage point and half a year, respectively. In the 
process, only one of the assumptions is adjusted each time, the other parameters remaining unchanged. In the 
sensitivity analysis, in view of a negative movement in pension increases, no change was made as the reduction 
in pension benefits is not possible.

Material accounting judgements or estimation uncertainties
The determination of post-employment retirement benefit obligations requires an estimation of the future service 
periods, the development of future salaries and pensions as well as interest accruing on the accumulated employee 
savings accounts, the timing of contractual pension benefit payments and the employees’ share of the funding 
shortfall. This evaluation is made on the basis of prior experience and anticipated future trends. Anticipated 
future payments are discounted with the yields of Swiss-franc-denominated corporate bonds of domestic and 
foreign issuers and quoted on the Swiss Exchange with a AA rating. The discount rates match the anticipated 
payment maturities of the liabilities.

Accounting policies
Actuarial computations of the pension expense and related defined-benefit obligations are undertaken using the 
projected unit credit method. Current service costs, past service costs arising from pension-plan amendments 
and plan settlements as well as administrative costs are reported in the income statement under personnel 
expense and interest accruing on net obligations as finance expense. Actuarial gains and losses and the return on 
plan assets, except for amounts reflected in net interest income, are reported under other comprehensive income.
The assumptions regarding net future benefits are set out in the formal set of regulations governing the pension 
plan in compliance with legal provisions. As regards the Swiss pension plans, the relevant formal regulations com-
prise the rules of the pension fund as well as the relevant laws, ordinances and directives concerning occupational 
benefit plans, in particular the provisions contained therein concerning funding and measures to be taken to 
eliminate funding shortfalls. From 2016 onwards, risk-sharing features are taken into account in defining financial 
assumptions in the formal regulatory framework which limits the employer’s share of the costs of future benefits 
as well as imposing obligations on employees, where applicable, to make additional contributions to eliminate 
funding deficits.
Should the level of committed long-term disability benefits (disability pensions), irrespective of the number of 
service years, be the same for all insured employees, the costs for these benefits are recognised on the date on 
which the event causing the disability occurs.
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 5	 Scope of consolidation

The following section sets out details of the Group structure of Swisscom as well as note disclosures concerning 
subsidiary companies, joint ventures and associated companies. In addition, material changes in Group structure 
are discussed, together with their impact on the consolidated financial statements.

5.1	 Group structure

Swisscom Ltd is the parent company of the Group and holds principally direct majority shareholdings in Swisscom 
(Switzerland) Ltd, Swisscom Broadcast Ltd and Swisscom Directories Ltd. Fastweb S.p.A. (Fastweb) is held indirectly 
via Swisscom (Switzerland) Ltd as well as an intermediate company in Italy. Swisscom Re Ltd in Liechtenstein is the 
Group’s in-house reinsurance company. 
Swisscom holds a 69% shareholding in Swisscom Directories Ltd, the remaining shares being held by Tamedia. 
Swisscom has granted Tamedia a put option, and Tamedia has granted Swisscom a call option for Tamedia’s 31% 
shareholding. The put and call options may be exercised as from mid-2018, respectively. As of 31 December 2017, 
the fair value of the put option amounts to CHF 231 million (prior year: CHF 233 million), which has been recognised 
in the consolidated financial statements of Swisscom Ltd under other financial liabilities. See Note 2.2.

5.2	 Material changes in scope of consolidation

Net cash flows from the acquisition and disposal of participations may be analysed as follows: 

In CHF million 	 2017	 	 2016

Expenses for business combinations net of cash and cash equivalents acquired 	 (44)		 (6)

Expenses for deferred consideration arising on business combinations 	 (19)		 (32)

Expenses for shareholdings accounted for using the equity method 	 (20)		 (3)

Proceeds from sale of equity-accounted investees 	 76	 	 88

Acquisition of non-controlling interests 	 (99)		 (4)

Total cash flow from the purchase and sale of shareholdings, net 	 (106)		 43

In order to accelerate the development of blockchain applications, Swisscom Ltd has established Swisscom Block-
chain Ltd, of which Swisscom holds 70% of the capital as majority shareholder, the remaining 30% shares being 
owned by management. 
In 2017, the Italian subsidiary Fastweb acquired the large corporate-client business of Tiscali for a purchase price 
of EUR 45 million (CHF 50 million). In November 2017, Swisscom acquired the remaining minority shares in Mila Ltd, 
of Sellbranch AB as well as of CT Cinetrade Ltd with its subsidiary companies Teleclub AG, Kitag Kino-Theater AG 
and of PlazaVista Entertainment AG. Furthermore, in 2017 Swisscom increased its shareholding in Swisscom Digital 
Technology SA from 51% to 75%.
In September 2017, Swisscom sold its shareholding in AWIN AG for a sales price of EUR 62 million (CHF 71 million). 
This sale resulted in a gain on disposal of CHF 1 million which was recognised in other financial income in the third 
quarter of 2017. In December 2016, Swisscom sold its shareholding in Metroweb S.p.A. for a sales price of 
EUR 80 million (CHF 86 million) resulting in a gain on disposal of CHF 41 million which was recognised in other 
financial income.

Accounting policies
Consolidation
Subsidiaries are all companies over which Swisscom Ltd has the effective ability of controlling their financial and 
business policies. Control is generally assumed where Swisscom Ltd directly or indirectly holds the majority of the 
voting rights or potential voting rights of the company. Companies acquired and sold are included in consolidation 
from the date on which they are acquired and deconsolidated from the date they are disposed of, respectively. 
Intercompany balances and transactions, income and expenses, shareholdings and dividends as well as unrealised 
gains and losses are fully eliminated. Non-controlling interests in subsidiary companies are reported in the consol-
idated balance sheet within equity separately from that attributable to the shareholders of Swisscom Ltd. The 
non-controlling interests in net income or loss are shown in the consolidated income statement as a component 
of the consolidated net income or loss. Movements in shareholdings of subsidiary companies are reported as 
transactions within equity insofar as control existed previously and continues to exist. Put options granted to 
owners of non-controlling interests are disclosed as financial liabilities. The balance sheet date for all consolidated 
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subsidiaries is 31 December. There are no material restrictions on the transfer of funds from the subsidiaries to the 
parent company. 
Shareholdings over which Swisscom exercises significant influence but does not have control, are accounted for 
using the equity method. A significant influence is generally assumed to exist whenever between 20% and 50% of 
the voting rights are held. 

Business combinations
Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method. As of the date of the business combination, 
acquisition costs are recognised at fair value. The purchase consideration includes the amount of cash paid as well 
as the fair value of the assets ceded, liabilities incurred or assumed as well as own equity instruments ceded. 
Liabilities depending on future events based upon contractual agreements are recognised at fair value. At the 
time of acquisition, all identifiable assets and liabilities that satisfy the recognition criteria are recognised at their 
fair values. The difference between the cost of acquisition and the fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities 
acquired or assumed is accounted for as goodwill after taking into account any non-controlling interests. 

5.3	 Equity-accounted investees

In CHF million 	 2017	 	 2016	

Balance at 1 January 	 193	 	 223	

Additions 	 26	 	 11	

Disposals 	 (76)		 (41)	

Dividends 	 (20)		 (17)	

Share of net results 	 17	 	 26	

Share of other comprehensive income 	 2	 	 (7)	

Foreign currency translation adjustments 	 10	 	 (2)	

Balance at 31 December 	 152	 	 193	

In 2017, an aggregate negative amount of CHF 11 million (prior year: CHF 3 million) was recognised as the attributable 
share of net results in equity-accounted investees. Included therein are impairment losses of CHF 28 million (prior 
year: CHF 29 million) on loans which are considered as net investments in equity-accounted investees.

Selected key performance indicators for equity-accounted investees 

In CHF million 	 2017	 	 2016	 	 	 	 	

Income statement 	 	 	 	

Net revenue 	 2,120	 	 2,453	

Operating expense 	 (2,065)		 (2,371)	

Operating income 	 55	 	 82	

Net income 	 17	 	 34		 	 	 	 	 	

Balance sheet at 31 December 	 	 	 	

Current assets 	 942	 	 1,178	

Non-current assets 	 860	 	 202	

Current liabilities 	 (926)		 (899)	

Non-current liabilities 	 (485)		 (113)	

Equity 	 391	 	 368	
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5.4	 Group companies

Group companies in Switzerland

 	  	 Share of capital	 	 	 	 	 	 	
 	 Registered 	 and voting right	 	 	 	 Share capital	 	 	

Registered name 	 office 	 in %	 	 Currency	 	 in million	 	 Segment	  4 	  	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Switzerland 	  	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Admeira Ltd 1,3	 Berne 	 33	 	 CHF	 	 0.3	 	 OTH	

Ad Unit Ltd. 2	 Zurich 	 69	 	 CHF	 	 0.1	 	 OTH	

BFM Business Fleet Management Ltd 1	 Ittigen 	 100	 	 CHF	 	 1.0	 	 SCS	

Billag Ltd 1	 Fribourg 	 100	 	 CHF	 	 0.1	 	 OTH	

cablex Ltd 2	 Berne 	 100	 	 CHF	 	 5.0	 	 OTH	

CT Cinetrade AG 1	 Zurich 	 100	 	 CHF	 	 0.5	 	 SCS	

Datasport Ltd 2	 Gerlafingen 	 100	 	 CHF	 	 0.2	 	 SCS	

finnova ltd bankware 2,3	 Lenzburg 	 9	 	 CHF	 	 0.5	 	 SCS	

Global IP Action Ltd 2	 Pfäffikon 	 75	 	 CHF	 	 0.2	 	 OTH	

kitag kino-theater Ltd 2	 Zurich 	 100	 	 CHF	 	 1.0	 	 SCS	

Medgate Ltd 2,3	 Basel 	 40	 	 CHF	 	 0.7	 	 SCS	

Medgate Technologies Ltd 2,3	 Zug 	 40	 	 CHF	 	 0.1	 	 SCS	

Mila AG 2	 Zurich 	 100	 	 CHF	 	 0.4	 	 SCS	

Mona Lisa Capital AG 2	 Ittigen 	 100	 	 CHF	 	 5.0	 	 OTH	

MyStrom Ltd 2	 Ittigen 	 52	 	 CHF	 	 0.1	 	 OTH	

PlazaVista Entertainment AG 2	 Zurich 	 100	 	 CHF	 	 0.1	 	 SCS	

SEC consult (Switzerland) Ltd 2,3	 Zurich 	 47	 	 CHF	 	 0.1	 	 OTH	

siroop Ltd 2,3	 Zurich 	 50	 	 CHF	 	 0.1	 	 OTH	

SmartLife Care Ltd 2	 Wangen 	 48	 	 CHF	 	 0.2	 	 OTH	

Swisscom Blockchain Ltd 2	 Zurich 	 70	 	 CHF	 	 0.1	 	 SCS	

Swisscom Broadcast Ltd 1	 Berne 	 100	 	 CHF	 	 25.0	 	 OTH	

Swisscom Digital Technology SA 1	 Geneva 	 75	 	 CHF	 	 0.1	 	 SCS	

Swisscom Directories Ltd 1	 Zurich 	 69	 	 CHF	 	 2.2	 	 OTH	

Swisscom eHealth Invest GmbH 2	 Ittigen 	 100	 	 CHF	 	 1.4	 	 GHQ	

Swisscom Energy Solutions Ltd 2	 Ittigen 	 52	 	 CHF	 	 13.3	 	 OTH	

Swisscom Event & Media Solutions Ltd 2	 Ittigen 	 100	 	 CHF	 	 0.1	 	 OTH	

Swisscom Health AG 2	 Ittigen 	 100	 	 CHF	 	 0.1	 	 SCS	

Swisscom Real Estate Ltd 1	 Ittigen 	 100	 	 CHF	 	 100.0	 	 SCS	

Swisscom IT Services Finance Custom Solutions Ltd 2	 Olten 	 100	 	 CHF	 	 0.1	 	 SCS	

Swisscom (Switzerland) Ltd 1	 Ittigen 	 100	 	 CHF	 	 1,000.0	 	 SCS	

Swisscom Services Ltd 2	 Ittigen 	 100	 	 CHF	 	 0.1	 	 SCS	

Swisscom Ventures Ltd 2	 Ittigen 	 100	 	 CHF	 	 2.0	 	 GHQ	

Teleclub AG 2	 Zurich 	 100	 	 CHF	 	 1.2	 	 SCS	

Teleclub Programm AG 2,3	 Zurich 	 33	 	 CHF	 	 0.6	 	 SCS	

VirtualAds AG 2	 Basel 	 83	 	 CHF	 	 1.1	 	 OTH	

Worklink AG 1	 Berne 	 100	 	 CHF	 	 0.5	 	 GHQ	 	  	 	 	  	 		

1	 Participation directly held by Swisscom Ltd. 	 		

2	 Participation indirectly held by Swisscom Ltd. 	 		

3	 Investment is accounted for using the equity method. Through its representation on the Board of Directors of the company, Swisscom can exercise a significant 
influence. 	 		

4	 SCS = Swisscom Switzerland, FWB = Fastweb, OTH = Other, GHQ = Group Headquarters (unallocated costs). 	 		
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Group companies in other countries

 	  	 Share of capital	 	 	 	 	 	 	
 	 Registered 	 and voting right	 	 	 	 Share capital	 	 	

Registered name 	 office 	 in %	 	 Currency	 	 in million	 	 Segment	  4 	  	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Belgium 	  	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Belgacom International Carrier Services Ltd 2,3	 Brussels 	 22	 	 EUR	 	 1.5	 	 SCS	 	  	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Germany 	  	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Abavent GmbH 2	 Kempten 	 100	 	 EUR	 	 0.3	 	 SCS	

Mila Europe GmbH 2	 Berlin 	 100	 	 EUR	 	 –	 	 SCS	

Swisscom Telco GmbH 2	 Leipzig 	 100	 	 EUR	 	 –	 	 GHQ	

VirtualAds Services GmbH 2	 Leipzig 	 83	 	 EUR	 	 –	 	 OTH	 	  	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

France 	  	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

local.fr SA 2	 Bourg-en-Bresse 	 100	 	 EUR	 	 0.9	 	 OTH	

SoftAtHome SA 2,3	 Colombes 	 10	 	 EUR	 	 6.5	 	 SCS	 	  	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Italy 	  	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Fastweb S.p.A. 2	 Milan 	 100	 	 EUR	 	 41.3	 	 FWB	

Flash Fiber S.r.l. 2,3	 Milan 	 20	 	 EUR	 	 –	 	 FWB	

Swisscom Italia S.r.l. 2	 Milan 	 100	 	 EUR	 	 505.8	 	 GHQ	 	  	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Liechtenstein 	  	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Swisscom Re Ltd 1	 Vaduz 	 100	 	 CHF	 	 5.0	 	 GHQ	 	  	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Luxembourg 	  	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

DTF GP S.A.R.L 2	 Luxembourg 	 100	 	 EUR	 	 –	 	 OTH	

Digital Transformation Fund 	  	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Initial Limited Partner SCSp 2	 Luxembourg 	 100	 	 CHF	 	 –	 	 OTH	 	  	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Netherlands 	  	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Improve Digital B.V. 2	 Amsterdam 	 100	 	 EUR	 	 –	 	 OTH	

NGT International B.V. 2	 Capelle a/d IJssel 	 100	 	 EUR	 	 –	 	 OTH	 	  	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Austria 	  	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Swisscom IT Servics Finance SE 2	 Vienna 	 100	 	 EUR	 	 3.3	 	 SCS	 	  	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Sweden 	  	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Sellbranch AB 2	 Stockholm 	 100	 	 SEK	 	 0.1	 	 OTH	 	  	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Singapore 	  	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Swisscom IT Services Finance Pte Ltd 2	 Singapore 	 100	 	 SGD	 	 0.1	 	 SCS	 	  	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

USA 	  	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Swisscom Cloud Lab Ltd 2	 Delaware 	 100	 	 USD	 	 –	 	 SCS	
	

1	 Participation directly held by Swisscom Ltd. 	 		

2	 Participation indirectly held by Swisscom Ltd. 	 		

3	 Investment is accounted for using the equity method. Through its representation on the Board of Directors of the company, Swisscom can exercise a significant 
influence. 	 		

4	 SCS = Swisscom Switzerland, FWB = Fastweb, OTH = Other, GHQ = Group Headquarters (unallocated costs).
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 6	 Other disclosures

This section sets out information which is not already disclosed in the other parts of the report. It includes, 
for instance, disclosures regarding income taxes and related parties. 

6.1	 Income taxes 

Income tax expense

In CHF million 	 2017	 	 2016	

Current income tax expense 	 349	 	 305	

Adjustments recognised for current tax of prior periods 	 20	 	 –	

Deferred tax expense 	 23	 	 81	

Total income tax expense recognised in income statement 	 392	 	 386	

Thereof Switzerland 	 338	 	 339	

Thereof foreign countries 	 54	 	 47	

In addition, other comprehensive income includes current and deferred income taxes which may be analysed as 
follows:

In CHF million 	 2017	 	 2016	

Foreign currency translation adjustments of foreign subsidiaries 	 19	 	 83	

Actuarial gains and losses from defined benefit pension plans 	 171	 	 238	

Change in the fair value of available-for-sale financial investments 	 (1)		 1	

Gains and losses from cash flow hedges transferred to income statement 	 (1)		 –	

Total income tax expense recognised in other comprehensive income 	 188	 	 322	

In the past, income taxes on foreign-currency related impairment losses on Group subsidiaries were recognised 
under other comprehensive income. As a result of restructuring in 2016, these impairment losses can no longer be 
asserted for tax purposes. The resultant effect on income taxes in other comprehensive income in 2016 amounts 
to CHF 79 million.
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Analysis of income taxes
The applicable income tax rate which serves to prepare the following analysis of income tax expense is the 
weighted average income tax rate calculated on the basis of the Group’s operating subsidiaries in Switzerland. The 
applicable income-tax rate is 20.4% (prior year: 20.9%). The decrease in the applicable income tax rate is a conse-
quence of lower cantonal tax rates. 

In CHF million 	 2017	 	 2016	

Income before income taxes in Switzerland 	 1,724	 	 1,817	

Income before income taxes foreign countries 	 236	 	 173	

lncome before income taxes 	 1,960	 	 1,990	

Applicable income tax rate 	 20.4%	 	 20.9%	

Income tax expense at the applicable income tax rate 	 400	 	 416	 	 	 	 	

Reconciliation to reported income tax expense 	 	 	 	

Effect from result of shareholdings accounted for using the equity method 	 2	 	 1	

Effect of tax rate changes on deferred taxes 	 (12)		 (2)	

Effect of use of different income tax rates in Switzerland 	 2	 	 (8)	

Effect of use of different income tax rates in foreign countries 	 20	 	 5	

Effect of non-recognition of tax loss carry-forwards 	 11	 	 6	

Effect of recognition and offset of tax loss carry-forwards not recognised in prior years 	 (14)		 (12)	

Effect of exclusively tax-deductible expenses and income 	 (37)		 (26)	

Effect of non-taxable income and non-deductible expenses 	 –	 	 6	

Effect of income tax of prior periods 	 20	 	 –	

Total income tax expense 	 392	 	 386	 	 	 	 	

Effective income tax rate 	 20.0%	 	 19.4%	

Current income tax assets and liabilities

In CHF million 	 2017	 	 2016	

Current income tax liabilities at 1 January, net 	 107	 	 125	

Recognised in income statement 	 369	 	 305	

Recognised in other comprehensive income 	 16	 	 5	

Income taxes paid in Switzerland 	 (279)		 (324)	

Income taxes paid in foreign countries 	 (10)		 (4)	

Current income tax liabilities at 31 December, net 	 203	 	 107	

Thereof current income tax assets 	 (10)		 (18)	

Thereof current income tax liabilities 	 213	 	 125	

Thereof Switzerland 	 198	 	 105	

Thereof foreign countries 	 5	 	 2	
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Deferred income tax assets and liabilities

 	 31.12.2017	 	 31.12.2016	

 	 	 	 	 	 Net	 	 	 	 	 	 Net	

In CHF million 	 Assets	 	 Liabilities	 	 amount	 	 Assets	 	 Liabilities	 	 amount	

Property, plant and equipment 	 34	 	 (623)		 (589)		 36	 	 (568)		 (532)	

Intangible assets 	 –	 	 (309)		 (309)		 –	 	 (326)		 (326)	

Provisions 	 102	 	 (51)		 51	 	 78	 	 (76)		 2	

Defined benefit obligations 	 186	 	 –	 	 186	 	 359	 	 –	 	 359	

Tax loss carry-forwards 	 90	 	 –	 	 90	 	 118	 	 –	 	 118	

Other 	 153	 	 (110)		 43	 	 138	 	 (99)		 39	

Total tax assets (tax liabilities) 	 565	 	 (1,093)		 (528)		 729	 	 (1,069)		 (340)	

Thereof deferred tax assets 	 	 	 	 	 197	 	 	 	 	 	 281	

Thereof deferred tax liabilities 	 	 	 	 	 (725)		 	 	 	 	 (621)	

Thereof Switzerland 	 	 	 	 	 (588)		 	 	 	 	 (435)	

Thereof foreign countries 	 	 	 	 	 60	 	 	 	 	 	 95	

Tax loss carry-forwards for which no deferred tax assets were recognised, expire as follows:

In CHF million 	 31.12.2017	 	 31.12.2016	

Expiring within 1 year 	 –	 	 –	

Expiring within 2 to 7 years 	 125	 	 86	

No expiration 	 39	 	 27	

Total unrecognised tax loss carry-forwards 	 164	 	 113	

Thereof Switzerland 	 114	 	 72	

Thereof foreign countries 	 50	 	 41	

Deferred tax liabilities of CHF 6 million (prior year: none) were recognised on the undistributed earnings of subsidiaries 
as of 31 December 2017. Temporary differences of subsidiaries and equity-accounted investees, on which no 
deferred income taxes are recognised as of 31 December 2017, amounted to CHF 1,117 million (prior year: 
CHF 1,390 million). 

Accounting policies
Income taxes encompass all current and deferred taxes which are based on income. Taxes which are not based on 
income, such as taxes on real estate and on capital are recorded as other operating expenses. Deferred taxes are 
computed using the balance sheet liability method whereby deferred taxes are recognised in principle on all temporary 
differences. Temporary differences arise from differences between the carrying amount of a balance sheet position 
in the consolidated financial statements and its value as reported for tax purposes and which will reverse in future 
periods. Deferred tax assets are only recognised as assets to the extent that it is probable that they can be offset 
against future taxable income. Income tax liabilities on undistributed profits of Group companies are only recognised 
if the distribution of profits is to be made in the foreseeable future. Current and deferred tax assets and liabilities 
are netted whenever they relate to the same taxing authority and taxable entity.



Co
ns

ol
id

at
ed

 fi
na

nc
ia

l s
ta

te
m

en
ts

N
ot

es
 to

 th
e 

co
ns

ol
id

at
ed

 fi
na

nc
ia

l s
ta

te
m

en
ts

142

 6.2	 Related parties

Majority shareholder and equity-accounted investees
Majority shareholder
Pursuant to the Swiss Federal Telecommunication Enterprises Act (TEA), the Swiss Confederation (“the Confederation”) 
is obligated to hold a majority of the share capital and voting rights of Swisscom. On 31 December 2017, the 
Confederation, as majority shareholder, continued to hold 51% of the issued shares of Swisscom Ltd. Any reduction 
of the Confederation’s holding below a majority shareholding would require a change in law which would need to 
be voted upon by the Swiss Parliament and would also be subject to a facultative referendum by Swiss voters. As 
the majority shareholder, the Swiss Confederation has the power to control the decisions of the annual general 
meetings of shareholders which are taken by the absolute majority of validly cast votes. This relates primarily to 
resolutions concerning dividend distributions and the election of the members of the Board of Directors. Swisscom 
supplies telecommunication services to and in addition, procures services from the Confederation. The Confederation 
comprises the various ministries and administrative bodies of the Confederation and the other companies 
controlled by the Confederation (primarily the Swiss Post, Swiss Federal Railways, RUAG as well as Skyguide). All 
transactions are conducted on the basis of normal customer/supplier relationships and on conditions applicable to 
unrelated third parties. In addition, financing transactions are entered into with the Swiss Post on normal commercial 
terms.

Equity-accounted investees
Services provided to/by equity-accounted investees are based upon market prices. Such participations are listed 
in Note 5.3.

Transactions and balances 

In CHF million 	 Income	 	 Expense		  Receivables		  Liabilities	 	 	 					     	

Financial year 2017 	 	 					     	

Confederation 	 247	 	 127	 	 269	 	 163	

Equity-accounted investees 	 77	 	 88	 	 20	 	 3	

Total 2017/Balance at 31 December 2017 	 324	 	 215	 	 289	 	 166	

In CHF million 	 Income	 	 Expense		  Receivables		  Liabilities	 	 	 					     	

Financial year 2016 	 	 					     	

Confederation 	 233	 	 131	 	 164	 	 233	

Equity-accounted investees 	 36	 	 146	 	 11	 	 6	

Total 2016/Balance at 31 December 2016 	 269	 	 277	 	 175	 	 239	

Occupational pension schemes and compensation payable to individuals in key positions
Transactions between Swisscom and the various pension funds are detailed in Note 4.3. Compensation paid to 
individuals in key positions are disclosed in Note 4.2.
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 6.3	 Other accounting policies

Foreign currency translation
Foreign-currency transactions which are not denominated in the functional currency are translated into the functional 
currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Monetary items as of the balance 
sheet date are translated into the functional currency at the exchange rate prevailing at the balance sheet date 
and non-monetary items are translated using the exchange rate on the date of the transaction. Translation 
differences are recognised in the income statement. Assets and liabilities of subsidiaries and associates reporting 
in a different functional currency are translated at the exchange rates prevailing on the balance sheet date 
whereas the income statement and the cash flow statement are translated at average exchange rates. Translation 
differences arising from the translation of net assets and income statements are recorded in other 
comprehensive income. 

Significant foreign-currency translation rates

 	 Closing rate	 	 Average rate	

Currency 	 31.12.2017	 	 31.12.2016	 	 31.12.2015	 	 2017	 	 2016	

1 EUR 	 1.170	 	 1.074	 	 1.084	 	 1.113	 	 1.090	

1 USD 	 0.976	 	 1.019	 	 0.995	 	 0.985	 	 0.990	

Amended International Financial Reporting Standards and Interpretations, whose application is not yet mandatory
The following Standards and Interpretations published up to the end of 2017 are mandatory for accounting periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2018:

Standard 	 Name 	 Effective from	

IFRIC 22 	 Foreign currency transactions and advance consideration 	 1 January 2018	

IFRIC 23 	 Uncertainty over income tax treatments 	 1 January 2019	

Amendements to IAS 28 	 Long-term investments in associates and joint ventures 	 1 January 2019	

Amendements to IFRS 2 	 Classification and measurement of share-based payment transactions 	 1 January 2018	

IFRS 9 	 Financial instruments 	 1 January 2018	

IFRS 15 	 Revenue from contracts with customers and related clarifications to IFRS 15 	 1 January 2018	

IFRS 16 	 Leases 	 1 January 2019	

Various 	 Amendements to IFRS 2014–2016 	 1 January 2018	

Various 	 Amendements to IFRS 2015–2017 	 1 January 2019	

Swisscom will review its financial reporting for the impact of those new and amended standards which take 
effect on or after 1 January 2018 and for which Swisscom did not make voluntary early application. At present, 
Swisscom anticipates no material impact on consolidated financial reporting except for the amendments 
described in the following paragraphs. 

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments
The Standard includes new rules to classify and measure financial assets and liabilities, the recognition of value 
impairments and the recording of hedging relationships. In certain cases, changes in classification will result from 
the new provisions and also in certain cases, the new provisions regarding value impairment will lead to the earlier 
recording of losses impacting income. Swisscom expects a pre-tax decrease in equity of some CHF 20 million from 
the conversion as of 1 January 2018.

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers
In contrast to the provisions currently in force, the new standard provides for a single, principles-based, five-step 
model which is to be applied to all contracts with customers. In accordance with IFRS 15, the amount which is 
expected to be received from customers as consideration for the transfer of goods and services to the customer 
is to be recognised as revenue. As regards determining the date or period, it is no longer a question of the transfer 
of risks and opportunities but of the transfer of control over the goods and services to the customers. With regards 
to multi-component contracts, IFRS 15 explicitly rules that the transaction price is to be allocated to each distinct 
performance obligation in relation to the relative stand-alone selling prices. Furthermore, the new standard 
contains new rules regarding the costs of fulfilment and acquiring a contract as well as guidelines as to the 
question when such costs are to be capitalised. In addition, the new standard requires new, more detailed note 
disclosure information. 
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IFRS 15 will have the following material impact on the consolidated financial statements of Swisscom:
> 	 Revenues: In the case of multi-component contracts (mobile-phone contract with a subsidised mobile handset), 

the revenue will be reallocated over the pre-delivered components (mobile handset) with the result that the 
revenue will be recognised earlier. The total revenue remains unchanged over the duration of the contract. 

> 	 Contract costs: Handset subsidies and commissions paid to dealers (contract acquisition costs) as well as costs 
of routers and set-top boxes (contract performance costs) are capitalised and expensed over the term of the 
contract. 

Swisscom has elected to apply the modified retroactive approach for the initial adoption of IFRS 15. In accordance 
with this transitional method, Swisscom must apply IFRS 15 retroactively only for those contracts which have not 
been fulfilled as of 1 January 2018. The resultant impact of conversion will be recognised in equity as of 1 Janu-
ary 2018, thus having no effect on the income statement. The prior year’s amounts will not be restated. 
Swisscom anticipates a pre-tax increase in equity of some CHF 400 million as of 1 January 2018 resulting from 
conversion. This impact flows from the initial recognition of contractual assets and liabilities as well as accrued 
contract acquisition and contract performance costs. For financial year 2018, Swisscom estimates that from 
applying IFRS 15 net revenue will decrease by around CHF 10 million and direct costs will increase by around 
CHF 40 million. How IFRS 15 will impact future results will depend on future business models and products, the 
mix of distribution channels as well as future movements in volumes, prices and costs.

IFRS 16 Leases
For the lessee, IFRS 16 (effective from 1 January 2019) provides for a comprehensive model for dealing with lease 
arrangements in financial statements. The differentiation between finance and operating lease arrangements 
required until now under IAS 17 is thus dropped in future for the lessee. The lessee shall recognise leasing obligations 
in its balance sheet for all future lease payments to be made as well as recognising a right to use the underlying 
asset. For financial reporting purposes, the lessor shall continue to differentiate between finance and operating 
lease arrangements. In this regard, the accounting model foreseen under IFRS 16 does not materially differ from 
the previous provisions under IAS 17. Swisscom expects that the comprehensive modifications will have a mate-
rial impact on the consolidated financial statements. However, a reliable estimate of the impact of applying IFRS 
16 can only be made once a detailed analysis is completed. 
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1

Statutory Auditor’s Report 
To the General Meeting of Swisscom Ltd, Ittigen (Berne) 

 
Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements 

Opinion 

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Swisscom Ltd and its subsidiaries (the Group), which 
comprise the consolidated balance sheet as at 31 December 2017, the consolidated statement of comprehensive 
income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then 
ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies. 

In our opinion the consolidated financial statements (pages 94 to 144) give a true and fair view of the consolidated 
financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2017, and its consolidated financial performance and its 
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRS) and comply with Swiss law. 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Swiss law, International Standards on Auditing (ISAs) and Swiss 
Auditing Standards. Our responsibilities under those provisions and standards are further described in the 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are 
independent of the Group in accordance with the provisions of Swiss law and the requirements of the Swiss audit 
profession, as well as the IESBA Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants, and we have fulfilled our other 
ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
opinion. 

Key Audit Matters 

   
Revenue recognition 

 

 
Capitalization of technical facilities and software 

 

    
Fastweb goodwill 

 

    
Provisions and contingent liabilities for regulatory and competition-law proceedings 

 

 
Pension fund obligations comPlan 

 
 Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of 

the consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our 
audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not 
provide a separate opinion on these matters. 
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2

     
Revenue recognition 

Key Audit Matter Our response 

Swisscom’s telecommunication business is 
characterized by a high volume of IT-based 
transactions. The contracts underlying these 
transactions often contain various elements that are 
recorded separately. The correct recognition of the 
identified contractual elements in the appropriate 
period and the accuracy of invoicing are highly 
dependent on IT systems. 

 

 

We analyzed the process from the conclusion of a 
contract to the receipt of payment and assessed 
whether transactions are completely and accurately 
recorded in the general ledger. We identified key 
controls relating to revenue recognition and tested, on a 
sample basis, their operating effectiveness. We tested 
the operating effectiveness of IT controls of accounting-
relevant systems, with the assistance of our IT 
specialists, to reflect the high degree of integration of 
service performance and recording by various IT 
systems. 

In addition, we performed analytical procedures. Based 
on internal reports, we analyzed trends related to the 
most important key performance indicators per revenue 
segment and product category, and we critically 
assessed deviations from our expectations. 

With respect to significant newly introduced products, 
we assessed whether the Group appropriately 
determined the point in time and amount of revenue to 
be recognized for the individual components. 

For further information on revenue recognition refer to the following: 

— Notes to the consolidated financial statements, No. 1.1 – Segment information 

 

     
Capitalization of technical facilities and software 

 Key Audit Matter Our response 

 Given the technological change in the 
telecommunication sector, investment in new technical 
facilities and software plays a strategic role in the 
development of Swisscom’s business. In this regard, it 
is important that the costs capitalized in relation to 
acquired and self-developed technical facilities and 
software fulfil the IFRS criteria. 

 

 

We tested whether Swisscom’s capitalization 
guidelines comply with IFRS and whether the key 
controls over the compliance with these guidelines 
operated effectively.  
Among others, using a statistical sampling procedure 
we assessed whether the capitalization of costs 
relating to a sample of technical facilities and software 
met the criteria and took place at the appropriate point 
in time. 

Furthermore, in relation to the development of material 
new projects, we analyzed the amount and proper 
identification of hours of work rendered by Swisscom 
employees. We recalculated, on a sample basis, the 
hourly rates used by Swisscom based on actual 
personnel expenses and analyzed any variances.  
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3

On the basis of monthly budgets we also compared 
for significant projects the expected costs to be 
capitalized and those to be expensed with the actual 
amounts and critically assessed any deviations. 

 For further information on capitalization of technical facilities and software refer to the following: 

— Notes to the consolidated financial statements, No. 3.2 – Property, plant and equipment 

— Notes to the consolidated financial statements, No. 3.4 – Intangible assets 

 

   
Fastweb goodwill 

 Key Audit Matter Our response 

 At 31 December 2017 the goodwill related to the 
operating segment Fastweb amounted to CHF 578 
million (2016: CHF 529 million). 

The annual impairment test on the Fastweb goodwill is 
significantly affected by management’s judgements 
regarding the expected future cash flows, the discount 
rate (WACC) used and the expected growth. 

 

 

In the course of our audit, we assessed whether an 
appropriate valuation method was used for the 
Fastweb goodwill impairment test, the calculation was 
coherent and management’s assumptions were 
appropriate. 

In particular, we challenged the input data and 
assumptions related to the underlying cash flows and 
the expected growth rates, as based on written 
statements from local as well as Group management. 
In addition, we retrospectively assessed the accuracy 
of past business plans by a multi-year comparison of 
forecasted and actual amounts. 

We analyzed the individual parameters underlying the 
discount rate, with assistance from our valuation 
specialists, and compared them with the peer group. 

We evaluated the model used for the impairment test 
with respect to mathematical accuracy and 
methodological adequacy. 

We also considered the appropriateness of 
disclosures in relation to the impairment test and 
assessed whether the disclosed sensitivity analyses 
adequately reflect the risks embedded in the 
impairment test. 

 For further information on the Fastweb goodwill refer to the following: 

— Notes to the consolidated financial statements, No. 3.3 – Goodwill 
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Provisions and contingent liabilities for regulatory and competition-law proceedings 

 Key Audit Matter Our response 

 Swisscom provides regulated access services to 
other telecommunication service providers. The 
pricing of such services is the outcome of regulatory 
proceedings. 

In addition, the Federal Competition Commission 
(WEKO) is conducting various proceedings against 
Swisscom. 

In case of a final verdict establishing market abuse, 
civil law claims may also be brought against Swisscom. 

The recognition of provisions or disclosure of 
contingent liabilities related to such proceedings 
requires management to apply significant judgment.  

We tested the operating effectiveness of the controls 
implemented to identify, assess and recognize legal 
proceedings related to the regulatory and competition-
law environment. 

Specifically, we participated in the quarterly meetings 
where legal proceedings were addressed with the 
relevant departments, and we discussed and 
challenged the summaries of the legal proceedings 
prepared by Swisscom Group.  

With the assistance of our legal specialists, we 
assessed the probability of cash outflows resulting from 
legal proceedings, the point in time for recognizing 
related provisions and the corresponding amount of 
such provisions or the disclosure of contingent liabilities. 
We additionally obtained and critically assessed written 
statements of Swisscom’s external legal counsel for 
significant proceedings. 

We furthermore tested the amount of the provisions and 
contingent liabilities by assessing whether the internal 
and external data was correctly fed into the calculations 
and whether the underlying assumptions were 
adequate. 

We assessed whether the disclosures on contingent 
liabilities in the notes to the consolidated financial 
statements appropriately reflect the risks involved. 

 For further information on provisions and contingent liabilities for regulatory and competition-law proceedings 
refer to the following: 

— Notes to the consolidated financial statements, No. 3.5 – Provisions, contingent liabilities and contingent 
assets  
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Pension fund obligations comPlan 

 Key Audit Matter Our response 

 Swisscom maintains several pension plans for its 
employees in Switzerland and Italy. The majority of 
Swisscom’s employees in Switzerland are insured 
against the risks of old age, death and disability by 
the independent pension plan ‘comPlan’. The defined 
benefit obligation resulting from this plan is calculated 
based on a number of financial and demographic 
assumptions. The most significant assumptions are 
the discount rate, expected rates of salary and 
pension increases, the interest rates on old age 
savings accounts, longevity and the expected 
development of the conversion rate. In accordance 
with Swiss regulations, Swisscom’s assumptions also 
include the principle of risk sharing of the remaining 
IAS 19 deficit between employer and employee. The 
calculation of the employer’s share of the deficit is 
based on, among other things, experience relating to 
measures implemented in the past to improve the 
pension plan’s financial situation. 

Management determines these assumptions, which 
involve judgement that has a significant impact on the 
amount of the pension obligation and cost recognised 
related to comPlan. 

 

 

 

We assessed the completeness and accuracy of 
personnel data underlying the actuary’s expert report by 
testing the operating effectiveness of internal controls 
and reconciled the data on a sample basis. We used 
our own specialists to challenge the actuarial 
calculation. We particularly audited the consistent 
application of the risk sharing methodology and the 
accounting impacts resulting from the underlying 
assumptions in the second year of the consideration of 
risk sharing features. In addition, we assessed the 
competence and independence of the actuary engaged 
by Swisscom. 

Supported by our specialists, we analysed in detail the 
conformity with IAS 19 of the expected development of 
the conversion rate and the allocation of the remaining 
deficit between employer and employee. We critically 
assessed the expected development of the conversion 
rate and the determination of the employer’s share of 
the remaining deficit based on Swisscom specific 
empirical information and assessments. 

Furthermore, we challenged Management’s other 
assumptions used in the calculation of the actuary 
mandated by Swisscom. In doing so, we examined the 
methodology used to define the parameters and the 
consistency with prior year and compared these 
parameters with the range of observable market 
information. 

 For further information on the pension obligation related to comPlan refer to the following: 

— Notes to the consolidated financial statements, No. 4.3 – Post-employment benefits 
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6

Other Information in the Annual Report 

The Board of Directors is responsible for the other information in the annual report. The other information 
comprises all information included in the annual report, but does not include the consolidated financial 
statements, the stand-alone financial statements of the Company, the remuneration report and our auditor’s 
reports thereon. 

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information in the annual report and 
we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other 
information in the annual report and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent 
with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be 
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement 
of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. 

Responsibility of the Board of Directors for the Consolidated Financial Statements 

The Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give a true 
and fair view in accordance with IFRS and the provisions of Swiss law, and for such internal control as the Board 
of Directors determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the Board of Directors is responsible for assessing the Group’s 
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the 
going concern basis of accounting unless the Board of Directors either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease 
operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a 
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that 
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit 
conducted in accordance with Swiss law, ISAs and Swiss Auditing Standards will always detect a material 
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, 
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users 
taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with Swiss law, ISAs and Swiss Auditing Standards, we exercise professional 
judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:  

— Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due 
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence 
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material 
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, 
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

— Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
Group’s internal control. 

— Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates 
and related disclosures made.  

— Conclude on the appropriateness of the Board of Directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, 
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions 
that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a 
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures 
in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our 
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future 
events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.  
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7

— Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including 
the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and 
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

— Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business 
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are 
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the Group audit. We remain solely responsible 
for our audit opinion. 

We communicate with the Board of Directors or its relevant committee regarding, among other matters, the 
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in 
internal control that we identify during our audit. 

We also provide the Board of Directors or its relevant committee with a statement that we have complied with 
relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other 
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards. 

From the matters communicated with the Board of Directors or its relevant committee, we determine those 
matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period 
and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report, unless law or 
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine 
that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would 
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication. 

 
Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements  

In accordance with article 728a para. 1 item 3 CO and the Swiss Auditing Standard 890, we confirm that an 
internal control system exists, which has been designed for the preparation of consolidated financial statements 
according to the instructions of the Board of Directors. 

We recommend that the consolidated financial statements submitted to you be approved. 

KPMG AG 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 
Hanspeter Stocker Daniel Haas 
Licensed Audit Expert 
Auditor in Charge 

Licensed Audit Expert  

 

Gümligen-Berne, 6 February 2018 
 
 
 
 
 
 

KPMG AG, Hofgut, PO Box 112, CH-3073 Gümligen-Berne 
 
KPMG AG is a subsidiary of KPMG Holding AG, which is a member of the KPMG network of independent firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative 
(“KPMG International”), a Swiss legal entity. All rights reserved. 
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Financial statements of Swisscom Ltd
Income statement
In CHF million 	 	 	 2017	 	 2016	

Net revenue from the sale of goods and services 	 	 	 231	 	 229	

Other income 	 	 	 29	 	 66	

Total operating income 	 	 	 260	 	 295	

Personnel expense 	 	 	 (79)		 (78)	

Other operating expense 	 	 	 (92)		 (92)	

Total operating expenses 	 	 	 (171)		 (170)	

Operating income 	 	 	 89	 	 125	

Financial expense 	 	 	 (129)		 (135)	

Financial income 	 	 	 140	 	 140	

Income from participations 	 	 	 105	 	 2,567	

Income before taxes 	 	 	 205	 	 2,697	

Income tax expense 	 	 	 (8)		 (15)	

Net income 	 	 	 197	 	 2,682	
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Balance sheet
In CHF million 	 Note	 	 31.12.2017	 	 31.12.2016	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Assets 	 	 	 	 	 	

Cash and cash equivalents 	 	 	 290	 	 180	

Current financial assets 	 	 	 –	 	 86	

Derivative financial instruments 	 	 	 4	 	 9	

Trade receivables 	 3.1	 	 7	 	 17	

Other current receivables 	 3.1	 	 2	 	 7	

Accrued dividends receivable from subsidiaries 	 	 	 –	 	 2,500	

Accrued income and deferred expense 	 	 	 110	 	 100	

Total current assets 	 	 	 413	 	 2,899	

Financial assets 	 3.1	 	 6,045	 	 4,967	

Derivative financial instruments 	 	 	 73	 	 29	

Participations 	 2.2	 	 7,973	 	 7,884	

Total non-current assets 	 	 	 14,091	 	 12,880	

Total assets 	 	 	 14,504	 	 15,779	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Liabilities and equity 	 	 	 	 	 	

Current interest-bearing liabilities 	 3.2	 	 2,211	 	 1,868	

Derivative financial instruments 	 	 	 5	 	 6	

Trade payables 	 3.2	 	 8	 	 5	

Other current liabilities 	 3.2	 	 39	 	 48	

Accrued expense and deferred income 	 	 	 70	 	 84	

Provisions 	 	 	 11	 	 10	

Total current liabilities 	 	 	 2,344	 	 2,021	

Non-current interest-bearing liabilities 	 3.2	 	 6,782	 	 7,403	

Derivative financial instruments 	 	 	 52	 	 84	

Other non-current liabilities 	 3.2	 	 2	 	 4	

Provisions 	 	 	 11	 	 12	

Total non-current liabilities 	 	 	 6,847	 	 7,503	

Total liabilities 	 	 	 9,191	 	 9,524	

Share capital 	 	 	 52	 	 52	

Legal capital reserves/capital surplus reserves 	 	 	 21	 	 21	

Voluntary retained earnings 	 	 	 5,240	 	 6,183	

Treasury shares 	 3.3	 	 –	 	 (1)	

Total equity 	 	 	 5,313	 	 6,255	

Total liabilities and equity 	 	 	 14,504	 	 15,779	
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Notes to the financial statements
1	 General information

1.1	 Name, legal form and domicile

>	 Swisscom Ltd, Ittigen (canton of Berne)
>	 Parent company of the Swisscom Group
>	 Swisscom Ltd is a limited-liability company established under a special statute pursuant to the Telecommunication 

Enterprises Act (TEA) (German: “Telekommunikationsunternehmungsgesetz”) of 30 April 1997.
>	 Company identification number (UID) CHF-102.753.938

1.2	 Share capital

As of 31 December 2017, the share capital comprised 51,801,943 registered shares of a par value of CHF 1 per share, 
as in the previous year.

1.3	 Significant shareholders 

As at 31 December 2017, the Swiss Confederation (Confederation), as majority shareholder, held 51% of the issued 
shares of Swisscom Ltd which is unchanged from the prior year. The Telecommunications Enterprises Act (TEA) 
provides that the Confederation shall hold the majority of the share capital and voting rights of Swisscom Ltd. 

1.4	 Number of full-time employees

The average number of employees of Swisscom Ltd during the financial year, expressed as full-time equivalents, 
exceeded 250, as in the prior year. 

1.5	 Approval and release of Annual Financial Statements

The Board of Directors of Swisscom Ltd approved the present Annual Financial Statements on 6 February 2018 for 
release. No material post-balance-sheet events occurred up to this date. The Annual Financial Statements are 
subject to approval by the shareholders of Swisscom Ltd in its Annual General Meeting to be held on 4 April 2018. 
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 2	 Summary of significant accounting policies

2.1	 General

Significant financial statement reporting policies which are not prescribed by law are described below. The possibility 
to create and release hidden reserves for the purpose of ensuring the sustainable development of the company 
should be taken into account in this respect. 

2.2	 Participations and recording of dividend distributions by subsidiary companies

Participations are accounted for at acquisition cost less valuation allowances, as required. Dividend distributions 
from subsidiary companies are accrued in the financial statements of Swisscom Ltd provided that the annual 
general meetings of the subsidiary companies approve the payment of the dividend prior to the approval of the 
Annual Financial Statements of Swisscom Ltd by its Board of Directors. 
A list of participations held directly or indirectly by Swisscom Ltd is included in Note 5.4 to the Consolidated Financial 
Statements.

2.3	 Derivative financial instruments and hedging transactions (hedge accounting)

Derivative financial instruments which are deployed to hedge foreign currencies and interest rates, are measured 
at market price. Movements in market values are recorded in the income statement. Derivatives which meet the 
conditions for recognition as a hedging transaction, are measured using the same valuation principles as those 
which apply to the underlying transaction. Gains and losses arising from the underlying and hedging transactions 
are dealt with on a joint basis (collective valuation approach with regard to valuation units). 

2.4	 Treasury shares 

At the time of acquisition, treasury shares are recorded at purchase cost as a deduction from shareholders’ equity. 
In the event of a subsequent disposal, the resultant gain or loss is taken to income as financial income or financial 
loss, respectively.

3	 Disclosures on balance sheet and income statement positions

3.1	 Receivables and financial assets

 	 	 	 Thereof from	 	 	 	 Thereof from	

In CHF million 	 31.12.2017	 	 participations	 	 31.12.2016	 	 participations	

Trade receivables 	 7	 	 7	 	 17	 	 17	

Other current receivables 	 2	 	 1	 	 7	 	 5	

Financial assets 	 6,045	 	 5,934	 	 4,967	 	 4,855	

3.2	 Liabilities

Trade payables and other liabilities

 	 	 	 Thereof	 	 	 	 Thereof	
 	 	 	 to	 	 	 	 to	

In CHF million 	 31.12.2017	 	 participations	 	 31.12.2016	 	 participations	

Trade payables 	 8	 	 4	 	 5	 	 1	

Other current liabilities 	 39	 	 11	 	 48	 	 10	

Other non-current liabilities 	 2	 	 –	 	 4	 	 –	
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Interest-bearing liabilities

In CHF million 	 31.12.2017	 	 31.12.2016	

Bank loans 	 736	 	 721	

Debenture bonds 	 6,106	 	 6,101	

Private placements 	 500	 	 750	

Interest-bearing liabilities to participations 	 1,556	 	 1,676	

Other interest-bearing liabilities to third parties 	 95	 	 23	

Total interest-bearing liabilities 	 8,993	 	 9,271	

Of which current interest-bearing liabilities 	 2,211	 	 1,868	

Of which non-current interest-bearing liabilities 	 6,782	 	 7,403	

Debenture bonds

 	 31.12.2017	 	 31.12.2016	

 	 Par value	 	 Nominal	 	 Par value	 	 Nominal	

In CHF million or EUR million 	 in currency	 	 interest rate	 	 in currency	 	 interest rate	

Debenture bond in CHF 2007–2017 	 –	 	 –	 	 600	 	 3.75	

Debenture bond in CHF 2009–2018 	 1,385	 	 3.25	 	 1,425	 	 3.25	

Debenture bond in EUR 2013–2020 	 500	 	 2.00	 	 500		  2.00	

Debenture bond in EUR 2014–2021 	 500	 	 1.88	 	 500	 	 1.88	

Debenture bond in CHF 2010–2022 	 500	 	 2.63	 	 500	 	 2.63	

Debenture bond in CHF 2015–2023 	 250	 	 0.25	 	 250	 	 0.25	

Debenture bond in CHF 2012–2024 	 500	 	 1.75	 	 500	 	 1.75	

Debenture bond in EUR 2015–2025 	 500	 	 1.75	 	 500	 	 1.75	

Debenture bond in CHF 2014–2026 	 200	 	 1.50	 	 200	 	 1.50	

Debenture bond in CHF 2016–2027 	 200	 	 0.38	 	 200	 	 0.38	

Debenture bond in CHF 2017–2027 	 350	 	 0.38	 	 –	 	 –	

Debenture bond in CHF 2016–2028 	 200	 	 0.38	 	 200	 	 0.38	

Debenture bond in CHF 2014–2029 	 160	 	 1.50	 	 160	 	 1.50	

Debenture bond in CHF 2016–2032 	 300	 	 0.13	 	 300	 	 0.13	

Debenture bond in CHF 2017–2033 	 150	 	 0.75	 	 –	 	 –	

Debenture bond in CHF 2015–2035 	 150	 	 1.00	 	 150	 	 1.00	

3.3	 Treasury shares

 	 	 	 Average price	 	 	
 	 Number	 	 in CHF	 	 In CHF million	

Balance at 31 December 2015 	 –	 	 –	 	 –	

Purchases on the market 	 8,000	 	 520	 	 4	

Allocated for share-based compensation 	 (6,486)		 520	 	 (3)	

Balance at 31 December 2016 	 1,514	 	 520	 	 1	

Purchases on the market 	 7,200	 	 468	 	 3	

Allocated for share-based compensation 	 (8,090)		 468	 	 (4)	

Balance at 31 December 2017 	 624	 	 468	 	 –	
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 4	 Further information

4.1	 Collateral given to secure third-party liabilities

As of 31 December 2017, guarantee obligations exist for Group companies in favour of third parties totalling 
CHF 290 million (prior year: CHF 228 million). 

4.2	 Assets used to secure own commitments as well as assets subject to retention of title

As of 31 December 2017, financial assets totalling CHF 105 million (prior year: CHF 109 million) were not freely 
available. These assets serve to secure commitments arising from bank loans. 

4.3	 Shareholdings of the members of the Board of Directors and Group Executive Board

The following table discloses the number of unrestricted and restricted shares held by the members of the Board 
of Directors and Group Executive Board as well as parties related to them, as of 31 December 2016 and 2017:

Number 	 31.12.2017	 	 31.12.2016	

Hansueli Loosli 	 2,733	 	 2,350	

Roland Abt 	 205	 	 88	

Valérie Berset Bircher 	 213	 	 96	

Alain Carrupt 	 213	 	 96	

Frank Esser 	 478	 	 332	

Barbara Frei 	 784	 	 648	

Catherine Mühlemann 	 1,443	 	 1,326	

Theophil Schlatter 	 1,419	 	 1,225	

Renzo Simoni 1	 160	 	 –	

Hans Werder 2	 –	 	 1,128	

Total shares held by the members of the Board of Directors 	 7,648	 	 7,289	
 		

1	 Elected to the Board of Directors as of 3 April 2017.
2	 Resigned from the Board of Directors as of 3 April 2017.

Number 	 31.12.2017	 	 31.12.2016	

Urs Schaeppi (CEO) 	 3,964	 	 3,229	

Mario Rossi 	 1,236	 	 1,027	

Hans C. Werner 	 1,068	 	 897	

Marc Werner 	 750	 	 382	

Urs Lehner 1	 115	 	 –	

Christian Petit 2	 –	 	 1,337	

Heinz Herren 	 1,586	 	 1,333	

Dirk Wierzbitzki 	 234	 	 64	

Total shares held by the members of the Group Executive Board 	 8,953	 	 8,269	
 		

1 	Joined the Group Executive Board as of 21 June 2017.
2 	Resigned from the Group Executive Board as of 21 June 2017.

In 2017, 1,493 shares (CHF 0.7 million) were issued to the members of the Board of Directors and 2,121 shares 
(CHF 0.9 million) to the members of the Group Executive Board.
None of the individuals required to make notification holds voting shares exceeding 0.1% of the share capital.
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Proposed appropriation 
of retained earnings
Proposal of the Board of Directors 

The Board of Directors proposes to the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders to be held on 4 April 2018 that 
the available retained earnings of CHF 5,240 million as of 31 December 2017 be appropriated as follows:

In CHF million 	 31.12.2017	 	 	

Appropriation of retained earnings 	 	

Retained earnings from previous year 	 6,182	

Ordinary dividend 1	 (1,140)	

Balance carried forward from prior year 	 5,042	

Net income for the year 	 197	

Change in treasury shares 	 1	

Retained earnings available to the Annual General Meeting 	 5,240	

Ordinary dividend of CHF 22.00 per share on 51,801,319 shares 1	 (1,140)	

Balance to be carried forward 	 4,100	
 	

1	 Excluding treasury shares.

In the event that the proposal is approved, a dividend per share will be paid to shareholders on 10 April 2018 as 
follows:

Per registered share 	 CHF	

Ordinary dividend, gross 	 22.00	

Less 35% withholding tax 	 (7.70)	

Net dividend payable 	 14.30	
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Statutory Auditor’s Report 
To the General Meeting of Swisscom Ltd, Ittigen (Berne) 

 
Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Opinion 

We have audited the financial statements of Swisscom Ltd, which comprise the balance sheet as at  
31 December 2017, and the income statement for the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, 
including a summary of significant accounting policies. 

In our opinion the financial statements (pages 152 to 157) for the year ended 31 December 2017 comply with 
Swiss law and the company’s articles of incorporation.  

Basis for Opinions 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Swiss law and Swiss Auditing Standards. Our responsibilities under 
those provisions and standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial 
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the entity in accordance with the provisions of Swiss law 
and the requirements of the Swiss audit profession and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in 
accordance with these requirements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
opinion. 

Report on Key Audit Matters based on the circular 1/2015 of the Federal Audit Oversight Authority 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of 
the financial statements of the current period. We have determined that there are no key audit matters to 
communicate in our report. 

Responsibility of the Board of Directors for the Financial Statements 

The Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation of the financial statements in accordance with the 
provisions of Swiss law and the company’s articles of incorporation, and for such internal control as the Board of 
Directors determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, the Board of Directors is responsible for assessing the entity’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going 
concern basis of accounting unless the Board of Directors either intends to liquidate the entity or to cease 
operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our 
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 
accordance with Swiss law and Swiss Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it 
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, 
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these 
financial statements. 
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As part of an audit in accordance with Swiss law and Swiss Auditing Standards, we exercise professional 
judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:  

— Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or 
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement 
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, 
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

— Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of 
internal control. 

— Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates 
and related disclosures made.  

— Conclude on the appropriateness of the Board of Directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, 
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions 
that may cast significant doubt on the entity’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a 
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures 
in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are 
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or 
conditions may cause the entity to cease to continue as a going concern.  

We communicate with the Board of Directors or its relevant committee regarding, among other matters, the 
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in 
internal control that we identify during our audit. 

We also provide the Board of Directors or its relevant committee with a statement that we have complied with 
relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other 
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards. 

From the matters communicated with the Board of Directors or its relevant committee, we determine those 
matters that were of most significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current period and are 
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report, unless law or regulation 
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a 
matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would 
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication. 

 
Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements  

In accordance with article 728a para. 1 item 3 CO and the Swiss Auditing Standard 890, we confirm that an 
internal control system exists, which has been designed for the preparation of financial statements according to 
the instructions of the Board of Directors. 

We further confirm that the proposed appropriation of available earnings complies with Swiss law and the 
company’s articles of incorporation. We recommend that the financial statements submitted to you be approved. 

KPMG AG 
 
  

 
 
 

 
Hanspeter Stocker Daniel Haas 
Licensed Audit Expert 
Auditor in Charge 

Licensed Audit Expert  

 

Gümligen-Berne, 6 February 2018 
 

KPMG AG, Hofgut, PO Box 112, CH-3073 Gümligen-Berne 
 
KPMG AG is a subsidiary of KPMG Holding AG, which is a member of the KPMG network of independent firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative 
(“KPMG International”), a Swiss legal entity. All rights reserved. 
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